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Chairman’s Statement

RS

On behalf of the Board (“Board”) of Directors (“Directors’
each being a “Director”), | am pleased to announce
that Zhejiang Tengy Environmental Technology Co., Ltd
(“Company” or “Tengy Environmental”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) recorded solid financial results for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (“Year").

The Group is a well-established integrated atmospheric
pollution control solution provider, with a primary focus
on particulate emission control by offering mega-sized
precipitators to customers in various industries. The Group is
with over 25 years of industry experience and continues to
innovate in industrial technologies.

The Group's operating income during the Year increased by
approximately 31.3% to approximately RMB620.1 million,
while the profit before tax during the Year decrease by
approximately 19.4% compared to the corresponding period
of last year, to approximately RMB61.1 million. Meanwhile,
the profit attributable to shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders” each being a “Shareholder”) was
approximately RMB42.7 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 20.3% compared to the corresponding period
of last year.

Approximately 100% of the revenue for the Year of the
Group is from the sales of environmental protection
equipment (approximately 98%) and the sales of
materials (approximately 2%), amounting to approximately
RMB607.348 million and approximately RMB12.781 million
respectively.
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Chairman’s Statement
FREES

The Group believes that, leveraging on its years of
industry experience and continual innovation in industrial
technologies, the Group possesses a competitive advantage
over existing market competitors as well as new entrants in
new projects, and can also obtain more new projects from
customers in the national electricity industries and also from
other industries due to its enhanced reputation as a reliable
atmospheric pollution control solution provider.

On behalf of the 19th Central Committee, President Xi Jinping
delivered a report to the congress entitled “Hold High the Great
Banner of Socialism with Chinese Characteristics and Strive
in Unity to Build a Modern Socialist Country in All Respects”
(the “20th National Congress Report”) on 16 October
2022. The “20th National Congress Report” makes strategic
plans for China's future ecological civilization construction,
including “promote concerted efforts to cut carbon emissions,
reduce pollution, expand green development and pursue
economic growth, prioritize ecological protection, conserve
resources and use them efficiently, and pursue green and
low-carbon development’ forming a mutually promoting
relationship between environment and development. The
“20th National Congress Report” also made it clear that
the construction of ecological civilization in the new era and
new journey has a basic and strategic position in the central
task of the Communist Party of China, including promoting
green development and promoting harmonious coexistence
between human and nature, which has become one of the core
elements of the new development concept.

With increasingly stringent environmental protection inspection,
the environmental protection equipment which does not meet
the requirements must be upgraded and modified immediately,
which in turn will give significant rise to a certain demand for
precipitators.

Looking forward, more effort will be made by the Group to
enhance its research and development capabilities and to
actively seek appropriate acquisition projects, to expand its
capabilities of research and development, manufacturing and
sales, as well as to access new domestic and international
markets.

The Group believes that its established customer base in the
PRC and its exposure to overseas markets could help it lay
a solid foundation for future expansion in both domestic and
overseas markets of the Group, and enable it to become the
leading player in the atmospheric pollution control solution
industry.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to thank the
management team and employees for their tireless efforts
and | sincerely thank the Shareholders and investors for their
continuing trust in and support to the Group.

The Group will continue to seize market opportunities,
protect the blue sky and clear water and build a century-
lasting Tengy!

FEBRRG BESENTEERBEITERM
73 EFEE KA > AEEAFEGHT AR KRR
EmGBRIFNTURMACTEEAGFZES B
MEHERPIEARSEYABRS ZMIER
HaemlEE AEEDENESREBKE
HEEMRHEMITERRHFIER -

TR CHEFARBAR BEREFBATAERS
TAEPREEETOAEET ER(SERES
BHEIRRAEABALERERTEEIREAN
TEEXRMEGEM )RS (ZHKEE) o H
o T RIEEH B ARRERXARRIFH
BRBRE0E > HL R T3 (B HE 2 [ AG © ORl0S ~ 3B AR 18
ROBEEREL BNEN GEEKER
TRIRIBE R Y BIAEE (R EMBF T—+XK
WE IR T AR R AN AMILER
PEHEZNFOEFEAEREN BN
il RGO R UK E AR B 2AMEHT
T A ERESHNZOERZ —°

EHBBRBNRFREENET  HARTEERLY
RRRBBWINRE/M S » M AIRIR S H
BREBHTER-

BRERR AEESESRIBIEAMEEHLE

BEREBENWEBIER  EMEREEEH

ég RIS RIHE BT DURE AT Y B A AN B R
320

AEBEE AEESFRETEHZUNTHE
B EEEIINHIZNER B AERETHE
FERERIINHISEITHREER WA ER AL
KRS RBAMRR T FRITHERI R

B AABARESE RORKHATEBR B
BENTMET] URERRRKEE-—BUXR
HAEBERGEERS -

AERRESEED SRS REZRENK 1T
BEAFERZ!

Annual Report 2023 4§} 5



Financial Highlights
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Year ended 31 December

HE+-A=t+-ALERE

2023 2022 Change
—E-= TR =)
RMB’000 RMB'000
Results E4 ARETFT ARET T
Revenue g 620,134 472,471 31.3%
Profit before tax GaEIbevl 61,051 75,770 (19.4)%
Income tax expense PSRRI (18,344) (22,165) (17.2)%
Profit and total comprehensive  FEREMNREERKA
income for the year 4azE 42,707 53,605 (20.3)%
Earnings per share attributable ~ BABEBERITAA
to ordinary equity holders of L ERET
the parent
~ For profit for the year —FREH 0.32 0.40 (20)%
As at 31 December
w+ZB=+—H
2023 2022 Change
—EZ= TETF =)
RMB’000 RMB'000
Results E4 ARETFT ARET T
Total assets BERE 1,796,856 1,635,726 17%
Net current assets MEEEFE 586,624 637924 (8)%
Total assets less current liabilities B E4AER RS E B 870,178 834,221 4.3%
Total liabilities BERE 926,678 701,505 32.1%
Total equity REmAR%E 870,178 834,221 43%
As at 31 December
®W+=ZB=+—8H
2023 2022
== BT F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Financial Statistics Erg it S8 ARETFT AER®BTIT
Current ratio Mete TR EN b =K ) 1.6 1.9
Gearing ratio Moe 2 ERN=EEn G (41.8)% (22.3)%
Inventory turnover days (days) Mete 3 FEREXRH (R) W) 285.5 262.5
Trade receivables turnover days B EWRFIEEEXH
(days) (Nete 4 (R) Wz 2972 466.7
Trade payables turnover days B ENRIBEREXH
(days) Mote (k) as) 141 165.4
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Financial Highlights
HA B

Notes:

Current ratio = current assets/current liabilities

Gearing ratio = (total bank loan — cash and cash equivalents)/total
equity x 100%

Inventory turnover days = 365 days/(costs of sales/average balance of
inventory (net off impairment))

Trade receivables turnover days = 365 days/(revenue/average balance
of trade receivables balance (net off impairment))

Trade payables turnover days = 365 days/(cost of sales/average trade
payables balance)

BiazE :

mELLE=TBEE B AE

EXRBELEXR= RITEFLE-RE LRSS EY)
/A EEX100%

FEBERY=0365K HEML FETHEER (0
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BRRBRIERERH=365K%, (&5 RN
BT ER GORRIRE))
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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OVERVIEW

The Group is a first-class manufacturer of environmental
protection products in China specializing in the design,
manufacture, installation and servicing of environmental
protection products as well as a general contractor for air
pollution control projects such as precipitators and flue gas
desulfurisation and denitrification devices in China, with a
primary focus on particulate emission control by offering
mega-sized precipitators to customers in various industries.
The Group has years of industry experience and a record of
continual innovation in industrial technologies.

The Group has formed an all-round technology research and
development system comprising technical scheme design,
engineering design centers and technical transformation
project improvement. The Group has an R&D center
in Hangzhou and employs more than 10 professional
engineers, whose fields of expertise are environmental
engineering, civil engineering and mechanical and electrical
engineering. In addition, the Group's design center also
employs a number of professionals. The Group has become
a municipal R&D center and technology center in Shaoxing.

During the Year, the Group generated its revenue primarily
from (i) sales of environmental protection equipment; (ii)
sales of materials; and (iii) rendering of services.

The Group's sales of environmental protection equipment
represented tailormade and integrated atmospheric
pollution control solutions offered by the Group to its
customers, comprising engineering design, equipment
procurement and manufacturing, supervision of installation
and commissioning, customer training, and repair and
maintenance services provided to its customers on a project
basis.

During the Year, the Group mainly offered three types
of precipitators: electrostatic precipitators, bag filter
precipitator and SO2 and NOx emission reduction
(desulfurisation and denitrification devices).

The Group's sales of materials represented sales of
materials, including raw materials, spare parts and
components and scrap materials to related parties or
independent third parties.

Bt

FEBEREXRNHNBRERR WE -2
MRBHBEAN—RIRRERNER  HWEEANG
BEENERKRMREEES KRS RAEN
TREXRE  TEFTNENYRIBERIES > £
ZETESTRREFRERES - ~EBES
ZENTEERAETERMN S BRFEEXRA
e

REBE T Hfif 7 FER st~ TRE&RFH RO
M EERRAZTEHUNKMALRER &
EREEMMRAMRER L BEI0ZREETRE
B I EXBIR ORI ERIEIRE - TRIR
MEETIRR BN EAEBHNRFTFOTRER
ZREEANT c REE A EE T ARAHT S P
MBI o

rEE AEENBETIEZEELZBHERFR
1S EA L 5 Reliii) 2 AEARTS o

FERPERFRRBEFIEERSZTRREENE
BERNVGERRSRIABRS R BIERE
BREPRHIER REFRBRRE EE
2 K aREl B P E I R S A SR IR o

FEE AERTBRHE-EIRES  BERE
2 B RESR AL SRR HER
(R IRHEE)

AEBPEMBERMEB S NBUE=SHE
BUMERL > BFE R ~ R R RO BB 1 e BE e o
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The Group’'s rendering of services represented its
technology consultancy services provided to its customers
on a stand-alone basis, which include repair and
replacement, and on-site engineering and maintenance
services for those projects which were not constructed by
the Group.

Precipitators are widely installed at coal-fired power
plants, metallurgical plants, paper mills and other industrial
production plants. As such, the Group has an extensive
range of customers including the project owners of power
plants and industrial production plants, or contractors
who undertake the construction work of power plants and
industrial production plants.

BUSINESS REVIEW

On 27 December 2023, the National Development and
Reform Commission of the People's Republic of China
issued the Guidance Catalogue for Industrial Restructuring
(2024 edition) (the “Guidance Catalogue”).

The “Guidance Catalogue” consists of three categories:
encouraged, restricted and eliminated. The encouraged
category mainly refers to the technologies, equipment and
products that have an important role in promoting China's
economic and social development, which is conducive to the
economical and intensive utilisation of natural resources and
the green and low-carbon transformation, helping to reach
the peak of carbon neutrality. In particular, the encouraged
category of the environmental protection industry includes
the treatment of air pollutants, carbon emission reduction
and ecological environment restoration and resource
utilisation.

Under the background of “green and low-carbon
transformation’ China's environmental protection industry
has developed rapidly. According to the “2023-2028 China
Environmental Protection Equipment Market Research and
Prospect Forecast Report” released by China Business
Industry Research Institute, the output value of China's
environmental protection equipment manufacturing industry
increased by 2% yearon-year in 2022, reaching RMB960
billion. In addition, according to the data released by the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the
People's Republic of China, it is expected that by 2025, the
output value of China's environmental protection equipment
manufacturing industry will increase to RMB1.3 trillion.

FERRERBIETIEERBIEEODRFRE
MEMEART  SERTIFRAERRZENE
BiR e R B URIRS T2 R MEERTS

HRREEESEMEER S/ ERBRE
thIFXEEREEZRZE EHIit xEENER
BiEaEZ OREBRATIEEEMENER
BEN AACEEMARIXLEERENRET
R HELE

e E1)

2023%F 128270 PE AR EFNBEE XK & E M
WNEBELZETRM(ELEEAREIEERRE (2024
FEA) ) (F5EBE)) °

58 B ik B REIFIBA=HRBE EREM
SR TEEHNRRACENIEEREEERE
TERBEM  KHKREM AR BAE R
ST AN RKEE B HEZEHRTM -
B2 BRRTENXBEEEARRSEY A
B BORBIN ERRIRIREBEMNE R BE -

A eEREE IS8T RERREEARE
BoBIEPEEEMIEMREMIC 2023-20284F
FEIRRRE TS EM R SRS ) 2 2022
FRERREENSEEEERLIER2% &5
AR M9600E T BN IRIEHEAR T
TEMNE B EMPIE R FASH 120255 » 3
HERREFRNEXEERRSEARKIIER

JT ©

Annual Report 2023 4§} 9



Management Discussion and Analysis
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Currently, the large regulatory pattern of China’s
environmental protection industry has been basically
formed, and it has entered the era of comprehensive policy
deep cultivation from the era of policy sowing, and the all-
round policies and regulations involving water, soil, gas and
solid waste treatment are becoming increasingly improved.
The “14th Five-Year Plan” period (from 2021 to 2025)
has entered a critical period of focusing on the strategic
direction of carbon reduction, promoting the synergies of
pollution reduction and carbon reduction, promoting the
comprehensive green transformation of economic and social
development, and realising the improvement of ecological
environment quality from quantitative change to qualitative
change.

In addition, the “Holding High the Great Banner of
Socialism with Chinese Characteristics and Striving for
the Comprehensive Construction of A Modern Socialist
Country” (the “20th National Congress Report”) makes
strategic plans for the construction of China’'s future
ecological civilization, which “jointly promote carbon
reduction, pollution reduction, green expansion, growth,
and promote ecological priority, conservation and intensive,
green and low-carbon development’ and hence forming a
mutually reinforcing relationship between environment and
development. The “20th National Congress Report” also
made it clear that the construction of ecological civilization
in the new era and new journey has a basic and strategic
position among the main tasks of the Communist Party
of China, including promoting green development and
promoting harmonious coexistence between human and
nature, which has become one of the core elements of the
new development concept.

The “promoting green development, promoting harmonious
coexistence between human and nature” proposed by the
“20th National Congress Report’ in conjunction with the
“14th Five-Year Plan” Comprehensive Work Plan for energy
conservation and emission reduction issued by the State
Council of the People’'s Republic of China (the “14th Five-
Year Plan”), energy conservation and emission reduction
projects will become one of the key points for accelerating
the comprehensive green transformation of economic and
social development and further achieving carbon neutrality.
Therefore, the environmental protection and emission
reduction industry continues to become one of China's
important strategic industries, with great prospects for
development.

B RERERTEALEERBEEELSER B
RERBEBEBEAEAD 2ENBEREHER
Bkt -G BERERES2AMNEEEREDB
Se&o [0 F | BFHA (BN20214F20254F) » #E A
T LABRRR 2 EBREBRBE 75 1) ~ Y IR S PR AR 1R 1
B EESEN TR EEELOEUNSRER
RERENEHEST EERERF

Fi (GRTEFEHEIRARERASZE
ERAgEHRFEACEARMELER) (T+X
WS HREARREBCARRIFHEBIEE
Hr T B AR RS ~ iR 1B R HEEE
BB BINEN BEERER) > AMEMAIR
BEER FEERENRE R T —+R|EITF
BT ERXARREMRANTEEPRAEE
ENTEEHEFEREMEE ML BEHE
BB ERURIZE AL B IATEHE AR
ZRESHZOERZ —o

T+ RBEIRENTHBECER REA
HERAMBHRE  ESPEARKENERS
BRENE R (T+ A BAE R BEAR S TIE %)
(+EETELR)  HERIERENA
BREMREEHSEELIAGEEE - HE—F
ERWEBRKRPMNNER 2 — - EIL - IRFREHF
EXRRENSHEEEBREERZ — BAR
RBERAIR
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The “14th Five-Year Plan” proposes the deployment of
ten key projects for energy conservation and emission
reduction, of which key industrial green upgrading projects,
key regional pollutant emission reduction projects, clean and
efficient use of coal projects and volatile organic compounds
comprehensive remediation projects are all within the
Group's professional fields.

Therefore, the Group believes that the Chinese government
at all levels will more actively promote energy conservation,
emission reduction and environmental governance,
formulate more policies related to ecological and
environmental protection, and provide financial support or
project management schemes.

With its past design and manufacturing experience,
advanced technology and strong R&D team, the Group
is confident that it can seize the business opportunities
brought by the “20th National Congress Report” and the
“14th Five-Year Plan” to expand the Group's domestic
market share.

Considering the drastic economic fluctuations across the
globe as a result of, among other things, the on-going
Sino-US tensions, the Russo-Ukrainian war, the bearish
market sentiment, the hike in the interest rate and the
poor performance of the Hong Kong stock market in 2024,
various uncertainties may affect the prospects of the
Group's business. However, the Group will continue to work
together and seek business opportunities to expand revenue
streams, enhance the Group’s value and maximize the
returns of the Shareholders.

For the Year, the revenue and total comprehensive income
of the Group amounted to approximately RMB620.1
million and approximately RMB42.7 million respectively.
During the Year, the Group's gross profit amounted to
approximately RMB140.8 million, representing an increase
of approximately 108.8% as compared with approximately
RMB674 million of the corresponding period of last year;
and the Group's gross margin increased by approximately
8.4% from last year to approximately 22.7%. The increase
was mainly attributable to the completion of large projects
which have higher profit margin and the decrease of the
price of raw materials (including steel being one of the major
raw materials).

+OA TS EIRHBERREBHERB T X
BRI HPWERTEGEARIE EX
&85 YR BE T2 R OR R & R B T2
BEMARYGERAIENEE4AEENE
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For the Year, the value of the Group’'s new contracts
(which represents the aggregate value of the contracts it
entered into during a specified period) was approximately
RMB1,487.8 million. As at 31 December 2023, the Group's
backlog (including applicable value-added tax) (which
represents the total estimated contract value of work
that remains to be completed pursuant to outstanding
contracts as of a certain date and assuming performance
in accordance with the terms of the contract) was
approximately RMB2,594.1 million.

The Group's profit before tax for the Year decreased to
approximately RMB61.1 million and profits attributable
to owners of the Company decreased to approximately
RMB42.7 million, representing a yearon-year decrease of
approximately 19.4% and decrease of approximately 20.3%
respectively. The aforesaid decreases in profit before tax and
profits attributable to owners of the Company are mainly
due to no disposal of land during the Year.

At the time of raising the amount of product sales, the
Group spent great effort in enhancing cost management
to make its products and solutions more cost competitive.
The atmospheric pollution control solutions offered by the
Group mainly comprise the atmospheric pollution control
devices designed and manufactured by itself. The Group
possesses the qualifications and expertise in manufacturing
and supply of the key atmospheric pollution control
system of the projects it undertakes based on customised
design proposals. The Group is dedicated to improving
its manufacturing process and management system by
managing the product quality and operation, reducing
energy consumption and assessing the environmental
impact in accordance with international standards. The
quantitative management, environmental management and
quality management systems of the Group were awarded
with a number of ISO certificates. These systems shall
facilitate the Company in estimating costs, smoothening
project operations and improving operating efficiency.
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BTN ERMEE) 95 ARTE1,4878E 8
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Bt R E RBEE RGERIELNREZRRIER)
HAaANRIE2 594 1H8 T
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 56 registered
patents (including 3 invention patents and 53 utility
model patents) in the PRC. Based on its strong design
and engineering capabilities, the Group primarily provides
comprehensive atmospheric pollution control solutions to
its customers. The Group offers a wide range of models
of electrostatic precipitators which support electricity
generators with capacity spanning from 6MW to over
1,240MW. The Group is one of the few manufacturers in
the PRC which provides electrostatic precipitators for single
generator unit with capacity of 1,000MW or above.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group maintained a total
of 422 full-time employees (2022: 446). The remuneration
payable to the Group’s employees includes basic wages,
bonuses and other staff benefit. The Group conducts
periodic performance reviews for the employees and
determine their remuneration based on factors including
qualifications, contributions, years of experience and
performance.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The revenue of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB620.1 million for the Year representing an increase of
approximately 31.3% from approximately RMB472.5 million
of the corresponding period of last year. The increase was
mainly due to more completion of the large-scale projects
which result in the increase in the scale of business.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group's
revenue by segment and each item as a percentage of
revenue for the respective years indicated:

RIEZ=F+ZHB=1+—H > xEBETEE
Bo6IEMER (BFE31EEHEF &E31EE A
WMBER) BRAEEBARST R IEES
AEETEQRLREE2E ARSI A R
FR AEBRMNFEMERYFES  TF
NFEIKEES, 240k BB - KEBEF
/D EBER1,000K R B — S EEEIR
HEFERRERN G

NZEZ=F+ZRB=+—8 > cx&EEH£HF422
L2BEE (CT - F ! 4468) - ENFTEAE
BRERENHFMNEEEATIE TAKREMET
B - AEETHRTEENRKER  HEENE
F B FERRREERRE TR EEN -

B #5[ol g8
U

AEBNKREBREFERFNOARK472588
TTIEMAIBI3% ERFENNARE20.18E
T EMNETERABRAEBEE MRS B
EBRBIEA

e

=

E

TR FELERR DS E D
Rl R & BEB W@ E L

By

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-_A=+—HLEE

2023 2022
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
ARETT % | ARBFT %
Revenue &

Sales of environmental  $HEBRBE
protection equipment 607,348 98 442,739 93
Sales of materials tHEME 12,781 2 29,549 6
Rendering of services  ZHARFS 0 183 1
Total 4E=t 620,134 100 472,471 100
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Revenue generated from sales of environmental protection
equipment of the Group amounted to approximately 98%
of its total revenue. Depending on the specifications and
requirements of its customers, the Group may provide an
integrated set of atmospheric pollution control devices
comprising precipitators, desulfurisation system and/
or denitrification system, or only provide one type of the
said atmospheric pollution control devices on a stand-
alone basis towards new installation projects or upgrading
or modification projects. A majority of the Group's sales
of environmental protection equipment are related to
the manufacturing, installation and sales of electrostatic
precipitators.

The following table sets forth a further revenue breakdown
of sales of environmental protection equipment by types of
atmospheric pollution control solutions for the respective
years indicated:

FEBRHERFREEENRDEIEB R ED
98% I ZRHRERER FEBAI B E
RERNARINEERBRTE—BEARSR
Paks  SERESR RRARKL TRHER
M HAREBRERM LM —EARRISRIEEE -
FEBALOFHERFARBRANS - ZEKBEE
PBERESRAR-C

TREJIFATREFEERRRSRMGHERST R
BB DR EIRRRENE—T WA

Year ended 31 December

B#E+_A=t+—HLZFE

2023 2022
—EZ=E B F
RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
ARETFT % ARET T %
Environmental protection RirkfE
equipment
Ash removal and transfers BRRERRE
- Electrostatic precipitator —FElRES 436,146 72 326,480 74
- Electrostatic-bag composite  —EBRE S IRES
precipitator - - 10,393 2
- Bag filter precipitator — S RES 39,668 6 63,836 14
- Others (e.g. Pneumatic ash ~ —E At (MNRHBRZLH)
conveying system) 36,424 6 31,003 7
- S0z and NOx emission RO ZRIERRAELY
reduction (desulfurisation Bk IR RTEEE)
and denitrification devices) 95,110 16 11,027 3
607,348 100 442,739 100
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The Group's revenue for the Year was mainly generated
from sales of electrostatic precipitator and SO2 and NOx
emission reduction devices. During the Year, as compared
with the corresponding period of last year, the revenue
derived from sales of electrostatic precipitator and SO2 and
NOx emission reduction (desulfurisation and denitrification
devices) were increased by approximately RMB109.7 million
and approximately RMB84.1 million respectively while the
revenue derived from sales of bag filter precipitator was
decreased by approximately RMB24.2 million respectively.

With the experience in delivery of new installation
projects, the Group also provided large scale upgrading and

FEEAREAEENKRE T EREHEFBHRE
BB ZEEM R AR CYHIRNEE - A
FE>BAFREAMAL  REHEEFERESRIU
R Za ek a | b mHER (R AR i EE
B) WRm2IEMAARTEI109.788TAN
ARS8 1HEIT MiHE R PRESNINE R
D ARME24 2B BT o

BEAMNZEEENXNER ZEBT A%
B REMITEREREREARLIEEB T

modification projects for power plants and other industries. REJIFINS EERHTEEBER UAFR, X
The following table sets forth a revenue breakdown of sales 3 IEB #8885 HI$H EIB R B E AU BAAH
of environmental protection equipment by types of new
installation project as well as upgrading/modification project
for the respective years indicated:
Year ended 31 December
BE+-B=1+—HLEE
2023 2022
—E-=F = F
RMB’'000 % RMB’000 %
AR®TT % | ARBFT %
Revenue 1§
Newly installed & 580,019 96 426,693 96
Upgrading/modification — F+4k /Bi& 27,329 4 16,046 4
607,348 100 442,739 100
Cost of sales tHE s
The Group's costs incurred in sales of environmental ZAEEIHERFREMEENRESTECEM

protection equipment principally comprise material costs,
staff costs, depreciation and overhead costs. The Group’s
major raw materials used in the manufacturing process of
ash removal and transfer devices and desulfurisation and
denitrification devices are steel, electrical instruments, filter
bags and others.

The cost of sales of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB479.3 million for the Year representing an increase of
approximately 18.3% from approximately RMB405.0 million
of the corresponding period of last year.

Hﬁi$ BIMA - TERKEERMAE K&

BRAERRER IR ELEE D KRR IR
EE’J%LL&E?IK@MH%%M B/IEEs
BiE S R HAh o

RAEBENHERTHEERANIARE405.0
BETEMMNI83%EXRFEMNNARKEL79.3
BEBTe
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Gross profit and gross margin

The following table sets forth the breakdown of gross profit
and gross margin of the Group (stated as a percentage of
revenue) for the respective years indicated:

EMZERNE

TREIINFATESFERAERNENRENEK
CUSREZEN B D E25!) BB ¢

Year ended 31 December

BE+_"_A=+—HLEE

2023 2022
—E-= ===

Gross profit (RMB'000) EFH (ANR¥EF T 140,819 67439

Gross margin (%) EFHZE (%) 22.7% 14.3%

The Group's gross profit of the Year amounted to
approximately RMB140.8 million, representing a significant
increase of approximately RMB73.4 million or approximately
108.8% as compared with approximately RMB67.4 million
of the corresponding period of last year. The gross margin
of the Group increased to approximately 22.7% for the Year.
The increase was attributable to the completion of certain
large-scale projects with the higher gross margin and the
decrease of the price of raw materials (including steel being
one of the major raw materials) during the Year.

Other income and gains

Other income and gains of the Group during the Year
decreased to approximately RMB21.0 million, representing
a significant decrease of approximately 82.6% from
approximately RMB120.8 million of the corresponding period
of last year, which is mainly due to no disposal of land during
the Year. The other income and gains of the Group of last
year was mainly derived from gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets amounting to
approximately RMB116.3 million.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group's selling and distribution expenses of the Year
amounted to approximately RMB22.1 million, representing
an increase of approximately RMB6.3 million as compared
with approximately RMB15.8 million of the corresponding
period of last year. The selling and distribution expenses of
the Group are mainly comprised of salaries and travelling
expenses amounting to approximately RMB6.4 million and
approximately RMB5.7 million respectively.

AEBNEFBEERBANOARKEIT4AEETT
RIBEINHANRE73.48 8 T 4108.8% E 2
FEMNHAREI408EE T - AERLAEFEDN
EFEEAEN2 7% - EMTBEES2HNEAEE
ST EMNERSNETAEBE REME (8
BEXERMNZ —i08#) ER TR

Hth A RFIF

AEBRAEENEMBARFIGEREERE
H# AR 1120.88 B oL KIBR/14982.6%
EHARE210BE T - AEBEFHMBAR
METEREHEYZE - BE MR E U FERRE
BEENKBGHNARBN63IEET

HE R HRAX

AEBNHEERDHEBIRAEZERENOAR
IS 8SEBEITIEMOARKIEETEAREE
HNHUARBE2 188t AEBENHE R DHFE
TFEAEFERERE DOAAREKS 4
BETANARES TEE T
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Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group for the Year
amounted to approximately RMB53.3 million, representing
a decrease of approximately 15.7% as compared with
approximately RMB63.3 million of the corresponding period
of last year, mainly due to:

(i) the impairment losses for trade receivables in 2023
decreased to approximately RMB6.9 million; and

(i) the depreciation expenses in 2023 decreased by
RMB1.5 million as compared with 2022.

Finance costs

The finance costs of the Year amounted to approximately
RMB9.9 million, representing an increase of approximately
29.0% as compared with approximately RMB7.7 million of
the corresponding period of last year.

Income tax expenses

The Group's income tax expenses of the Year amounted
to approximately RMB18.3 million, as compared with the
income tax expenses approximately RMB22.2 million of the
corresponding period of last year.

Trade and bills receivables

As at 31 December 2023, the trade and bills receivables
of the Group were approximately RMB560.0 million,
decreased by approximately RMB140.9 million as compared
to approximately RMB700.9 million of the corresponding
period of last year. The decrease in trade receivables before
provision for loss allowance by approximately RMB92.6
million as compared with the corresponding period of the
last year is mainly due to the increase in the settlements
of trade receivables during the Year while the decrease
in bill receivables before provision for loss allowance by
approximately RMB42.6 million as compared with the
corresponding period of last year is mainly due to the fact
that more bill receivables are used for the settlement of
trade payables during the Year.

THRX
AERNTHRAXBEFRBOHARES3.3
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Inventories

As at 31 December 2023, the Group experienced an
increase of inventories by approximately RMB83.6 million
to approximately RMB374.9 million when compared to
approximately RMB291.3 million of the corresponding period
of last year. The inventories mainly consisted of steels, filter
bags, electrical instruments and other components.

Liquidity and capital resources
Cash and cash equivalents

As at 31 December 2023, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Group increased by approximately RMB212.1 million
to approximately RMB453.1 million when compared to
approximately RMB241.0 million of the corresponding period
of last year, which was mainly due to:

() the net cash outflow of approximately RMB64.9
million used in investing activities of the Group in the
Year, which mainly consists of the cash outflow of
approximately RMB40.6 million on the purchase of
property, plant and equipment;

(i) the net cash inflow of approximately RMB253.0 million
generated from the operation of the Group in the Year;
and

(i)~ the net cash inflow of approximately RMB23.3 million
used in financing activities, which mainly consists of
the cash inflow of approximately RMB30 million on
proceeds from bank borrowings and repayment of
bank borrowings.

Indebtedness
As at 31 December 2023, the Group incurred outstanding

bank loans (excluding margin loans) of approximately
RMB85 million.
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Net current assets

As at 31 December 2023, the net current assets of the
Group (being the difference between total current assets
and current liabilities) decreased by approximately 8.0%
from approximately RMB637.9 million of the corresponding
period of last year to approximately RMB586.6 million for
the Year.

Capital expenditure

During the Year, the Group acquired right-of-use assets of
approximately RMB14.5 million and property, plant and
equipment of approximately RMB40.6 million.

Exchange risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales by operating units in currencies
other than the functional currencies adopted by the units.
Approximately 2.1% (2022: 0%) of its sales for the Year
were denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the operating units making the sale. At
present, the Group does not intend to seek to hedge its
exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations. However, the
Group's management will constantly monitor the economic
situation and the foreign exchange risk profile of the Group,
and will consider appropriate hedging measures in the future
should the need arise.

Major acquisitions and disposals

On 30 March 2023, the Company entered into the an
agreement with BHEEREEBRMHBBRASE (Haiyue
Energy Group Company Limited*) as the vendor, pursuant
to which the Company agreed to further acquire and the
vendor agreed to sell the 5% equity interest in # L K2
MRS ABR/AT (Zhejiang Tianjie Magnetic Materials
Co., Ltd.*) (“Tianjie Magnetic”) held by the vendor,
subject to the terms and conditions of the agreement for
a consideration of RMB6,421,165. Upon completion of the
transaction under the agreement, the Company's equity
interest in Tianjie Magnetic increased from 40% to 45% and
Tianjie Magnetic remains to be an associated company of
the Company and the financial results of Tianjie Magnetic
will not be consolidated into the accounts of the Company.
For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 30 March 2023.
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On 2 May 2023, the Company announced that the Company
intended to acquire the land use right of a piece of land
with an area of approximately 52,571.90 sg. m. located at
No.15, Innovation South Road, Jinchuan Street, Changshang
County together with a building erected thereon with an
area of approximately 25,216.07 sq. m (the “Target Land")
from Changshan Luhui Investment, an investment carrier
wholly-owned by Changshan Investment Group whose
ultimate beneficial owner is the Changshan County People's
Government and a third party independent of the Group
and its connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules),
through the process (the “Process”) of bidding invitation,
auction or listing* (#B#8#) . The shareholders of the
Company had approved the acquisition of the Target Land
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on 17 July 2023. The Target Land has been successfully
acquired by the Company through the Process at the total
consideration of approximately RMB47 million (inclusive of
the bid deposit of RMB2.82 million) on 4 July 2023 and will
be developed and utilised by the Company as a plant for the
production of environmental pollution prevention equipment
and electronic products. For details, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 23 June 2023.

On 25 May 2023, the Company entered into an agreement
(the “"Agreement”) with KZEBEHRRAE (Tengy Group
Limited*) (“TGL"), who is a controlling shareholder (as
defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company holding
approximately 30% of the issued share capital of the
Company, pursuant to which the Company conditionally
agreed to acquire and TGL conditionally agreed to sell
95% equity interest in ALK ZBMERKRABBRLE
(Zhejiang Tianjie New Energy Co., Ltd.*) held by TGL for
the consideration of RMB51.2 million (subject to downward
adjustment) (the “Acquisition”). After careful consideration,
the Company and TGL decided not to proceed with the
Acquisition. On 22 September 2023, the Acquisition was
terminated by the Company and TGL by entering into a
deed of termination (the “Termination Deed"”) whereby the
parties have mutually agreed to terminate the Agreement
and to release and discharge each other from its respective
obligations under the Agreement with effect from the date
of the Termination Deed. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 22 September 2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other

material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures during the Year.
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Significant investments

During the Year, the Group acquired the interest of an
associate of approximately RMB6.5 million and acquired
investment properties addition cost of approximately
RMB6.0 million.

Contingent liabilities

The Group is neither currently involved in any material legal
proceedings nor aware of any pending or potential material
legal proceedings involving itself. If the Group were involved
in such material legal proceedings, the Group would record
any loss or contingent events when, based on information
then available, it is likely that a loss has been incurred and
the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any
material contingent liabilities or guarantees.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the Year (2022: RMBO0.05 per share).

PROSPECTS

In line with the new development concept proposed in
the “20th National Congress Report” and the “14th Five-
Year Plan’ the Group will continue to invest more time and
resources in the research and development and production
of energy-efficient environmental protection equipment to
meet the market demand for green technology, and expand
our environmental protection equipment portfolio (such as
dust collectors, ash delivery systems and desulfurization
and denitrification devices) to promote green and low-carbon
development in China to achieve peak carbon neutrality.
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Besides, the Group will continue to actively seek appropriate
acquisition projects to devote itself into more different
environmental protection and emission reduction industries,
new materials and new energy fields.

The Group hopes to capture the opportunities arising from
the 20th National Congress Report and the 14th Five-Year
Plan through internal research and development and external
expansion to consolidate the Group's existing business and
promote the diversification of the Group’s business, thereby
expanding the Group's domestic and international market
share.

The Group believes that its established customer base in
the PRC and its years of experience in the overseas market
could help it lay a solid foundation for future expansion in
both domestic and overseas markets of the Group, and
enable it to become the leading player in the environmental
protection and emission reduction industry.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of nine members, comprising
three executive Directors, three non-executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors. The powers
and duties of the Board include convening Shareholders’
meetings and reporting the Board’'s work at Shareholders’
meetings, implementing resolutions passed at Shareholders’
meetings, determining the Group's business plans and
investment plans, formulating the Group’s annual budget
and final accounts, formulating proposals for profit
distributions and for the increase or reduction of share
capital as well as exercising other powers, functions and
duties as conferred by the articles of association of the
Company (“Articles of Association”). Each of the Directors
has entered into a service contract/letter of appointment
with the Group.

Executive Directors

Mr. BIAN Yu G25) ("Mr. Bian"), aged 40, was re-elected
as an executive Director and the general manager of the
Company on 30 May 2022. Mr. Bian was also appointed
as the Vice-chairman of the Board on 15 February 2023.
Mr. Bian has approximately 19 years of experience in the
business of provision of atmospheric pollution control
solutions. Mr. Bian has also been the executive director
of various subsidiaries of the Company including Zhejiang
Tianjie Environmental Engineering Company Limited*
(IIKZRIETIRERAE) ("Tianjie Environmental
Engineering”) and Zhuji City Tianjie Electronic and
Technology Co., Ltd.* GEEBHRZEFRNARAF) and
Turpan Environmental Technology Co., Ltd.* (& H KX ZIR
BRI ABRAT) since March 2008, June 2009 and July
2013 respectively.

Mr. Bian has worked as a director of Tengy Group Limited*

(RREEABRAB) ("TGL") since August 2003. He
is responsible for the overall strategies, planning and
business development of TGL. Particularly, he focuses
on the management of the business of the provision of
atmospheric pollution control solutions carried on by TGL
prior to the establishment of the Company in December
2009. From September 2005 to December 2007, he served
in various positions such as general commander and general
manager in different departments in the subsidiaries of
TGL such as Zhejiang Runtian Magnetic Materials Co.,
Ltd.* G EREM K ARAE) ("Runtian Magnetic
Materials”), Zhejiang Tianjie New Materials Co., Ltd.* Gif
SIRZEFMEBR/AT) (“Tianjie New Materials”) and
Zhejiang Tianjie Magnetic Materials Co., Ltd*. G} I K&
HE MM R BR 19 B BR /A B]) which were principally engaged
in manufacturing, processing and marketing of steel blade
and he was mainly responsible for the overall operation and
production management.
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He worked as a director in various companies such as
Zhejiang Tianjie General Machinery Co., Ltd.* (i I XK;Z%E
% AR AE) (“"Tianjie General Machinery”) (being
principally engaged in manufacturing and marketing of
machinery and parts) since April 2008, Shanghai Pingchuan
Metal Material Co., Ltd* (EBF)II&BMEERAT)
(being principally engaged in sale of metal materials,
construction materials and chemical raw materials) from July
2010 to October 2012, Shanghai Guotuo Mining Investments
Limited* (E/8E#HREXREERAT) (being principally
engaged in management and exploration of mines and
development of mining technology) from August 2010 to
May 2015, Zhuji Tengy Small Loan Co. Ltd* GEEmH X2
NEEE B R/AT) (being principally engaged in providing
small loan and financial consultancy service in Zhuji City)
from June 2011 to December 2016, and as chairman of the
board of Zhuji City Tianyu Industry Investment Ltd* (&%
MEAXFEXEREEBRLE) (being principally engaged in
real estate development and property investment) from
November 2011 to February 2016 and as executive director
of Zhuji City Runtian Property Management Ltd.* (F5E&
mERXYEEERERALQT) (being principally engaged in
property management) since September 2011. He was
mainly responsible for advising on operational and business
strategy of the foregoing entities.

Mr. Bian is currently the Vice President of Zhejiang
Association of Equipment Industries for Environmental
Protection (/I BIRIREFHITEHEIEES). He has also
been the deputy officer member* (BIFEEZEE)of the
Electrostatic Precipitator Committee of The Environmental
Protection Industry* (FEIRIBEREEXWTEREZED
BNEEMREZEE)since February 2014,

Mr. Bian graduated with a bachelor's degree in mechanical
engineering and automation from Zhejiang University Gif
JIRE)in June 2005. He obtained his master of science
degree in corporate and international finance from University
of Durham in the United Kingdom in January 2008. He is the
son of Mr. Bian Jianguang, the brother of Ms. Bian Shu and
the brotherin-law of Mr. Zhang Yuanyuan.

Mr. Bian is a member of the family comprising Mr. Bian
Jianguang, Ms. Bian Shu and himself (“Bian Family"”)
and the Bian Family is a controlling shareholder (within
the meaning of the Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing
the Listing of Securities on the The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) of the Company
("Controlling Shareholders’ each being a “Controlling
Shareholder”).
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MR. ZHANG Yuanyuan (ER#E), aged 42, is an executive
Director of the Company appointed on 30 May 2022. Mr.
Zhang Yuanyuan has approximately 13 years of experience
in the business of the provision of atmospheric pollution
control solutions.

From May 2007 to January 2009, Mr. Zhang Yuanyuan
worked as the general manager of Jiangxi Chenyu
Aluminium Industry Ltd.* CIBARFREABREQF)
("Chenyu Lvye"”) which was principally engaged in the
non-ferrous metals processing, production, marketing and
trading of machineries and components, metal products
and components, metal doors and windows and electrical
products, and he was responsible for its overall operation
and management. He has been working as the director
of Zhejiang Tianjie New Energy Co., Ltd. (being principally
engaged in wind power generation and solar power
generation) since May 2008 and was responsible for giving
advice on operation strategy, attending board meeting and
evaluation of business operation and development strategy.
He has been working as the president of TGL since January
2009 and is responsible for the overall management and
business operation of TGL. He is currently the vice chairman
of Shanghai Aluminum Trade Association (_ti83B2£1T %17
). He was a non-executive Director of the Company from
28 December 2009 to 31 May 2019.

Mr. Zhang Yuanyuan holds a bachelor's degree of applied
physics from Tongji University (BB AZ2) in July 2003. He
holds a master degree of engineering management from
the University of Technology, Sydney GRERIIAZ) in
Australia in July 2007 He is the spouse of Ms. Bian Shu,
the brotherin-law of Mr. Bian Yu and the son-in-law of Mr.
Bian Jianguang. Mr. Bian Yu, Ms. Bian Shu and Mr. Bian
Jianguang are members of the Bian Family and the Bian
Family is a Controlling Shareholder.
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Ms. BIAN Shu (i2%k), aged 42, is an executive Director
and the deputy manager of the administration department
of the Company. She was re-elected as an executive
Director of the Company on 30 May 2022, and has served
as the deputy manager of the administration department
of the Company since September 2014. Previously, Ms.
Bian Shu worked as the manager of the human resources
department of TGL from February 2006 to January 2010
and was responsible for the human resources management
and administration work of TGL. She worked as the chief
financial officer of TGL between February 2010 to December
2011 and was responsible for accounting matters and
financial planning and management. Ms. Bian Shu served
as the vice president of TGL from December 2011 to
August 2014, and was responsible for day-to-day operations
and management and to deputise the president when
necessary. Furthermore, she served as the chairman of
the supervisory committee of the Company (“Supervisory
Committee’ each member thereof being “Supervisor”)
from 28 December 2009 to 31 May 2016 and as the
employee representative Supervisor from 10 May 2014 to
31 May 2016, and was primarily responsible for supervising
and overseeing the performance of the Directors and other
senior management members of the Company.

Ms. Bian Shu holds a bachelor's degree of philosophy
from Zhejiang University in June 2003. She holds a master
degree of international business from the University of
Sydney in October 2006. She is the sister of Mr. Bian Yu, the
daughter of Mr. Bian Jianguang and the spouse of Mr. Zhang
Yuanyuan.

Ms. Bian Shu is a member of the Bian Family and the Bian
Family is a Controlling Shareholder.

Non-executive Directors

Ms. YU Ji (%), aged 41, obtained an associate degree
in computer at Zhejiang Highway Technicians College
in July 2000. She then obtained an associate degree in
transportation management (engineering management)
at Hainan University in July 2004. She then obtained a
bachelor’'s degree in law at The Open University of China
in January 2008. She further obtained a bachelor's degree
in distance education civil engineering (engineering
management) at Zhejiang University in July 2013.

26

BIRT L 425 MITESRARDTHELEIK
B R _BE__FRA=-tHEZEEAEXA
AR TEERE _E-NENAEMREERAT
THHEEE - BYRLITERN ST E_H
EE-ZSE-AEFIGLANERIKE &
SIGLWANE REEBRTHIE- BN _ZT—
EEZAEE——F+ZREFETGLNEF
WM BEEEEUMRYBREIREIE 2K
Zt+tBE-E——F+-_BEE_ET—MNE/\B
EATGLNEARE aENREEREBIUENL
ERREBER Bt HE ST hE+T
A+ N NHEE_ZE—XRFRA=Z+—HIEE
AABEEY (EREg  SMEAIES) NE
BB E—NFEAEBEt+tHEBE_E—XRER
B=+—HEABRIRKRES TE8EFEEX
EREFERANDEMEREEBRENRIR

BHRLITN TR =FABNIAENET
BELEA KR _TTRE+ABTRAEN
SEHEAHBRIBMU -RABFRENEE B
BAEENURNERELENLB -

BT HBRIENME  MERX
RER

FHITESR

RERD 41 RIEEZFLAMBIHIA
BERMBRAEHREI S22 -KBERN _EF
MECtARSBEASNEREE (TREEE)
BB LR -KBEERN ST N\F-AREEAX
FARABREBELBA RKRE—FPN_T—=
FLAREHIABBRHASTIATIRE (IEE
2) B B(e

TR IR

Zhejiang Tengy Environmental Technology Co., Ltd 7L RIEERERH B A R A H]



Biographies of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management

B~ BT e AR P R

From October 2000 to October 2015, Ms. Yu Ji worked for
the business department of Zhejiang Quzhou Transportation
Construction Group Co., Ltd. From October 2015 to
November 2018, she worked at the economic and building
department of Changshan Finance Bureau with her last
position as the deputy section chief. From June 2018 to
June 2022, she concurrently served as the chairman and
the general manager of BUBERREREES (for
transliteration purpose only, Changshan Infrastructure
Investment Fund). From November 2018 to December 2019,
she worked as the section chief at the general department
of BUBBFIREIEETES L (for transliteration purpose
only, Changshan County Government Investment Project
Review Center). From December 2019 to November 2023,
she worked as the section chief at the Changshan economic
and building department. From November 2023 onwards,
she has been working as the deputy general manager at
BLREBEEEREEBERREME AT (for transliteration
purpose only, Changshan County State-owned Assets
Investment and Operation Co., Ltd.). She was also the
representative at the 17th People’s Congress of Changshan
County in 2022. She has been appointed as an executive
director and manager of B LLZBEERRKREXREEFRAE (for
transliteration purpose only, Changshan County Guoxi Equity
Investment Co., Ltd.), a substantial shareholder of the
Company, since 23 December 2023.

Mr. ZHU Xian Bo ({21 %), aged 57 is a non-executive
Director re-elected on 30 May 2022. He was appointed as
the Chairman of the Board on 15 February 2023. He was
appointed as the director of the corporate governance
department and project management department at the
second silk factory in Zhuji City from February 1987 to July
1994; the deputy general manager of Zhuji Jiasi Knitters
Co., Ltd.* GEBEERBHSHEREME AR from July 1994
to January 2002; the deputy general manager of Zhejiang
Hanyu Security Technology Co., Ltd.* G L EF L2 MTAE
FR/A &) from February 2002 to September 2003; the deputy
factory director of Zhuji Chengguan Aluminum Products
Factory* (BRI 2% K from September 2003 to
January 2006; the general manager of Zhuji Huahai Anlun
Co., Ltd.* (FEEBEESIMEPRLE) from February 2006
to March 2009; the deputy general manager of Zhejiang
Junmashen Aluminium Co., Ltd.* G IE E#IREAEA
&) from April 2009 to March 2017. He has served as the vice
president of TGL since March 2017
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Mr. Zhu Xian Bo attended the national higher education
entrance examination in July 1984, was admitted to Zhejiang
Ningbo Mechanic Industrial School* (3T 8 R i T 222
#2)in September the same year, and obtained a Diploma of
Business Administration from Zhejiang Ningbo Mechanic
Industrial School* (7T E & # i T 2£E24%) in January 1987;
passed the self-study examination for higher education
in December 1991 and received a Diploma of Industrial
Management Engineering from Zhejiang University of
Technology; pursued postgraduate study of management
science and engineering in Zhejiang University from June
2000 to March 2002 and obtained completion certificate;
received an undergraduate diploma in law through online
education from Southwest University of Science and
Technology in June 2005. He was recognised as a senior
economist by Zhuji Municipal Personnel Bureau GEE A
¥/), and was granted the qualification of practising as a
senior engineer by Accreditation Commission of Technical
Expertise Level of Shanghai Aluminum Trade Association (_E
BIRETERGEERMKTHBIABEREEZESD) in April
2011. On 31 December 2021, he obtained the professional
qualification of senior economist from Zhejiang Provincial
Senior Economist Qualification Evaluation Committee GifiiT

HEMEBEMBBERERTIEESD).

Mr. CHEN Jiancheng (BR3Z3#), aged 60, was re-elected
as a non-executive Director of the Company on 30 May
2022. Mr. Chen Jiancheng worked as an assistant to general
manager of TGL from June 1995 to January 2000. He served
as the vice general manager of Zhejiang Liyu Stainless
Steel Co. Ltd.* (VI FAHEMBRLQE) from June
2003 to December 2008, and became the chief technology
officer (B fMT48%5) of TGL since January 2004, primarily
responsible for technological research and development as
well as product quality control.

Mr. Chen Jiancheng graduated from Zhuji Paitou Middle
School* GEEMHEEEFRZ) in July 1979.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LI Jiannan (##£#), aged 46, was re-elected as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 30
May 2022. He has over 20 years of experience in accounting
and finance industry in the PRC.
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Mr. Li Jiannan obtained a Bachelor's degree in accounting
at Southwestern University of Finance and Economics,
the PRC in 2001. He is a certified public accountant and a
certified tax agent in the PRC. He is currently the director
of consultation department of Zhuji City Guangxin Certified
Public Accountants Company Limited* G&EE &S & 58D
EHPRBRAT).

Mr. FUNG Kui Kei Jonas (CB$EH), aged 43, was re-
elected as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company on 30 May 2022. He has more than 21 years of
work experience in the accounting field. He is extremely
experienced in advising on corporate finance matters
including pre-IPO, acquisitions and mergers, and corporate
governance and general compliance issues for listed
companies and private companies.

Mr. Fung Kui Kei graduated with a bachelor’'s degree in
accounting from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University (&
BIE T AZ)in October 2003. He is one of the founders
of JMD & PME CPA Limited and OCTOSEC CPA LIMITED,
providers of professional corporate advisory to enterprises
in Hong Kong, and has been a partner of the same since
August 2014 and July 2016 respectively. From May 2011 to
March 2014, he worked as the assistant finance manager of
AZONA (HK) LIMITED principally engaged in fashion retail.
From December 2008 to May 2011, he was the auditor of
Shu Lun Pan Hong Kong CPA LIMITED and subsequently
the assistant manager of BDO Limited (due to a merger
between Shu Lun Pan Hong Kong CPA LIMITED), which is
the Hong Kong member firm of BDO International Limited.
From January 2006 to October 2008, he was the auditor
of BDO Limited. From October 2003 to December 2005,
he was an auditor in CWCC, a professional advisory firm
providing a full range of business services in Hong Kong and
major cities in mainland China. Mr. Fung Kui Kei is also the
company secretary of WWPKG Holdings Company Limited
(stock code:8069) and Kinetix Systems Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8606).

Mr. Fung Kui Kei has been a member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA") since 2007.
He has also been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") since 2011.

Mr. Fung Kui Kei was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of CT Environmental Group Limited, a
company whose shares were listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange (former stock code: 1363) until
cancellation of its listing on 10 September 2021 with effect
from 6 August 2021.
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Mr. WANG Feng GEl£), aged 38, obtained a bachelor
degree in environmental science at Anhui Normal
University in 2010. He further obtained a master degree
in environmental planning and management at Nanjing
University in 2012 and a doctor degree in environmental
science and engineering at Nanjing University in 2018.

From September 2012 to July 2013, Mr. Wang Feng worked
a research assistant in the environmental policy and risk
management team at Nanjing University. From January 2019
to June 2021, he worked as a lecturer and tutor for master
students at the Business School of Nanjing University of
Information Science & Technology. Since July 2021, he has
been working as a deputy researcher and tutor for master
student at the Business School of Nanjing University of
Information Science & Technology. Since April 2022, he has
been working as the vice dean of 47 B Ak 2 2 A
ZTF (for transliteration purpose only, the Research Institute
of Weather, Economics and Low Carbon Production) of
Nanjing University of Information Science & Technology.
Since November 2022, he has been working as the
assistant to Dean of Business School of Nanjing University
of Information Science & Technology. He has extensive
experience in fields such as environmental protection,
finance, agriculture and engineering.

Directors’ Service Contracts

All Directors have entered into letters of appointment or
service contracts with the Company. As at 31 December
2023, no Director has a service contract with the Company
or its subsidiary which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee consists of three members,
with two representatives of Shareholders and one
representative of employees. The employee representative
Supervisor is elected democratically by the employees
representative congress, while the Shareholder
representative Supervisors are elected by the Shareholders.
The term of office of each Supervisor is three years, which
is renewable upon re-election and re-appointment. The
powers and duties of the Supervisory Committee include
reviewing and verifying financial reports, business reports
and profit distribution proposals prepared by the Board;
and if in doubt, appointing certified public accountants and
practicing auditors to re-examine the Company's financial
information; monitoring the financial activities of the
Company, supervising the performance of the Directors,
the president and other senior management members, and
monitoring whether they had acted in violation of the laws,
regulations and Articles of Association in the performance
of their duties; requesting the Directors, the president and
senior management members to rectify actions which are
detrimental to the Company’s interests; and exercising
other rights given to them under the Articles of Association.
Each of the Supervisors has entered into a service contract/
appointment letter with the Group.

SUPERVISORS

Ms. Xu Jiajuan (fRf£48), aged 38, is the employee
representative Supervisor of the Company and has been
the manager of the market information management
department of the Company since November 2016. She
is mainly responsible for the management of the market
information.

Ms. Xu Jiajuan first joined the Company in December 2009
as a sales officer in the marketing department. She was
then promoted to the position of assistant manager of
the marketing department in August 2013, and had been
in charge of the sales matters of the Company since then
until October 2016. She holds a bachelor's degree from
Xingzhi College of Zhejiang Normal University, majoring in
English. In December 2010, she obtained the certification
of assistant economist qualification issued by the Zhuji City
Personnel Bureau. In November 2014, she obtained the
certification of architectural engineering assistant engineer
qualification issued by the Zhuji City Human Resources
and Equipment Security Bureau. In November 2020,
she obtained the certification of intermediate economist
qualification issued by the PRC Human Resources and Social
Security Bureau.
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Mr. FU Jun (f819), aged 43, is a Shareholder representative
Supervisor. Prior to joining the Group on 18 October 2014,
Mr. Fu Jun taught at the school of computer and information
engineering of Zhejiang Gongshang University G I T
KE)in December 2009, being a lecturer and an assistant
professor successively, responsible for teaching and
conducting research.

Mr. Fu Jun obtained a bachelor's degree of bio-medical
engineering from Zhejiang University GH;IAE)in June
2004 and a doctorate degree in bio-medical engineering
from Zhejiang University (7L A2 in December 2009.
He also completed two years of minor studies in Japanese
language in Zhejiang University Gii> I AZ%)in June 2003.

Mr. FANG Zhiguo (/538E]), aged 46, is a Shareholder
representative Supervisor. Prior to joining the Group on 18
October 2014, he worked as a post-doctoral researcher in
environmental science and engineering at the Research
Centre for Eco-Environment Sciences of the Chinese
Academy of Sciences (BN} B4 AR IRIBHTZTA L) from
July 2005 to August 2008, in which he was responsible for
conducting research. He joined the school of environmental
science and engineering of Zhejiang Gongshang University
CHPI I AE)in August 2008 and became an assistant
professor since October 2009, in which he is responsible for
teaching and conducting research.

Mr. Fang Zhiguo obtained a master degree of science
majoring in ecology from Zhejiang University G I AE) in
June 2002 and a doctorate degree in science majoring in
ecology from the Graduate School of the Chinese Academy
of Science (FEIFZRHAZLAPT) (later renamed as the
University of Chinese Academy of Sciences (BRI E R K
£)) in July 2005. He was a visiting scholar at the University
of Oklahoma in the United States from June 2006 to May
2008.

Except as disclosed herein, to the best of the knowledge,
information and belief of the Directors having made all
reasonable enquiries, there are no other matters relating
to the appointment of Supervisors that need to be brought
to the attention of the Shareholders, nor is there any
information relating to the Supervisors that is required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51 (2) of the Listing Rules
including matters relating to directorship held by Supervisors
in any public companies the securities of which are listed on
any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last
three years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. WU Fengdi (R E\##), aged 41, has been the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company (“CFO") and Board
Secretary. She joined the Group and was appointed as the
financial manager of the Company on 28 December 2009.
Ms. Wu Fengdi has approximately 19 years of experience
in accounting in the atmospheric pollution control solutions
industry. Ms. Wu Fengdi worked as the chief accountant
of TGL from April 2003 to December 2009 and she was
responsible for the financials and internal auditing of TGL.

Ms. Wu Fengdi completed three years of studies in
accounting at Shaoxing University (48 82X ¥ E2B) in January
2008.

Mr. QIU Yonghui (BB 7k #&), aged 41, is the deputy general
manager of the Company appointed on 15 May 2017 He
joined the Group in July 2008 as the deputy manager of
the technology department. He was appointed as the
deputy general manager of the Company on 15 May 2017,
responsible for the operation of the technology department.

Mr. Qiu Yonghui is a first-class constructor (—#k 25 M) and
registered environmental protection engineer GEfIZ{R T
#28M) in China. He focused on developing movable collecting
electrode plate, wet precipitators and high-efficiency
desulfurisation equipment. He had participated in designing
the movable collecting electrode plate for various projects,
including the 2X600MW unit of &INZEEFIFEBEER
AF] and 2X660MW unit of BEIEHEEERRAF. He
had also participated in designing the wet precipitators for
various projects, including the 3X50MW unit of A& FAXEER
B and 12 X50MW unit of EiE.

Mr. Qiu Yonghui had acted as a technician and participated
in the research and development of a provincial new product
“circulating fluidised bed boiler auxiliary electrostatic
precipitator ({EIRRICKIBIER EERESS) for large
generator units (300MW-1000MW)" This product was
accredited with provincial product certification in 2010.
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Mr. CHEN Jianguo (FR#Z ), aged 63, is the deputy general
manager of the Company appointed since 3 May 2010. He
joined the Group on 28 December 2009 and was appointed
as the deputy general manager of the Company on 3 May
2010. Mr. Chen Jianguo has approximately 30 years of
experience in the business of provision of atmospheric
pollution control solutions.

Mr. Chen Jianguo was responsible for the research and
development of precipitators, installation of environmental
protection equipments and aftersale matters in enterprises
such as Zhuji City Industrial Environmental Protection
Equipment Factory* (F8EE T EIRRRELEMK) from 1991
to 1998. From June 1995 to December 2009, he worked as
the head of the department of engineering and installation
of TGL and was responsible for the supervising installation
of environmental protection equipment, after-sale matters
and liaison with buyers.

Mr. Chen Jianguo graduated from Zhuji County Tongshan
Community High School* GEEEILL AR AFOLER)in
Zhejiang Province in July 1977
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. WONG Shum Wai (formerly known as WONG Hon Kit),
and Ms. SHEN Qiong are the Company's joint company
secretaries.

Mr. WONG Shum Wai (formerly known as WONG Hon Kit)
(EZR#4E), aged 34, holds a Bachelor's degree of Business
Administration (Hons) in Accountancy from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Wong Shum Wai is currently
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 13 years of extensive experience
in finance, auditing and consulting fields, gaining from an
international accounting firm and listed corporation. He
served as the financial controller of China Oil Gangran
Energy Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 08132), a
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange from
2011. He worked as a senior auditor in Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu from 2011 to 2015.

Ms. SHEN Qiong (E8), aged 39, has been one of the joint
company secretaries of the Company since 1 November
2014 primarily responsible for the company secretarial
and legal matters of the Group. She joined the Group in
September 2014 as a legal officer. Ms. Shen Qiong has
approximately 14 years of legal experience in relation to
business operations.

Ms. Shen Qiong worked as a legal officer in Zhejiang Group
Net Environmental Engineering Co., Ltd* G I 3I8E T
EIR1B B FRAR) (being principally engaged in production
and sales of environmental protection equipment and
machineries) from August 2006 to December 2008 in which
she was responsible for legal and compliance matters. From
January 2009 to August 2014, she worked as a legal officer
and the assistant to the manager in TGL in which she was
responsible for legal and compliance matters.

Ms. Shen Qiong completed a long distance learning course
majoring in law from Southwest University of Political
Science & Law (FAMBUAAZ)in July 2008. She also
obtained a qualification certificate of assistant engineer in
municipal engineering issued by Zhuji City Personnel Bureau*

(FEE™HAZER)in April 2010.
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance
report of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to upholding a high standard of
corporate governance and business ethics in the firm belief
that they are essential for enhancing investors' confidence
and maximising shareholders’ returns. The Board reviews its
corporate governance practices from time to time in order to
meet the rising expectations of stakeholders, comply with
increasingly stringent regulatory requirements and fulfill its
commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

After reviewing the Company’'s corporate governance
practices and the relevant regulations of the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (“CG
Code”) which were in force during the Year as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules at the time, the Board is
satisfied that the Company has complied with the CG Code
provisions for the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is committed to providing an effective and
responsible leadership for the Company. The Directors,
individually and collectively, must act in good faith in the
best interests of the Company and the Shareholders. The
Board established three Board committees, being the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee (each a “Board Committee” and
collectively the “Board Committees”), to oversee different
areas of the Company'’s affairs.

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors,
namely Mr. Bian, Mr. Zhang Yuanyuan and Ms. Bian Shu;
three non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Yu Ji, Mr.
Zhu Xian Bo and Mr. Chen Jiancheng; three independent
nonexecutive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Jiannan, Mr. Fung Kui
Kei and Mr. Wang Feng.

Their biographical details and their family relationships
(where applicable) are set out in the section headed
“Biographies of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” above in this annual report. A list of the
Directors identifying their roles, functions and independence
is available on the Company's website.
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Mr. Bian, an executive Director, the Vice-chairman of the
Board and the general manager of the Company, is the
brother of Ms. Bian Shu (an executive Director) and the
brotherin-law of Mr. Zhang Yuanyuan (an executive Director).
Save as disclosed herein, there are no other financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships
among the members of the Board.

The Company is committed to the view that the Board
should include a balanced composition of executive and
non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) so that there is a strong element of
independency on the Board, which facilitates the effective
exercise of independent judgements in the course of
decision-making. The Company is also committed to the
view that the independent non-executive Directors should
be of sufficient number, calibre and experience for their
views to carry weight, and that they should be free of any
business or other relationship which could have interfered or
potentially interfere, to any material extent, with the exercise
of independent judgment for the purpose of assumptions of
directorship in the Company.

Mr. Bian is the vice-chairman of the Board, the executive
Director and the general manager of the Company, and is
responsible for overseeing the strategic planning, policy
formulations as well as corporate development of the
Group as well as undertaking the principal decision-making
role in the supervision and management of the Company's
overall operations. The Board meets regularly to consider,
discuss and review the major and appropriate issues that
pertain to the operations of the Company. As such, the
Board considers that sufficient measures have been taken
and the vesting of the roles of Board management and the
management of day-to-day business of the Company in Mr.
Bian will not impair the balance of power and authority. It
is believed that the said balance is ensured by the effective
management of the Board, of which the structure provides
the Group with strong and consistent leadership and
allows for a more effective and efficient business planning,
decision making as well as execution of long term business
strategies.
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The Board sets the Group’'s overall objectives and
strategies, monitors and evaluates its operating and
financial performance and reviews its corporate governance
standards. It also decides on matters such as annual and
interim results, major transactions, Director appointments
or re-appointments, investment policies, dividend and
accounting policies. The Board has delegated the authority
and responsibility for implementing its business strategies
and managing the daily operations of the Group's
businesses to the executive Directors and the senior
management of which the members should report back
and obtain prior approval from the Board before making
decisions or entering into any commitments for and on
behalf of the Group. In compliance with the code provision
C.3.2 of the CG Code, the functions and powers that have
been delegated are reviewed periodically to ensure that they
remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

The Board is also responsible for developing, reviewing
and monitoring the policies and practices on corporate
governance and legal and regulatory compliance of the
Group, and the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management.
The Board also reviews the disclosures herein to ensure
compliance.

All Board members have separate and independent access
to the Group's senior management to fulfill their duties.
Independent professional advice can be sought to assist the
relevant Directors to discharge their duties at the Group's
expense upon their request. Since November 2015, all
Directors have been provided with monthly updates on the
Company'’s performance and financial position to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to effectively discharge
their duties.

All Directors are required to declare to the Board upon
their first appointment of directorships or other positions
concurrently held in other companies or organisations.
These interests are updated on an annual basis and when
necessary.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING
AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are aware of their responsibilities to the
Shareholders and have exercised their duties with care, skill
and diligence, in pursuit of the development of the Group.
Every newly appointed Director receives an induction to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the business
and operations of the Group and that he is fully aware of
his duties and responsibilities as a director under applicable
rules and requirements.
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In compliance with paragraph C.1.4 of the CG Code, during
the Year, the Company organised training sessions to each of
the Directors in relation to continuing obligations of a Hong
Kong listed company and its directors. In addition, briefings
and updates on the latest development regarding the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements are
provided to each of the Directors during Board meetings to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices.

According to the records maintained by the Company,
the continuous professional development programmes
received by each of the Directors during the year ended 31
December 2023 are summarised as follows:

BT EEAFUECAR  REERE KA
AEASERAREMEE LD ANRAES
WA ENENRR IS AT EER
B LHEERRAEM L HRAREER
EEREHBNREN IR NRREEETE
BRI MR IR S8 R S8 RRN0T
e

BEAADEFENCER SUEFHREE_ZT
TZEE+ZRAZ+T-HIEEEEZNFRERX
LRAEHALMT

Types of training

Name of Directors EENS $EEEE R
Mr. Bian Yu BFEEY Aand B
ARB
Mr. Zhang Yuanyuan EREBEE Aand B
AKB
Ms. Bian Shu Bzt Aand B
AKB
Mr. Lan Lei (Note 1) &I E (B1at1) Aand B
AKB
Ms. Yu Ji (Note 1) SEL LT WaE1) Aand B
AKB
Mr. Zhu Xian Bo MERE Aand B
ARB
Mr. Chen Jiancheng FRE ST E Aand B
ARB
Mr. Li Jiannan Fif=d b Aand B
AKB
Mr. Fung Kui Kei EIEE A Aand B
AKB
Mr. Zhang Bing (Note 2) RIRALAE HfaE2) Aand B
AKB
Mr. Wang Feng (Note 2) SRS (KfaE2) Aand B
AKB
Note 1: Mzt -

Mr. Lan Lei has resigned with effect from 29 December 2023, replaced by
Ms. Yu Ji.

Note 2:

Mr. Zhang Bing has resigned with effect from 17 October 2023, replaced by
Mr. Wang Feng.

A: attendance at Company-organised or external training sessions and/or
seminars
B: perusal of materials relating to updates on regulatory requirements
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The role of the independent non-executive Directors is
to provide independent and objective opinions to the
Board, giving adequate control and balances for the Group
to protect the overall interests of the Shareholders and
the Group. They serve actively on the Board and Board
Committees to provide their independent and objective
views.

In compliance with Rules 3.10 (1) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules, the Company appointed three independent non-
executive Directors, representing equal to one-third of the
Board. One of the independent non-executive Directors has
the appropriate professional qualifications in accounting or
related financial management expertise as required by Rule
3.10 (2) of the Listing Rules.

Each independent non-executive Director has submitted an
annual confirmation in writing on his independence to the
Company for the Year pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. Based on the contents of such confirmations, the
Company considers that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent and free of any relationship
that could materially interfere with the exercise of their
independent judgement.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Group has three non-executive Directors, being Ms. Yu Ji,
Mr. Zhu Xian Bo and Mr. Chen Jiancheng. Each of Mr. Zhu Xian
Bo and Mr. Chen Jiancheng had been re-elected at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 30 May 2022 while
Ms. Yu Ji had been newly appointed, at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 29 December 2023.

Details of the biographies of Ms. Yu Ji, Mr. Zhu Xian Bo and Mr.
Chen Jiancheng are set out in the section headed “Biographies
of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” above in this
annual report. Directors emoluments for Non-executive Directors
are set out in note 13 to the Financial Statements.

The term of appointment of the non-executive Directors is three
years.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by a number of committees,
including the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee. Each Board Committee has its
defined and written terms of reference approved by the
Board covering its duties, powers and functions. Their terms
of reference are available on the Company'’s website.

All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties, including access to management
or professional advice if considered necessary.

(i)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules as well as paragraph D.3 of the CG Code. The
Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Fung Kui Kei, Mr. Li
Jiannan and Mr. Wang Feng. Mr. Fung Kui Kei, who has
appropriate professional qualifications and experience
in accounting matters, was re-appointed as the
chairman of the Audit Committee on 30 May 2022.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee
are to assist the Board in providing an independent
view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management
systems and relationship with external auditor of the
Group, oversee the audit process and perform other
duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.
These include reviewing the Group's interim and
annual reports.

The work performed by the Audit Committee during
the Year includes:

(i) reviewing of the relationship with the external
auditors by reference to the work performed by
the auditors, its fees and terms of management,
and make recommendation to the Board on the
reappointment of external auditors;

(i) reviewing of the annual and interim results and
reports of the Company as to whether they are
in compliance with the accounting standards
and relevant requirements in relation to financial
reporting under the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws;
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(ii)
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(i)  reviewing of matters relating to risk management
and internal control systems, and the plans
and objectives of the internal audit function
established by the Company; and

(iv) reviewing of the Group's accounting principles
and practices, financial reporting and statutory
compliance matters.

Pursuant to the meetings of the Audit Committee on
28 March 2024, the Audit Committee has reviewed
the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the Year (“Financial Statements”), including the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, the report prepared by the external auditor
covering major findings in the course of the audit, and
the selection and appointment of the external auditor.
During the Year, two meetings of the Audit Committee
were held. The respective attendance records of
individual committee members are set out below:

(il BREHAEABREERNMEZZRR
MEIE > URAA BRI AERE
BEERETBIR TIFER 5 &

(v WNAEEZE5RARIEG B
BERERBTEH

REBEBEZZEGN _SWNFE=A=Z+N\
HRETHNE®H EEETEERTER
FEENFREVHRE (MBHRER) (B
BREEFMNERARER) ~INEZ
AP RN EB S (BEPREENEZB
BANEZREER) URINEZHEME
BERZE-REFE BREEGHET
MAREZ-EHEEETHERENEFETL
BEFINT

Attendance/Number

of meetings

Name of member [pA=kied HEEERH
Mr. Fung Kui Kei (Chairman) B E LA (£/E) 2/2
Mr. Zhang Bing (Note 1) SRIRSTAE (H2ET) 2/2
Mr. Li Jiannan B E 2/2
Mr. Wang Feng (Note 1) ST S (Ba#1) 0/0

Note 1. Mr. Zhang Bing has resigned with effect from 17 October
2023, replaced by Mr. Wang Feng.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of
the Listing Rules as well as paragraph E.1 of the CG
Code. The Remuneration Committee comprises three
Directors, namely Mr. Li Jiannan (independent non-
executive Director), Mr. Wang Feng (independent non-
executive Director) and Mr. Chen Jiancheng (non-
executive Director). Mr. Li Jiannan is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee.
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(iii)

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee are to review and make recommendations
to the Board on the overall remuneration structure
and policy for all Directors and senior management
as well as the specific remuneration packages for the
executive Directors and senior management and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent process
for developing such remuneration policy. No Director
takes part in any discussion on his own remuneration.
The Company's objective for its remuneration policy
is to maintain fair and competitive packages based
on business requirements and industry practice. In
order to determine the level of remuneration and fees
paid to the members of the Board, market rates and
factors such as each Director’s workload, performance,
responsibility, job complexity and the Group's
performance are taken into account.

Pursuant to the meeting of the Remuneration
Committee on 28 March 2024, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed the remuneration policy and
structure relating to, as well as the respective service
contracts/letters of appointment of, the Directors and
senior management of the Company.

During the Year, three meetings of the Remuneration
Committee were held. The respective attendance
records of individual committee members are set out
below:
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HZBEMER BN L FEEEHEIINT

Attendance/Number

of meetings

Name of member MEHH HEEERE
Mr. Li Jiannan (Chairman) Bk E (EE) 3/3
Mr. Zhang Bing (Note 1) SRR A HfaET) 2/2
Mr. Chen Jiancheng BRE AT E 3/3
Mr. Wang Feng (Note 1) ST E (HfaET) 1

Note 1:  Mr. Zhang Bing has resigned with effect from 17 October

2023, replaced by Mr. Wang Feng.

The remuneration of members of the senior
management of the Group for the Year are set out in
note 13 to the Financial Statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with
terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.3
of the CG Code and comprises three Directors, namely
Mr. Wang Feng (independent non-executive Director),
Mr. Fung Kui Kei (independent non-executive Director)
and Ms. Bian Shu (executive Director). Mr. Wang Feng
is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

(iii)
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The principal responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee are to review the composition of the
Board, including its structure, size and diversity,
at least annually to ensure that it has a balance of
expertise, skills and experience appropriate to the
requirements of the business of the Group. It is also
responsible for considering and recommending to
the Board any suitably qualified person to become
a member of the Board, monitoring the succession
planning of Directors and assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors. For details
of the nomination policy adopted by the Nomination
Committee, please refer to the section “Nomination
Policy” in this corporate governance report. The
Nomination Committee also gives consideration to the
board diversity policy adopted by the Board in March
2015 (“Board Diversity Policy”) when identifying
suitably qualified candidates to become members of
the Board, and the Board reviews the Board Diversity
Policy, so as to develop and review measurable
objectives for the implementation of the same and to
monitor the progress on achieving these objectives.
The Board is reasonably diverse in terms of age,
professional skills and experience during the Year.

Pursuant to the meeting of the Nomination Committee
on 28 March 2024, the Nomination Committee
reviewed the structure, size and composition of
the Board and assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors. During the Year,
three meetings of the Nomination Committee were
held. The respective attendance records of individual
committee members are set out below:
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Attendance/Number

of meetings

Name of member [pA=kied HE SR
Mr. Zhang Bing (Chairman) (Note 1) RIRG A (FE) Ba#1) 2/2
Ms. Bian Shu BiRT+ 3/3
Mr. Fung Kui Kei EIEE A 3/3
Mr. Wang Feng (Chairman) (Note 1) IR SCE (FE) WiaET) 11

Note 1:  Mr. Zhang Bing has resigned with effect from 17 October
2023, replaced by Mr. Wang Feng.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set
out in paragraph A.2 of the CG Code.

The Board has reviewed the Company's corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management, and the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
extent of compliance of the Company with the “Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers”
under Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (“Model Code”) and
the CG Code as well as the relevant disclosures herein.

BOARD PROCEEDINGS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Board is required
to hold at least four Board meetings each year, to be
convened and hosted by the chairman of the Board. A notice
of at least fourteen days shall be dispatched for a regular
Board meeting.

The quorum for a Board meeting is the presence of at least
half of the total number of the Directors. A Director may
attend the Board meeting in person, or appoint another
Director in writing as his proxy to attend the Board meeting.
The secretary to the Board is responsible for preparing and
keeping the minutes of Board meetings and ensuring that
such minutes are available for inspection by any Director.

During the Year, eleven Board meetings were held and the
respective attendance records of individual Board members
are set out below:
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Attendance/Number

of meetings

Name of Director EElS HEBERE
Mr. Bian Yu BFRE 11/1
Mr. Zhang Yuanyuan BERERE 11/1
Ms. Bian Shu Bk 11/11
Mr. Lan Lei (Note 1) M&ELE (Wat1) 5/11
Ms. Yu Ji (Note 1) RELL WaE1) 0/0
Mr. Chen Jiancheng PR T 11/1
Mr. Fung Kui Kei AL 1/11
Mr. Zhang Bing (Note 2) SRWRSEA (HfaE2) 10/10
Mr. Li Jiannan B E 1M/M
Mr. Zhu Xian Bo MEBRIE 11/11
Mr. Wang Feng (Note 2) SIS (HiaE2) 11
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Note 1:

Note 2:

Mr. Lan Lei has resigned with effect from 29 December 2023,

replaced by Ms. Yu Ji.

Mr. Zhang Bing has resigned with effect from 17 October 2023,

replaced by Mr. Wang Feng.

GENERAL MEETINGS

During the Year, the Company convened one annual general
meeting held on 30 June 2023 and three extraordinary
general meeting held on 17 July 2023, 17 October 2023 and
29 December 2023 respectively. The respective attendance

records of individual Board members are set out below:

Mz BREEE-FE=ZF+ A"+ BERME LH
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Attendance/Number

of meetings

Name of Director EElS HEBERE
Mr. Bian Yu BFRE 4/4
Mr. Zhang Yuanyuan BERESRE 4/4
Ms. Bian Shu Bk 4/4
Mr. Lan Lei (Note 1) M&EEE (W) 1/4
Ms. Yu Ji (Note 1) RERL WaE1) 0/0
Mr. Chen Jiancheng R ST 4/4
Mr. Fung Kui Kei IR L 4/4
Mr. Zhang Bing (Note 2) SRR A (HfaE2) 3/3
Mr. Li Jiannan B L 4/4
Mr. Zhu Xian Bo MEERLE 4/4
Mr. Wang Feng (Note 2) RS E (HfaE2) 1

Note 1:

Mr. Lan Lei has resigned with effect from 29 December 2023,

Note 2:
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replaced by Ms. Yu Ji.

Mr. Zhang Bing has resigned with effect from 17 October 2023,

replaced by Mr. Wang Feng.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Directors shall be
subject to election at the Company’s general meetings with
a term of office of three years and may be re-elected. The
Company has implemented a set of effective procedures
for the appointment of new Directors. The Nomination
Committee shall, in accordance with provisions of the
relevant laws and regulations and the Articles of Association,
take into account the practical situations of the Company,
consider the selection criteria, selection procedures and
terms of office of the Directors, and record and submit the
resolutions to the Board for approval. All newly nominated
Directors are subject to election and approval at general
meetings.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy in March
2015. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its
performance. Selection of candidates is based on a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. The ultimate decision is based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates is expected to
bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation
of this policy, including reviewing the composition of the
Board at least annually by taking into account the benefits
of all relevant dimensions of diversity, as well as complying
with this policy when making recommendations for Director
appointments.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board as well as the
Board nomination and appointment procedures through the
Nomination Committee.

As at 31 December 2023, (i) the Board and senior
management of the Group comprised of both female
and male members; and (ii) the Group had a total of 422
employees comprising of 350 males and 72 females.

The Board is determined to maintain gender diversity and
equality in terms of the whole workforce (including the
senior management). The Board is mindful of the objectives
for the factors as set out in the above paragraphs for
assessing the candidacy of the Board members, and will
ensure that any successors to the Board shall follow the
gender diversity policy. Similar considerations shall also be
in place to assess the candidacy of the senior management
team from time to time.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has a nomination policy of having a board
of directors with a diversity of skills and experience. The
selection and proposed appointment of the Directors
are submitted to the approval of both the Nomination
Committee and the Board, and the re-election of Directors
is conducted in accordance with the Articles. The criteria
for assessing a candidate include his/her reputation for
integrity, accomplishment, experience and reputation in
the business and industry and commitment in respect of
sufficient time, interest and attention to the businesses of
the Company and its subsidiaries. If a candidate is proposed
to be appointed as an independent non-executive Director,
his/her independence shall be assessed in accordance with
the requirements under the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy adopted by the Company provides
the Board with the discretion to declare and distribute
dividends to Shareholders subject to the provisions of the
constitutional documents of the Company, and applicable
laws and regulations. In considering whether to recommend
or declare dividends, the Board will also take into account
a number of factors including but not limited to operations,
earnings, financial condition, cash flow situation, business
conditions and strategies, interests of shareholders, any
restrictions on payment of dividends and any other factors
that the Board may consider relevant. Any final dividend for a
financial year will be subject to Shareholders’ approval.

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee consists of three members.
The employee representative Supervisor, namely Ms.
Xu Jiajuan, was elected by employee representatives,
whilst the remaining two Supervisors were elected by the
Shareholders. Ms. Xu Jiajuan was appointed on 30 May
2022 while each of Mr. Fu Jun and Mr. Fang Zhiguo signed a
letter of appointment on 30 May 2022.
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Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the term of office
of the Supervisors shall be three years. The functions and
duties of the Supervisory Committee include, but are not
limited to, reviewing and verifying financial reports and, if in
doubt, appointing certified public accountant and practicing
auditor to re-examine the Company's financial information;
monitoring the business activities of the Company;
supervising the performance of the Directors, the chairman
of the Board and other senior management members,
and monitoring whether they had acted in violation of the
applicable laws, regulations and Articles of Association in the
performance of their duties; requesting the Directors, the
chairman of the Board and senior management members to
rectify actions which damage the Company'’s interests; and
exercising other rights given to them under the Articles of
Association.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Group adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
on securities transactions entered into by the Directors
and Supervisors, in order to govern such transactions.
Having made specific written enquiries, all Directors and
Supervisors confirmed their compliance with the provisions
under the Model Code throughout the Year.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Wong Shum Wai (formerly known as Wong Hon Kit) and
Ms. Shen Qiong are the joint company secretaries of the
Company.

Being the joint company secretaries, Mr. Wong Shum Wai
and Ms. Shen Qiong serve an important role in ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that the Board
policies and procedures are followed. Both of them are
responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance
matters and facilitating induction and professional
development of Directors.

During the Year, the joint company secretaries of the
Company complied with the relevant professional training
requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The
biographical details of each of the said joint company
secretaries are set out in the section headed “Biographies
of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” above in
this annual report.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Financial reporting

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Financial Statements which give a true and fair view of the
Group's state of affairs, results and cash flows for the Year
and in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the HKICPA, and the disclosure
requirements under the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong). The Company selected appropriate
accounting policies and applied them consistently based
on prudent and reasonable judgments and estimates. The
Board considers that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in business for the foreseeable future and is not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to any events or
conditions that may affect the business of the Group or cast
doubts on its ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited, the
Company's external auditor, with respect to financial
reporting are set out in the section headed “Independent
Auditors’ Report” below in this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the establishment and
development of the internal control and risk management
framework, as well as the regular review of the internal
control procedures and policies and risk management
practices of the Group. The Group's risk management
and internal control systems are, however, designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. The Audit Committee is responsible for advising on
and overseeing the internal control and risk management
issues, and assuming an active role in communicating the
best practice in the aforesaid issues to the Directors and
senior management of the Group. The senior management
members are responsible for the execution of internal
control policies and procedures as well as risk assessment
practices implemented by the Group. Amid the Group's set-
up of its internal audit department, the CFO and the joint
company secretaries of the Group are currently carrying
out the internal audit function and assisting the Board and
senior management to review, maintain and advise on the
internal control and risk management framework and the
implementation of the relevant policies, procedures and
practices of the Group.
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The Group’s risk management practices are to manage the
risks that it internally and externally encounters. With the
assistance of the whistle blowing policies to be adhered to
by all staff, the Group's risks could be kept at a manageable
level.

During the Year, the Board or its representatives conducted
a regular walk-through examination on internal controls
and risk management throughout the Group, including
analysing the internal control and risk management system
as a whole, interviewing and discussing with managers on
issues in which their respective departments were involved,
assessing on the effectiveness of policies, procedures
and practices, and taking advices from the joint company
secretaries and CFO. The Company hired an independent
professional firm to review our internal control and risk
management system during the Year.

The Board also carry out a review of the enhanced internal
control policies and procedures as well as risk management
practices of the Group in accordance with paragraph D.2.1
of the CG Code annually, including financial, operational and
compliance controls as well as risk management functions
of the Group. The Board had reviewed the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control policies and procedures as well
as risk management practices for the Year, and considered
that they are adequate and effective.

In relation to inside information, the Company also
maintains a framework for the handling and dissemination
of information and disclosure policy of the framework sets
out the procedures and internal controls to ensure inside
information remains confidential until such information is
appropriately disclosed and the announcement of such
information is made in a timely manner in compliance with
the SFO and the Listing Rules.
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The Board, the Audit Committee, the Company's senior
management will continue to review the relevant policies,
procedures and practices in order to maintain a high level of
corporate governance over the operation of the Group.

The procedures used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Procedures

Risk Identification e |dentifies risks that may
potentially affect the Group's
business and operations

Risk Assessment e Assesses the risks identified by
using the assessment criteria
developed by the management;
and

e Considers the impact on the
business and the likelihood of
their occurrence.

Risk Response e Prioritises the risks by comparing
the results of the risk assessment;
and

e Determines the risk management
strategies and internal control
procedures to prevent, avoid or
mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and e Performs ongoing and periodic
Reporting monitoring of the risks and
ensures that appropriate internal

control procedures are in place;

e Revises the risk management
strategies and internal control
procedures in case of any
significant change of situation; and

e Reports the results of risk
monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited was re-appointed as the
external auditor of the Company on 30 June 2023. During
the Year, the fees paid to Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited in
respect of its annual audit services provided to the Group
was approximately HK$1.4 million.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the
Audit Committee on the selection and appointment of the
external auditor during the Year.

A summary of services provided by the external auditors for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and their corresponding
remuneration are as follows:

BINES A2 0 BT e A% 24 B Y <
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Nature of service Amount
RFE 4= +£E8
HK$'000
FAET
Audit service 1,400
BE RS
Non-audit service* 386
JEEETARTS
5 In connection with the major transaction, continuing connected  * BREBR G HEMERS RNEEZ

transactions and interim review
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Company aims to, by virtue of its corporate governance
structure, enable all Shareholders an equal opportunity to
exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow them
to engage actively with the Company. Under the Articles
of Association, the shareholder communication policy and
other relevant internal procedures of the Company, the
Shareholders enjoy, among others, the following rights:

(i)

54

Participation in general meetings

The general meetings of the Company provide an
opportunity for direct communication between the
Board and the Shareholders. The Company encourages
the participation of the Shareholders through annual
general meetings and other general meetings where
the Shareholders meet and exchange views with the
Board, and to exercise their right to vote at meetings.
The Company shall arrange notices of meetings and
circulars containing details on proposed resolutions
to be sent to the Shareholders. In the case of the
annual general meeting, such notice shall be given 20
business days before the date of the meeting, and in
the case of an extraordinary general meeting, notice
shall be given 10 business days or 15 days (whichever
is longer) before the date of the meeting. At general
meetings, separate resolutions are proposed on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual
Directors.
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(ii)

(iii)

Enquiries and proposals to the Board

The Company encourages Shareholders to attend
Shareholders’ meetings and make proposals by
either directly raising questions on both operational
and governance matters to the Board and Board
Committees at the general meetings or providing
written notice of such proposals for the attention
of the joint company secretaries at the registered
office of the Company in the PRC currently located
at TENGY Industrial Park, Paitou Town, Zhuji City,
Zhejiang Province, The PRC or the Company's principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Room 1201, 12th
Floor, Chung Ying Building, 20 Connaught Road West,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

Convening extraordinary general meetings

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Board
shall convene an extraordinary general meeting or
class meeting as soon as possible and in any case
within two months, where any Shareholder holding,
severally or jointly, 10% or more of the Company’s
issued shares carrying voting rights requests in writing
for the convening of an extraordinary general meeting
or class meeting by signing and submitting one or
several written requests with the same format and
contents and specifying the agenda of the meeting. An
extraordinary general meeting or class meeting shall
be convened by the Board as soon as practicable and
in any case within two months upon receipt of the
aforesaid written request. The aforesaid shareholding
shall be calculated on the basis of the date on which
the relevant Shareholders submit the written request.
If the Board fails to dispatch a notice of convening such
meeting within 30 days upon receipt of the aforesaid
written request, the Shareholder(s) who proposed
to convene the meeting is/are entitled to request in
writing the Supervisory Committee to convene the
meeting. If the Supervisory Committee agrees to
convene the meeting but does not issue a notice of
the meeting within five (5) days after the passing of
the relevant resolution by the Supervisory Committee,
the Shareholders individually or jointly holding 10%
or more of the shares of the Company for more than
90 consecutive days may convene and hold such a
meeting by themselves. The procedures for convening
such meeting should follow those for convening a
general meeting or class meeting of Shareholders by
the Board to the greatest extent practicable.

(ii)

(iii)
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(iv)

56

All reasonable expenses incurred for the purpose
of convening and holding the aforesaid meeting by
Shareholders due to the failure of the Board to hold
such meeting in response to the aforesaid request
shall be borne by the Company. Such expenses shall
be deducted from the amounts due by the Company
to the Director(s) who have defaulted their duties.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
a general meeting

In overseeing and monitoring the business operation
of the Company, the Shareholders have the right to
put forward proposals and raise inquiries. Shareholders
individually or together holding 3% or more of the
Company'’s voting Shares have the right to put up ad-
hoc proposals in writing to the Board within ten days
before the holding of the general meeting, and the
Board shall notify other Shareholders within two days
after receipt of the proposals and submit them to the
general meeting for consideration and approval.

The contents of the proposals to be raised shall be
within the scope of duties of the general meetings.
It shall have a clear topic and specific matters to be
resolved on, and shall be in compliance with relevant
requirements of the applicable laws, administrative
regulations and the Articles of Association.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to maintain high transparency in
communicating with Shareholders and investors through
diversified communication channels which include (i) printed
corporate communications (including but not limited to
annual reports, interim reports, results announcements,
corporate announcements and circulars) as required by the
Listing Rules; (ii) the Company’s website (www.tengy.com);
(i) annual general meetings and other general meetings;
and (iv) investor and analyst meetings arranged from time
to time. The Board considered the information transmission
channels are effective and adequate. The Company
always ensures that information can be communicated
to Shareholders and investors in an effective, equal and
timely manner, and will regularly review the effectiveness of
relevant information transmission channels.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Save for the amendment of the Articles of Association
pursuant to a special resolution of the Company passed on
22 August 2022, there was no change in the constitutional
documents of the Company during the Year.

The Articles of Association is available on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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HEGHS

The Directors are pleased to present the annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is a well-established integrated atmospheric
pollution control solution provider, with a primary focus
on particulate emission control by offering mega-size
precipitators to customers in various industries. During the
Year, the Group mainly offers three types of precipitators:
the Group mainly offers three types of precipitators:
electrostatic precipitators, bag electrostatic-bag composite
precipitators and SO2 and NOx emission reduction
(desulfurisation and denitrification devices).

The principal activities and other particulars of the
Company'’s subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the Financial
Statements.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESULTS

The Group's financial position as at 31 December 2023 and
the Group's profit for the Year are set out in the section
headed “Financial Highlights” above in this annual report.

A discussion and analysis of the Group's performance during
the Year and the key factors affecting its financial position
and results are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” above in this annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results, assets and liabilities for
the last five financial years is set out in the section headed
“Five-Year Financial Summary” below in this annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited Financial
Statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(I) Particulars of the transactions

Hereinbelow are a list of the connected transactions
entered into by the Company or members of the
Group with connected parties (i) during the Year; or (ii)
prior to the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing”) that continued upon Listing and were
disclosed in the prospectus dated 24 September 2015
prepared for the purpose of the Listing (“Prospectus”)
and circular of projection of related party/connected
transactions dated 26 April 2023 (“Circular”) with
no further changes after implementation except as
provided herein otherwise.
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_D__escrir?tion of the transaction Inquiry Index
32 5 Bt E#HE5|

On 25 April 2015, the Company entered with TGL, the holding For further details regarding the
company of the Group, into a power supply agreement which was TGL Power Supply Agreement,
renewed on 1 January 2023, the renewed agreement ending on please refer to the section headed
31 December 2023 (“TGL Power Supply Agreement”), under “Connected Transactions” in the
which TGL would procure supply of electricity to the Company in  Prospectus.

the premises on lease from TGL in relation to daily operation of the

Company's office as well as the manufacturing and processing of

goods which include the outer casings of the precipitators. Reason

for entering into the subject agreement was that such premises

are owned by TGL and accordingly the power supply services

registered with the relevant power enterprises are in the name of

TGL. In light of the foregoing circumstances, any procurement for

alternate source of power supply would cause unnecessary costs

and disruption. Whilst no additional costs would be charged by TGL,

the amount payable by the Company under the TGL Power Supply

Agreement for the provision of electricity supply was determined

on with reference to the fee scale implemented by the PRC

Government. Payment would be furnished to TGL on a cost basis

on 25th day of each calendar month in accordance with the actual

amount of electricity consumed by the Company of that particular

month, and such consumption amount should be confirmed by both

parties to the TGL Power Supply Agreement by jointly inspecting

the readings on the relevant meters on bth day of each calendar

month. The amount of total utility payment to TGL for the Year is

included in note 36 to the Financial Statements. The total utility fees

payable to TGL in 2023 under the TGL Power Supply Agreement was

approximately RMB2,883,000.
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_D__escrir?tion of the transaction
3 5 1Bkt

Inquiry Index
E#HE5|

On 4 January 2021, the Company entered into a processing
services agreement (“New Processing Services Agreement”) with
Tianjie General Machinery, a wholly-owned subsidiary of TGL, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, for a term of three years
up to 31 December 2023. Pursuant to the New Processing Services
Agreement, Tianjie General Machinery agreed to provide the
services of processing mechanical parts and semi-finished products
of environmental protection equipment to the Company subject to
the terms and conditions thereunder. Reasons for entering into the
New Processing Services Agreement include the Board being of the
view that the engagement of Tianjie General Machinery as service
provider can help the Group leverage on the extensive experience
of Tianjie General Machinery in processing services and ensure a
smooth business operation of the Group, thereby bringing benefits
to the sustainable development of the Group. The service fees for
the processing services payable by the Company to Tianjie General
Machinery will be determined by the parties in accordance with (i)
the historical service fees paid by the Company to Tianjie General
Machinery for the provision of the processing services; (ii) the
prevailing market price; (iii) the process of the processing services;
(iv) the relevant labour costs to be incurred by Tianjie General
Machinery for the provision of processing services; and (v) the
quality requirement of the Company for the provision of processing
services. The amount of total processing services payment to
Tianjie General Machinery for the Year is included in note 36 to the
Financial Statements. The annual cap for the service fees under the
New Processing Services Agreement will not exceed RMB6 million
throughout the term of the agreement.
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For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company
dated 4 January 2021.
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On 1 July 2022, the Company as lessee entered into the third lease
agreement in 2022 with EEMRXFEXREBR AT (Zhuji City
Tianyu Industry Investment Ltd*) (“Tianyu Industry”) as lessor
for the leasing of 6th Floor of Tianjie Building situated at No. 251
Huacheng East Road, Zhuji City, Zhejiang Province, China with
gross floor area of 1283.85 square meter for a term of one year
commencing from 1 October 2022 and expiring on 30 September
2023 for an annual rental amount of RMB375,000.

On 1 January 2023, the Company as lessee entered into the first
lease agreement with Tianyu Industry as lessor for the leasing of
23rd Floor of Tianjie Building situated at No. 251 Huancheng East
Road, Zhuji City, Zhejiang Province, China with gross floor area of
1176.11 square meter for a term of one year commencing from
1 January 2023 and expiring on 31 December 2023 for an annual
rental amount of RMB483,000.
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For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company
dated 14 April 2023

For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company
dated 14 April 2023
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_D__escrir?tion of the transaction
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On 14 April 2023, the Company as lessee entered into the second
lease agreement with TGL as lessor for the leasing of the plant
located at Xiaoyanshi Village, Dongfang Black Tea Farm, Paitou Town,
Zhuji City, Zhejiang Province with gross floor area of 16,495.46
square meter; and the ancillary equipment including the power
distribution and fire equipment (the “Plant and Equipment”) for
a term of on year commencing from 14 April 2023 and expiring
on 13 April 2024. Reasons for entering the second lease are that
it would be beneficial for the Company to enter into the second
lease agreement and continue to lease and Plant and Equipment as
it will enable the Company to secure its stable operation without
incurring additional costs and expenses in identifying, renovating and
relocating to other plant and ensure that there will be no disruption
to the operations, business and growth of the Group. The annual cap
for the said lease will not exceed RMB6 million.

On 25 May 2023, the Company as purchaser entered into an
agreement (the “Agreement”) with TGL as vendor, pursuant
to which the Company conditionally agreed to acquire and TGL
conditionally agreed to sell 95% equity interest in I RZFHEE
BB BIRAT (Zhejiang Tianjie New Energy Co., Ltd.*) (“Tianjie
New Energy”) for the consideration of RMB51.2 million, subject to
downward adjustment (the “Acquisition”). Reasons for entering into
the Agreement are because the Board believed that the Acquisition
will provide an investment opportunity for the Company to diversify
its business portfolio by entering into the new energy market in the
PRC and hence by entering into the Agreement, the Group can meet
its business development strategy to actively search for appropriate
acquisition targets to expedite its development, enhance its
competitiveness and capture the opportunities in the environmental
protection sector of the PRC. However, on 22 September 2023, the
Company and Tianjie New Energy have mutually agreed to terminate
the Agreement by entering into a deed of termination to release
and discharge each other from its respective obligations under the
Agreement and none of the parties shall have any claim against the
others thereafter.
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BHEIUE _HHEHs T REREME ML ERFEERATEM
B ABEREAACEMBERIRESES  MAEEWE . B
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——FNB T H AREEKZNAER—HE SEEs] AL
gk bz UEE R EHRE TR ZHEE FRENER B
BETAO AP mE iR ERFER

For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company
dated 14 April 2023

For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company
dated 25 May 2023, the circular
of the Company dated 7 July
2023 and the announcement
of the Company dated 22
September 2023

FEFSEEARAHBEAE
Z=FREBZHHEBZAS K
ABEAR T =FtHtH
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DescriQtion of the transaction

X 5

Inquiry Index

EHRSI

On 1 October 2023, the Company as lessee entered into the third
lease agreement in 2023 with Tianyu Industry as lessor for the
leasing of 6th Floor of Tianjie Building situated at No. 251 Huacheng

For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company
dated 12 April 2024

East Road, Zhuji City, Zhejiang Province, China for the term of
one year commencing from 1 October 2023 and expiring on 30

September 2024 for an annual rental amount of RMB375,000.

RIZEZ=F+AB—B A28 (FAEMEA) BXFEX (FAH
A MBEEMR PR T AEEMIRMERE251R KR KECE
ST =FE=MmHEEmZ
“HMENA=+THIERA—F FHEER AKI75,0007T

() Confirmation opinion by independent
non-executive Directors on connected
transactions

The independent non-executive Directors (Note 1)
reviewed all connected transactions as mentioned
above and confirmed that:

(1)

Such transactions were conducted in the
ordinary course of business of the Company;

Such transactions were conducted on normal
commercial terms or, if transactions available
for comparison were insufficient to determine
whether the terms of such transactions are
normal commercial terms, from the perspective
of the Company, the terms of such transactions
were no less favourable than the terms offered
to or by independent third parties; and

Such transactions were conducted in accordance
with the terms of the agreements governing
relevant transactions, which terms were fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

Note 1: All connected transactions have been confirmed by Mr.

Zhang Bing, Mr. Fung Kui Kei and Mr. Li Jiannan.
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(1)

(Iv)

64

Confirmation opinion from the Company’s
external auditor on connected transactions

Having reviewed the connected transactions disclosed
in this annual report, Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited
issued a letter to the Board to confirm nothing came
to their attention that caused them to believe such
connected transactions:

(1) not having been approved by the Board;

(2)  not having been carried out, in all material
respects, based on the pricing policy of the
Company (if the transaction involves provision of
goods or services by the Company);

(3) not having been carried out, in all material
respects, in accordance with terms of
agreements governing the relevant transactions;
and

having exceeded the caps as disclosed in the
Prospectus, relevant announcements or circulars,
respectively.

Related party/connected transactions in
note 35 to the audited financial statements
of the Company for the Year

Out of the list of the related party/connected
transactions set out in note 35 to the Financial
Statements, the following transactions constitute
connected transactions for the purpose of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules under which the requirements
have been fully complied with. Details of the said
compliance are as follows:

() =ABINEZHEMRANRER S8

ERER

REBERTFRPENBEBNFAERZEERE
PEZRESSMESGMARAREHNE
SEREANFLERSEEMEERRER
SHEZFHERZHBEUTER :

RNEESTHE
EXZIRBATRRRMHEERIR
f

%) RERERTHBRRBRERTNE
BEBRMETT ;

(1)

()

AREATBELIFREBEARLZH
R IRRETT 5 &K

DHBEERERE  ERAASIHEX
WEERY LFR o

£

mnf§7¢ﬁgﬁ$&Jﬁﬁ§WH
[:6

BiH T IR B

A #S IR MY SESEFT E AR 5 RAE R 5
FUBED > TR Z BN EHRAIE14AE
NER 7 TEEZHEETHBEE %
GHRFBHIINT

Whether or not
constituting connected

Type of Agreement for transaction or continuing Whether or not in compliance with
connected the connected connected transaction Details of the connected the disclosure requirements under
Connected party transaction transactions (connected relationship)  transaction Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
HERS EEBHARERZHEE EEEBRE LTHRAIFE4AZE
MER ] WEX S = MER S MR MERFHA HRBERE
TGL Supply of TGL Power Supply ~ Continuing connected Supply of electricity to the Yes
utilities Agreement transaction (a Controlling Company in the premises (being a continuing connected
Shareholder) on lease from TGL in relation  transaction on buying of consumer
to daily operation of the services fully exempt from
Company's office as well the reporting, annual review,
as the manufacturing and announcement, circular and the
processing of certain goods  independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.97
of the Listing Rules)
TGL RENBEE TOLEERZE AAAEBTCLAANYER 2

? BRER S (A—ER

Re)

HES) LEAABMAER
REENRERMIETE

=
<7

(BEERERBNREERERS R
B EHRAIEUATRER 2 BRE
THR FEER A5 BRREBL
FRERHERTE)
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Whether or not
constituting connected

Type of Agreement for transaction or continuing Whether or not in compliance with
connected the connected connected transaction Details of the connected the disclosure requirements under
Connected party transaction transactions (connected relationship)  transaction Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
HERS EEBHRRERZHEE EEEMA EHRAE4AZE
MER ]E WEXS = MER 7 MR MERBHA HRBERE
Tianjie General Provision of New Processing Continuing connected Provision of services of Yes
Machinery services Services transaction (a subsidiary of ~ processing mechanical parts  (exempt from the circular and
Agreement a Controlling Shareholder)  and semi-finished products ~ the independent Shareholders’
of environment protection approval requirements but subject
equipment to the Company  to the reporting, annual review and
announcement requirements pursuant
to Rule 14A.76 (2)(a) of the Listing
Rules)
K 2B IR HINIRHSHE FEMERS B—ERR AXRAFRERASHGR
RHOMBAR) RIRZEFARNIARS (*E}Fiﬁi%ﬁﬁ‘ S14A.76 (2) ()R A
CETRRRELRRMERTER
BTRR FEBERRASHRE)
Tianyu Industry Lease 2022 third lease Continuing connected Lease of office premises to N/A
agreement transaction (a Controlling the Company (fully exempt from shareholders'
Shareholder) approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules)
XFB¥ HE ECCEES) FEMERS A—ERE mAARERBANME ~ER
HERE =) (RiE EHRAE UA EERZ#%
Rt FEBRRMIBRBERT)
Tianyu Industry Lease 2023 first lease Continuing connected Lease of office premisesto ~ N/A
agreement transaction (a Controlling the Company (fully exempt from shareholders'
Shareholder) approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules)
XFEE HE T CZEER RERERS B—ERE RRARERRAYE BB
HEWZ %) (RELTRAE VA ERR2HS
Rt FEERRMERERT)
TGL Lease 2023 second lease  Continuing connected Lease of certain plant and Yes
agreement transaction (a Controlling equipment to the Company  (exempted from the circular and
Shareholder) the independent Shareholders'
approval requirements but subject
to the reporting, annual review and
announcement requirements pursuant
to Rule 14A.76 (2)(a) of the Listing
Rules)
TGL HE “ZCZFEECR RAMERS B—ERE mMAARERETRERR &
HEWZE %) ] (1R3E ETHRBIE 14A.76 (2)(a) BREE
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Whether or not
constituting connected

Type of Agreement for transaction or continuing Whether or not in compliance with
connected the connected connected transaction Details of the connected the disclosure requirements under
Connected party transaction transactions (connected relationship)  transaction Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
HERS EEBHARERZHEE BEEMA EHRAE4AZE
MER ] WEXS = MER 7 MR MERBHA HRBRE
TGL Acquisition of ~ Sale and purchase  Connected transaction (a Purchase of shares in a Yes
company agreement Controlling Shareholder) company for the consideration (subject to the reporting,
of RMB51.2 million announcement and independent
Shareholders' approval requirements
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules)
TGL B R E BEW®R MERS B—ERER URBARBS12EELHEE 2
RERAD (R4 L RBE AR BB THRE
RERBIULRRIERTE)
Tianyu Industry Lease 2023 third lease Continuing connected Lease of office premisesto ~ N/A
agreement transaction (a Controlling the Company (fully exempt from shareholders'
Shareholder) approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules)
XFEE HE “TCCZEESR RERERS A—ERE nRARERRAYE ~EA
HEWE ®) (RELTRAE VA ERR2HS

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The registration of the transfer of Shares will be suspended
from Tuesday, 25 June 2024 to Friday, 28 June 2024 (both
days inclusive) in order to ascertain the Shareholders’
entitlement to the attendance in the annual general meeting
to be convened for the Year (“2023 AGM"). All Shareholders
who wish to attend the 2023 AGM must deliver their
properly completed H Shares transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates to the Registrar of H
Shares in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, 17/
F Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong,
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 24 June 2024, for
registration.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the Group's sales to its five largest customers
and its largest customer accounted for 59.04% and 19.12%
(2022: 55.66% and 23.14%) of the Group's total sales,
respectively.

For the Year, the Group's purchases from its five largest
suppliers and its largest supplier accounted for 32.00% and
15.25% (2022: 46.14% and 10.97%) of the Group's total
cost of sales, respectively.
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During the Year, none of the Directors, their close associates
nor the Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
and belief of the Directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company's issued capital) had any interest in any of the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, AND
CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
and construction in progress during the Year are set out in
notes 16 to the Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 31 to the Financial
Statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE
RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group during the
Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 89 of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions
of PRC Company Law (IEl/A&]%), amounted to
approximately RMB436 million.

BANK LOANS

Details of bank loans of the Group as at 31 December 2023
are set out in note 29 to the Financial Statements.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY'’S
SECURITIES

At no time during the Year was the Company, or any of
its holding companies or subsidiaries, or any of its fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of the Company
or their respective associates or close associates (as
respectively defined under the Listing Rules) to have any
right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any of
its associated corporations as defined in the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
("SFO") or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The Directors and the Supervisors being in office during the
Year and up to the date of this annual report were as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Bian Yu (Vice-chairman)
Mr. Zhang Yuanyuan
Ms. Bian Shu

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Yu Ji

(appointed on 29 December 2023)
Mr. Zhu Xian Bo (Chairman)
Mr. Chen Jiancheng

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Jiannan
Mr. Fung Kui Kei
Mr. Wang Feng (appointed on 17 October 2023)

Supervisors

Ms. Xu Jiajuan (Chairman)
Mr. Fu Jun
Mr. Fang Zhiguo

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of each of the Directors, the Supervisors
and senior management members of the Company are
set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management” above in this annual
report.
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CONFIRMATION ON INDEPENDENCE
OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation on independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and the Company
considers all independent non-executive Directors are
independent pursuant to the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTER OF
APPOINTMENTS

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors
entered into a service contract with the Company on the
respective appointment date.

The principal particulars of these service contracts and
letters of appointment are (a) for a term of three years
commencing from the respective effective dates of their
appointment; and (b) subject to termination in accordance
with their respective terms. Each Director and Supervisor
had been re-appointed for a term of 3 years commencing
from 30 May 2022 (or in the case of Mr. Wang Feng, newly
appointed for a term commencing on 17 October 2023 and
up to 30 May 2025; and in the case of Ms. Yu Ji, newly
appointed for a term commencing on 29 December 2023
and up to 30 May 2025).

As required under the Opinions on Further Promotion
of Standardising Operations and Intensifying Reform of
Overseas Listed Companies (Guojingmaogai No. [1999]230),
external Supervisors comprise more than half of the
Supervisory Committee, among whom Mr. Fu Jun and Mr.
Fang Zhiguo are independent.

None of the Directors and the Supervisors had entered
into a service contract with the Company or its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACT, TRANSACTION
OR ARRANGEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors and the Supervisors or an entity
connected with the Directors and the Supervisors had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract,
transaction or arrangement of significance to the business of
the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party during or subsisted at the end of the Year.

Save as the related party/connected/continuing connected
transactions disclosed herein, no contracts of significance
(including those in relation to provision of services) between
members of the Group and the controlling shareholder of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries subsisted at the end
of the Year or at any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee were set up for, among others, reviewing and
making recommendations on remuneration policy and
scheme for Directors, Supervisors, senior management and
employees, taking into account salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors and performance of the Group.

The Company has not adopted any share award scheme or
share option scheme.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND FIVE HIGHEST-PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, the Supervisors
and five highest-paid individuals are set out in notes 13 to
the Financial Statements, under which the bonuses paid to
or otherwise receivable by the relevant individuals form part
of the item “Salaries and other benefits” During the Year,
no amounts were paid to or received by any of the relevant
individuals (i) as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Company and (i) as compensation for loss of any office
in connection with the management of the affairs of any
member of the Group.

PENSION SCHEMES

Particulars of the pension schemes of the Group are set out
in note 13 to the Financial Statements.

CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT
OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

Save as disclosed in the section headed "“Biographies of
Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” above in
this annual report, there were no changes during the Year
to any information required to be disclosed by the Directors
and the Supervisors pursuant to paragraph (a) to (e) and (g)
of Rule 13.51 (2) of the Listing Rules.

EF EERILEESHFMALN
s B

Ex BEERIAREHMATFMEFEEN
MR 13 SAEMA T EZ M IHUEMT
B AITEAL S & i 2 e LA R B9 — 2B 0 o
RAFE  SHEERERA T E S UERER
TR ERMBRADHMBERTEESE
RV ETAEBEEFEREARERBER
AR AL P 1 L B RE B A 1 o

BIREEE
AEBIB RS BB RN M REME 13

EFREFENENED

BREAFER X TEE - BEENSREEEBHE]
—EPRTI BRI AEE > BET A E N EH
BHEENEFRELWHRIE13.512)KE@E
(e)Fz(g) B E 357 55 o

Annual Report 2023 4§} 71



Directors’ Report

HEGHS

Directors’ and chief executive's interest and/or
short position in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions
of each of the directors and chief executive of the Company
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and any of its associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO")), as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”) were as follows:

A Long position in respect of domestic shares of the
Company (“Domestic Shares”) as at 31 December
2023:

EFRERITRAERE AT BIARMG 18
BRI BB FHFH SR KA

A B —F+ " B=F+—H ARBABREEK
BRITERAEBRAAB RETMAREE (&
REBSRPEEG (EFEAEAFE71%E) (BHER
HAE&HI)) SEXVED) BURRD ~ MERERS R EHF
AN AR BIRIEE S MBS EHI5E3521%
NHEECEENECMIERIRA  HEARES
B ERXZFAERAR (TB3ZAR) 55 EmiRA

(TEmRRA) BITEAARE KB ER
Bk BWT

7 R T =FF _H=F+—HitERE R
BR (NER) IsEHIFE -

Name of Director/
Chief executive

Capacity/
Nature of interest

Domestic Shares

Approximate %
of Company’s
share capital

Approximate %
of total issued
Domestic Shares

Number of

BT EEAE
- _ _ REREHZ A2
EE/BROBASSEE 5/ E&ME NERHE A4S 7 EE (%) B4 E 73 EE (%)
Mr. Bian Yu Beneficial owner 7693,250 769 5.7
BFRE BaEBA
Interest in a controlled 40,500,350 40.5 30.00
corporation (Note 1)
SREGEE RS W)
Ms. Bian Shu Beneficial owner 2,739,750 2.74 2.03
BT BaEBA
Mr. Qhen Jiancheng Beneficial owner 1,851,000 1.85 137
BRI TE BaEBA
Mr. Zhang Yuanyuan Family interest of 2,739,750 2.74 2.03
spouse (Note 2)
BEREEE EEBIRGEER
(Hi5t2)
Note: Kt
1. According to the disclosure of interest filings, these 1. REFMFENEEFEEEN  XABNZE
40,500,350 Domestic Shares in the Company are beneficially 40,500,3500 N E IR IHRTGLE = BER » MTGL
owned by TGL which is in turn approximately 64.08% owned BIREBFEEBL64.08%NER R HEE
by Mr. Bian Yu and approximately 35.92% by #EmRLRE MRBECEEEERAE (HREE) #EHN
#EIRAMR AT (“Keyuan Enterprise”). Pursuant to Part XV 35.92% 1 5 o RIBFE S5 R EAE R HIEXVED
of the SFO, Mr. Bian Yu is deemed to be interested in TGLs BFEEBREANRTGLAA N AR B # am F #E
interest in the Company. B
2. Mr. Zhang Yuanyuan, the spouse of Ms. Bian Shu, is deemed 2. REBEFHFRPER ERBEE BTN

to be interested in Ms. Bian Shu's interest in the Company by
virtue of the SFO.

BB AR BN BR L LR AR B P
B
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Substantial shareholders’ interests and/or short
position in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company

According to the register of substantial shareholders (not
being a director or chief executive of the Company) required
to be kept under section 336 of Part XV of the SFO shows
that as at 31 December 2023, the Company had been
notified of the following substantial shareholders’ interests
and short positions. These interests are in addition to
those disclosed above in respect of the directors and chief
executive of the Company.

A Long position in respect of Domestic Shares as at 31

FERRNEL2E NG R ARG B
R WA

RIEE SR AAEEAEXVE EIB6IEREFZEN
FTERE MEARBDEETRSRITHAR) &
Mgt R_E_=F+_HA=+—H &2
BEM T EERENER R o ILER R
TEEULIIFENEAATESASRITERAER
BIRERE o

7 R B =FF A= —HEAN BRI

December 2023: BHIFE -
Approximate % Approximate %
Capacity/ Number of of total issued of Company’s
Name Nature of interest Domestic Shares Domestic Shares share capital
HE&T VNG
NERBEZ BEZ
218/ #4% g/ EmitE NERHE BB 5 (%) BB 5 (%)
Changshan County Guoxi Beneficial owner 39,150,000 39.15 29.00
Equity Investment Co., Ltd.*
(BLHEERRERESR
FR/AT) (“Guoxi Equity
Investment”)
BULHBEEREREERAS EREBA
(TEIERMRERE))
TGL (Note 1) Beneficial owner 40,500,350 40.50 30.00
TGL (#rzt1) BEG#EBA
Keyuan Enterprise (Note 2/ Interest in a controlled 40,500,350 40.50 30.00
corporation
RORM% (Wriz2) REEE#ER
Notes: Bt :
1. TGL is directly interested in approximately 30.00% in the 1 TGLIR A AT BIA30.00% R ER BB
Company. 5o

2. These 40,500,350 Domestic Shares in the Company are
beneficially owned by TGL which is in turn approximately
35.92%owned by Keyuan Enterprise. By virtue of the SFO,
Keyuan Enterprise is deemed to be interested in TGLs interest
in the Company.

2. RATIBIZE40,500,3501 R N B RITABTGLE
mER > MTGLAIBRIR X HEH435.92%H
B RBES RIPEHRAEXVE  RURE %
WRABRTGLET R AR B P A i a o
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2. Long position in respect of H Shares of the Company
(“H Shares ) as at 31 December 2023:

2. AT T A =+ —HEE AR FHE
(THER)) 5 B HI4FE -

Approximate % Approximate %

Capacity/ Number of of total issued of Company’s
Name Nature of interest H Shares H Shares share capital
1EE 1T [T YA
HiZ A & |
218/ 14 afn/ #mitE HR# B AT E 2 LE(%) WA B 2 LE(%)
Shou Erjun Beneficial owner 6,000,000 1714 4.44
e BEGEEA
Hong Kong Joint Financial Beneficial owner 5,504,400 15.73 4.08
Investment Ltd
Hong Kong Joint Financial ~ B#&#EB A
Investment Ltd
Zhao Kaiyuan (Note 1) Interest in a controlled 5,504,400 15.73 4.08
corporation
HER (Hz21) SEfZEES
Notes: st -

1.

Mr. Zhao Kaiyuan, the controlling shareholder of Hong Kong
Joint Financial Investment Ltd, is deemed to be interested in
Hong Kong Joint Financial Investment Ltd’s interests in the
Company by virtue of the SFO.

Purchase, sale or redemption of listed securities

From the date of listing of the shares of the Company on
the Stock Exchange up to 31 December 2023, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

74

1. HWER%EEAHong Kong Joint Financial
Investment LtdiZERRKR > RIBZFHF KPS
RG> BRRAEE R A Hong Kong Joint
Financial Investment LtdPTiFHYZNA B R
Ao

fBE - W ENER EHsEss
MAARRNIKBMZA EHEBME_Z_=F

+TZR=+—8 ARAKREEANEB LB RE
BE -HEHBOARRER LHES
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the PRC Company Law, which
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata
basis to the existing Shareholders.

Audit Committee

The Group’s Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, and
discussed with the management the internal control and
financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee also
reviewed and confirmed the unaudited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the Year. The relevant financial
information are prepared under the Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards.

Events after the reporting period

From the end of the Year to the date of this report, no
important events (other than those in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Company) had been occurred in a
way of affecting the Company and any of its subsidiaries.

Major customers and suppliers

The information in respect of the Group's sales and
purchases attributable to the major customers and suppliers
respectively during the year ended 31 December 2023 is as
follows:

BhBEER

HBERM@RNPEAB L EAREBLEE
BFEX > REA R B BRIRA RRAFFRE
PIRIRA R R B EMRRD

Bi%ZEE

FEBEREZSECERAIEBFI M5
RAIKER > 1 BB IR 5 o A BD B R A TS 3R
SEE-BERZEENCERKEREAERARSE
ERNREEZGEMBRE BRAMBENRE
BHMBREERER -

HREMRSEE

BEEEFXRS A BEZEFELRTRME
MHENBRARDNEAEH RERE—RREE
EHBERERRIN o

TERRRMER
EREEERAAMEEERBE_S _=F+_

A=+—BLEFEDHEERERHERKE
BRI :

Percentage of the Group's
total revenue

ERERERKREE AL
2023 2022
The largest customer RARE 19.12% 23.14%
Five largest customers in aggregate AARER&H 59.04% 55.66%

Percentage of the Group's
total purchase

ERERERBE R
2023 2022
The largest supplier RAMHER 15.25% 10.97%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AAMER S 32.00% 46.14%
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So far as the Directors are aware, the Directors, their close
associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of
the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s total
number of issued shares) do not have any interest in these
major customers and suppliers during the year.

Distributable reserves

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had the following
reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance
with the provisions of the PRC Company Law:

RMB436 million
Sufficiency of public float

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at
the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual
report, the Company maintained a sufficient public float as
required under the Listing Rules.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or controlling shareholders of the
Company and their respective close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) has any interest in a business which
competed or might compete with the business of the Group
or has any other conflict of interest with the Group during
the Year.

COMPLIANCE WITH NON-COMPETE
UNDERTAKING

Each of Mr. Bian, Mr. Zhang Yuanyuan and Ms. Bian Shu (the
Controlling Shareholders) has confirmed to the Company
that he/she has complied with the non-compete undertaking
given by them to the Company on 20 October 2014. The
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
status of compliance and enforcement of the non-compete
undertaking and confirmed that all the undertakings
thereunder have been complied with for the Year.

MEZFA ES - HEEHREANEITRR
(MEFFANEREARTDEETROHBHE
5%) FRILENZETEZER RMHEETHER
Rt o

A Ik

AE T ZF+ A=+ —H AR HEAUT
A IREEE TP EABEE X E ¢

ARBELI36EE T
ARFEFREKFE

RTERFRAPRRERATITAE REARQ
BIARBISNERRIBEEN AAEEH% L
TR EREF RRIFRE KT -

B

RAFE EENFATERKRELRBESEH
ZEMBA (EERLHRA) BElEArER
EHRFPACERFOEBTER EARE > N
HAEBAEMAEMAZER-

BT AP EGE

ERRRELE - BERELERBHRYTIZEE
MARBES  HEEBTHR _Z—NF+A
T+ HEFAB LRI RS BIUIFT
EFURANTHIAENETRITIER  LHE
BRAFEBETRB A
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

For the Year, the Company complied with all code provisions
in force during the Year as set out in the CG Code.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF
HOLDERS OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of
the Company'’s securities.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For the Year, the Company was not engaged in any litigation
or arbitration of material importance and no litigation or
claim of material importance is known to the Directors to be
pending or threatened against the Company.

AUDITOR

The Financial Statements have been audited by Zhonghui
Anda CPA Limited, who shall retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited as auditor of
the Group is to be proposed at the 2023 AGM.

By order of the Board

ZHU Xian Bo
Chairman

Zhuiji City, Zhejiang Province, the PRC, 28 March 2024

}

B EERTA

REFE > ZATRBETEEERTREINAE
FEEMNEETRF

EHESFHEARBRRERBR

FABLEANERREFER AR RS MES
ERRER R R

BAER

RAFEE > AT I EWE PR EARFER M
g MBESMAA ARFTEERFRNER
BB B EANFERHEHR

23 2l

MBERRERTEZRESSHAMEFMERAT
B HRBREUNSERRERERERE £
TETCFRRBAFAGLREZERETER
EEMEBAERAD S IERIZHEN—

hx=e
IERZHEZR
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In 2023, the current session of the Supervisory Committee
was established in accordance with the PRC Company
Law and resolutions of 2021 AGM. The current session of
the Supervisory Committee comprises three Supervisors,
namely Ms. Xu Jiajuan, Mr. Fu Jun and Mr. Fang Zhiguo.

In the Year, for the Company's long term interests and
Shareholders’ interests, the Supervisory Committee
acted in strict compliance with relevant laws, regulations,
rules, regulatory documents, the Articles of Association
and Listing Rules and earnestly performed their duties
of supervision as to the acts of the Directors and senior
management of the Company. The main area of work of the
Supervisory Committee in 2023 is summarised as follows:

. MEETING CONDUCTED BY THE
SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee convened two meetings
in the Year.

. WORK OF THE SUPERVISORY
COMMITTEE

The work of the first session of the Supervisory
Committee mainly comprised the followings:

1. Inspection over implementation of
resolutions of the general meetings

The Supervisory Committee exercised
supervision over and inspection of the
implementation of the resolutions in general
meetings by the Board and the senior
management through observation and
attendance at the Board meetings and general
meetings. The Supervisory Committee is
of the opinion that the Directors and senior
management of the Company have diligently
performed their duties in compliance with
resolutions of the general meetings. No
violation of any laws or regulations or Articles
of Association or any act which jeopardises the
interests of the Company or Shareholders has
been found in the performance of the Company’s
Directors and senior management.
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Inspection over legal compliance of the
Group's operations

The Supervisory Committee exercised
supervision on a regular basis over the legal
compliance and rationality of the Group’ s
operation and management in its ordinary
work. It has also exercised supervision over
work performance of the Board and senior
management. The Supervisory Committee is
of the opinion that the Group's operation is
sound and rational, and is in compliance with
all applicable laws, regulations and rules and
the Articles of Association. The members of the
Board and senior management of the Group have
conscientiously and diligently performed their
duties, and none of their act would prejudice the
interests of the Group or the Shareholders.

Inspection over the Group’s daily
operating activities

The Supervisory Committee exercised
supervision over the Group's operating activities.
The Supervisory Committee is of the opinion
that the Group has maintained a sound internal
control system and made a great progress in the
formulation and implementation of its internal
work procedures, thus effectively controlled its
exposure to various operating risks. The Group's
operation is in compliance with the PRC laws and
regulations and the Articles of Association.

2.

BEREEKEEERR

EFEEHEIFT EHETER
KEREENGEE - GRMETSE
B THEFEARSREEBNITME
RRETTEE - BFERXR &
EEEEEERL TETHRAEER
ERER S RANBEEREMA -
EFgUENFTERESREEER
BHY BRET AEEELAEH
SRR AT A

BEAEEEEEEFHER

EEENARRKEEHETEE-
EEERREEREKEITEN
PIERESIEHIE > £ S8 T ERAZATH!
EMAT EIFRANED » AR
R T BREERR - AEBENKEE
BT RERER AR REBEREMA
A
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Xu Jiajuan

Inspection over the Group’s financial
condition

The Supervisory Committee reviewed the
Financial Statements, supervised and inspected
the Group's implementation of relevant financial
policies and legislations as well as details
on the Group's assets, financial income and
expenditure. The Supervisory Committee is of
the opinion that the Financial Statements fairly
reflected the Group's financial position and
operating results.

Looking forward, the Supervisory Committee
will continue to carry out its duties in strict
compliance with the Articles of Association and
the relevant laws and regulations and protect the
interests of the Shareholders.

Chairman of the Supervisory Committee

Zhuji City, Zhejiang Province, the PRC, 28 March 2024

BEREEM KR
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Independent Auditor’s Report

WA

;L

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

ZHEJIANG TENGY ENVIRONMENTALTECHNOLOGY CO., LTD
MIRKZRERERGERAT

(A joint stock company incorporated in the People's Republic
of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Zhejiang Tengy Environmental Technology Co., Ltd (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 86 to 155, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policies information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPAs Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code"”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

HINIRZRIRH RO ARABRE

(B HEAN RAFHE 2RI Z R B RAE])
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EL OB H 05N H6E EH 1555 41 KR
ERERGERAR (EAR) REKEAR
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(TEBGHMAT) BHRNEBMBRSER
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BR_Z_=F+_A=+—BNGEaMHBENK
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

(i) Inventories

Refer to Note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group tested the amount of inventories for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to
our audit because the balance of inventories of
RMB374,862,000 as at 31 December 2023 is material
to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
the Group’'s impairment test involves application of
judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Assessing the Group’s procedures on ordering
and holding of inventories;

- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;
- Assessing the marketability of the inventories;
- Assessing the budget cost of inventories;

- Assessing the ageing of the inventories;

- Assessing the net realisable values of the
inventories; and

- Checking subsequent sales and usage of the
inventories.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for
inventories is supported by the available evidence.

FEEFE

FRESTFTELARBEESHNERAE  EFR
RETPRGREMBERENBARAEENS
B WEFREESTENBEBFEAMBTRERM
IEHXRREEE MESFAERIESFFEEMH
BENER

i) &=

5 2 RIRa MR RMEE22

il

j=I113

f%@iﬂ? SHEETRENR - ZRE
ARHESHNESFRFEARTE RER
Ef:;:—fﬁ—i— A=+—H®WZFERE
7 AR 1374,862,00070 > Bz & M H &
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(ii)

Trade and bills receivables

Refer to Note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group tested the amount of trade and bills
receivables for impairment. This impairment test
is significant to our audit because the balance of
trade and bills receivables of RMB559,998,000 as at
31 December 2023 is material to the consolidated
financial statements. In addition, the Group's
impairment test involves application of judgement and
is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Assessing the Group's procedures on granting
credit limits and credit periods to customers;

- Assessing the Group's relationship and
transaction history with the customers;

- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;
- Assessing ageing of the debts;
- Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;

- Checking subsequent settlements from the
customers;

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group's
exposure to credit risk in the consolidated
financial statements;

We consider that the Group's impairment test for
trade and bills receivables is supported by the available
evidence.

(ii)

85 BURIER BB RE

B2 REE M B RRMEE23
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are
responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the Company’'s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The other
information is expected to be made available to us after the
date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we will not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above when it becomes available
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Hth&EH
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HeE SREERANFMEER BEFEELR
BUBRERESHZBETRS - At EHFEHT
RAEZBMBRE HRREETES -

\

EEHEAMBRRNEREIAREAME
kL BEF A E RIS RERTANERER

=E

-

MESBI ROV BERERMS  EENEERTE
S EXFR#BIREMER KR ERMER > I
FIEET ERAMENETRIREMBRE
HEFEBFBETHRTENBEREFEEARK
ST EERERERAER

EEMGEMBHRRAKENERT

EFREERBEEBISAMNAGHEMNEEY
BREENREBADFRINKRERERKE
BHATHGEVBRER RERESI/LE
By 5 N EREER ) LUEFT R RV S M BIRE A
FHEEAUHANRFERERMERHERERR
gt o

ARBESMBREF EFA5TE E5E
RESEREES  MAEBRIET TIKEE R FEE
EERMNER URERFEEER G AR
FRIFEFAEER BEEEBEINFLELEE 35!
BHMBERNBRSR-

84 Zhejiang Tengy Environmental Technology Co., Ltd  #i{L RIEEERHE G A R A H]



Independent Auditor’s Report

WA

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements is located at the
HKICPAs website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/
Ourviews/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Fong Tak Ching

Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P06353
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

fo ey TH A b HL A 2 i Wik 3%

For the year ended 31 December 2023

AR d e e e e R

2023 2022
—ECZ=HF -2
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
s AR¥TT AR T
Revenue g3 7 620,134 472,471
Cost of sales THE LA (479,315) (405,032)
Gross profit EH 140,819 67,439
Other income Hu A 8 21,006 120,820
Distribution and selling expenses HENDHEAY (22,149) (15,834)
Administrative expenses THHEX (53,349) (63,279)
Other expenses HMfx (4,499) (3,814)
Profit from operations byl 81,828 105,332
Finance costs A& A 10 (9,892) (7,668)
Share of loss of associates wan =) —L/NSIVEi= 19 (10,885) (21,894)
Profit before tax Rana® 61,051 75,770
Income tax expenses i 1 (18,344) (22,165)
Profit and total comprehensive ARBHEAEEERN
income for the year attributable BN REEBR AL
to owners of the Company 12 42,707 53,605
Earnings per share sRERN 15
Basic and diluted EARRE#E
(RMB per share) (ERNEE) 0.32 0.40
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

s BRI R

31 December 2023
TE =+ Z/A=+—H

2023 2022
—EB=F =S
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M 5E ARETFTT ARET T
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME . ME MR 16 63,772 27,963
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 15,378 1,020
Intangible assets BEEE 18 294 592
Deferred tax assets RIS E & 30 50,066 43,878
Investments properties REEME 20 35,837 =
Investment in associates REZELBNRE 19 118,207 122,671
Pledged deposits [mEiE e 26 - 173
283,554 196,297
Current assets MENEE
Inventories F& 22 374,862 291,288
Trade and bills receivables B2 EWHIE N W EER 23 559,998 700,899
Contract assets BR&EE 24 40,386 44,295
Prepayment, deposits and other BNRE. Ze Xk
receivables HibFEW NI 25 78,966 61,906
Investments at fair value through BNFEFABRN
profit or loss BE 21 5,448 =
Bank and cash balances RITRIRESHEER 26 453,142 247,041
1,513,302 1,339,429
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and bills payables BEEMMIBNRENSEE 27 195,040 200,711
Contract liabilities aEaE 24 542,933 354,675
Other payables and accruals HEIRIBENESTER 28 78,684 77,852
Bank loans WBITER 29 89,502 55,000
Tax payable FEITIRIE 20,519 13,267
926,678 701,505
Net current assets MENEERE 586,624 637,924
Total assets less current liabilities BEMRERTHEE 870,178 834,221
NET ASSETS BEFE 870,178 834,221
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fn e BSR4
31 December 2023
e S L]

2023 2022
—E-=H =

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
M5 AR¥TT AR T

Capital and reserves BARR F#iE

Share capital i ZN 31 135,000 135,000

Share premium Bmas 239,064 239,064

Reserves i 32 (a) 496,114 460,157

TOTAL EQUITY R iEER 870,178 834,221

The consolidated financial statements on pages 86 to 1565 f86EHEFIGbBMMEMNGESMBRREN -
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of ZE_ME=ZA -+ N\HEZESZgHEREET
directors on 28 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: 25> T EELEREE .

Bian Yu Zhang Yuanyuan
BF ERiE

88 Zhejiang Tengy Environmental Technology Co., Ltd  #i{L RIEEERHE G A R A H]



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

s A MRS ST %

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E = —HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAFEE AL
Statutory Safety
Share Share surplus  production Retained

capital premium reserve reserve profits Total

BE e
BA  RHRE BEBGHE EERE REEN 1%
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETR AR®ETE
At 1 January 2022 A_E-"E—HA—H 135,000 239,064 44121 8,153 354,278 780,616
Total comprehensive income for the year FREARARE - - - - 53,605 53,605
Appropriation to statutory surplus reserve BT REARE - - 5,202 - (5,202) =
Appropriation to safety production reserve IBERLEERE - - - 364 (364) -
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZE+-A=+—H 135,000 239,064 49,323 8,517 402,317 834,221
At 1 January 2023 RIBE_=Z#—-F—H 135,000 239,064 49,323 8,517 402,317 834,221
Total comprehensive income for the year EREEBALE - - = = 42,707 42,707
Dividend paid BXARE - - - - (6,750) (6,750)
Appropriation to statutory surplus reserve RELERERERE - - 1,966 - (1,966) -
Appropriation to safety production reserve ARERLERRE - - - 261 (261) =
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=F+ZA=+—H 135,000 239,064 51,289 8,778 436,047 870,178
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GO BlETi SR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BrE—E = H=F—HILFEE

2023 2022
ZBCZ= BRI F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT AREBTT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHRERE
Profit before tax RAnaH 61,051 75,770
Adjustments for: S T RIGHE
Finance costs B %N 9,892 7668
Interest income B WA (1,397) (297)
Foreign exchange difference, net I\ BEERE IR (830) (676)
Depreciation on property, plant and M. BENMEIBITE
equipment 3,192 5,768
Amortisation of intangible assets | S EEE 298 298
Depreciation on right-of-use assets EREEETE 170 1,654
Depreciation on investment properties REYEITE 331 =
Loss/(gain) on disposal of investments HEZNTFEFTAERDN
at fair value through profit or loss REWEIR W) 324 (810)
Changes in investments at fair value BN ESTABRDN
through profit or loss &) 342 =
Share of loss of associates FE(L B N B 518 10,885 21,894
Impairment loss on trade receivables B 2 W IE R EEE 6,872 12,552
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWZE. BERFRREUK
equipment and right-of-use asset FREEENKRG (784) (116,344)
Reversal of impairment loss on bills FEW 455 (B B 1R (o]
receivables (911) (6)
(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment  EfthfEIFIE Gi{E 518
loss on other receivables o) REBE (388) 123
Operating cash flows before working capital & & £ & 88189
changes RERSRE 89,047 7594
Change in inventories FEEH) (83,574) 30,084
Change in trade and bills receivables B EKFIER
FEW R R & & 104,723 82,679
Change in prepayment, deposits and other FEfTFIE. &K
receivables H b FE W TR IE 5 &) (18,284) (21,107)
Change in trade and bills payables B ENTIEBER
FEN RiRE S (5,671) (127,005)
Change in contract assets ABREEZD 3,409 35,331
Change in contract liabilities AEREaEEH) 188,258 90,424
Change in other payables and accruals Hh e FIE R
FEST & ) 832 (20,795)
Cash generated from operations S EIRFRES RS 278,740 77205
Interest received BUF 2 1,397 297
Interest paid BN (9,892) (7,668)
Tax paid BRIE (17,280) (2,627)
Net cash generated from REEHFREE
operating activities ReRE 252,965 67,207
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SRABleRR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE—E -+ F=+—HIFE
2023 2022
ZBCZ= BRI F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT AREBTT
Cash flows from investing activities BRETHRERE
Acquisition of an associate W%Eﬁﬁ%@ (6,421) S
Acquisition of right-of-use assets BEREEE (14,528) =
Purchase of property, plant and equipment E%j%f%%\ iR 5B Kz 5% 6 (40,648) (5,530)
Purchase of investment properties BEIREYE (5,951) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant  HEYZE . BE&REUR
and equipment and right-of-use assets EREEEMSNIE - 205,687
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME. BN
plant and equipment R IEPE A 2,431 =
Change in pledged deposits BIRREREE) 173 15,128
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEES FrR) FRAESE
investing activities REREE (64,944) 215,285
Cash flows from financing activities BEFSRERE
New short-term bank loans raised IR ERIRITE R 115,000 101,500
Repayment of bank loans ERIEITER (85,000) (153,000)
Dividend paid B IRE (6,750) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) BB FEFRESLE  FRA)
financing activities RERE 23,250 (51,500)
Net increase in cash and RERRSEEYIGMBRE
cash equivalents 211,271 230,992
Cash and cash equivalents FPRENIRESEEY
at beginning of year 241,041 9,373
Effect of foreign exchange PE R B p PR
rate changes, net 830 676
Cash and cash equivalents FRAESNASEEY
at end of year 453,142 241,041
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RE&NKIRLEBYSIF
Bank and cash balances WITNRIREHEER 453,142 241,041
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 3 W A B R E
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE - H=+—HIFFE

92

GENERAL INFORMATION

Zhejiang Tengy Environmental Technology Co., Ltd
(the”Company”) was incorporated in the People's
Republic of China (the”"PRC") as a joint stock company
with limited liability. The address of its registered
office is Tengy Industrial Park, Paitou Town, Zhuiji City,
Zhejiang Province, PRC. The Company's shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) were principally engaged in design,
development, manufacturing, installation and sale of
environmental pollution prevention equipment and
electronic products. The principal activities of the
Company'’s subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company
(the “Directors”), Tengy Group Limited, a company
incorporated in the PRC, is the holding company.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") that
are relevant to its operations and effective for its
accounting year beginning on 1 January 2023.
HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS"); and Interpretations. The adoption
of these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in
significant changes to the Group's accounting policies,
presentation of the Group's financial statements and
amounts reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective. The application of these new HKFRSs will
not have material impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

oy A5 R b
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E S A+ —FAIEE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, issued by the
HKICPA and the applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the investments at fair value through profit
or loss and derivative instruments which are carried at
their fair values/fair values less costs to sell.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of
key assumptions and estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgments in the process
of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving
critical judgments and areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to these consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries are
entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an
entity when the Group has existing rights that give it
the current ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e.
activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights
held by other parties, to determine whether it has
control. A potential voting right is considered only if
the holder has the practical ability to exercise that
right.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%o 3 B4 55 Fh AR B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE - H=+—HIFFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY FEEHHREHR @
INFORMATION (Continued)
Consolidation (Continued) SERE ®
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which MEABINREREETHEEAERE
control is transferred to the Group. They are de- HEGSAR BEEZEFIELIEZHESR
consolidated from the date the control ceases. BiEAAR-
The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that HEMRB QB MERKEEFENFIGK
results in a loss of control represents the difference BEDIENHERBRAFEERNRZNNEB
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the REMEARERERFEL()A QB EN
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in ZNB AR EEREEREZNBATA
that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net RIBME TR T A E U R ERERA Rt oM E
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill HhEREMEBEL
relating to that subsidiary and any related accumulated
foreign currency translation reserve.
Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised EERAAEBENRS  EiR R AER T
profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also FTUHE - BRI ZRECEREEELIR
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence HENESE REREBITTUEE W
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting BAEMNEStHRELNERZEREEN
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where MR RE A E B PR BIBER —5 o
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
Foreign currency translation SR
(a)  Functional and presentation currency (a) IJEERZHREK
ltems included in the financial statements of AEEZERNMBRERNEEN
each of the Group's entities are measured UZERBEBMETIERBIRIZE
using the currency of the primary economic THEE (MMYEEK)) sTERa 8
environment in which the entity operates (the BHRERUAREKRS 288 AEA
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial BINIEE R 2RETE -
statements are presented in Renminbi, which
is the Company's functional and presentation
currency.
(b)  Transactions and balances in each entity’s b) BHERBHMERFIIKEERAZER
financial statements
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated IINELZ G VIEERRERR S H
into the functional currency on initial recognition HRETEXMEAINEG I o LIS
using the exchange rates prevailing on the BABUNEREERBREESR
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities EHRBITEXRAE  ILEEES
in foreign currencies are translated at the EEXNREREERIBmE R o
exchange rates at the end of each reporting
period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R e B R b aE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

#HE

3.

TZFf+ A=+ —HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances in each entity'’s
financial statements (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
values in foreign currencies are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates when the fair
values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different
from the Company’s presentation currency are
translated into the Company’s presentation
currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated
at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated
at the exchange rates on the transaction
dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in the foreign currency
translation reserve.

3. FEF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%o 3 B4 55 Fh AR B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE - H=+—HIFFE

3.

96

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(c)  Translation on consolidation (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in
foreign entities and of borrowings are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve.
When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in consolidated profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint
control over those policies. The existence and effect
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held
by other entities, are considered when assessing
whether the Group has significant influence. In
assessing whether a potential voting right contributes
to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not
considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity
method and is initially recognised at cost. |dentifiable
assets and liabilities of the associate in an acquisition
are measured at their fair values at the acquisition
date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as
goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying
amount of the investment and is tested for impairment
together with the investment at the end of each
reporting period when there is objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

oy A5 R b
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E S A+ —FAIEE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Associates (Continued)

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in consolidated profit or
loss, and its share of the post-acquisition movements
in reserves is recognised in the consolidated
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements
are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group's share of losses in
an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf
of the associate. If the associate subsequently reports
profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of
those profits only after its share of the profits equals
the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that
results in a loss of significant influence represents
the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that associate and (ii) the
Group's share of the net assets of that associate plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that associate and
any related accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve. If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture, the Group continues to
apply the equity method and does not remeasure the
retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interests in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly factories and offices.
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
are recognised in profit or loss during the period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual values over the estimated useful lives on
a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Buildings 4.75%
Plant and machinery 9.50%
Office equipment 19%-31.67%
Motor vehicles 23.75%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and machinery pending
installation, and is stated at cost less impairment
losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets
are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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oy A5 R b
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E S A+ —FAIEE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where
the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment
losses.

Patents and computer software are stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of 10 years and 3 years
respectively.

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets
are available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets
is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Land use rights 2% - 3.33%
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liabilities, lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs
and the restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the
net present value of the lease payments discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that
rate can be determined, or otherwise the Group's
incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Payments associated with short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expenses
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms. Short-term leases are leases with an initial
lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are
assets of value below US$5,000.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or building held
to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. An
investment property is measured initially at its cost
including all direct costs attributable to the property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. The depreciation is calculated using
the straightline method to allocate the cost to the
residual value over its estimated useful life of 20-60
years.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the property, and is recognized
in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average basis. The cost of finished goods
and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of all production
overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire;
the Group transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the assets; or the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not
retained control on the assets. On derecognition of
a financial asset, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised
in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on
a trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an
asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery
of the asset within the timeframe established by
the market concerned, and are initially recognised at
fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs
except in the case of investments at fair value through
profit or loss. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of investments at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following category:

(1)

(i)

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other
receivables) are classified under this category if
they satisfy both of the following conditions:

(@) the assets are held within a business
model whose objective is to hold assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

(b)  the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less loss
allowance for expected credit losses.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this
category if they do not meet the conditions
to be measured at amortised cost and the
conditions of debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income unless the
Group designates an equity investment that is
not held for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently measured at fair value with any
gains or losses arising from changes in fair values
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss are net of any
interest income and dividend income. Interest
income and dividend income are recognised in
profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses on financial assets at amortised cost
and contract assets. Expected credit losses are the
weighted average of credit losses with the respective
risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
measures the loss allowance for a financial instrument
at an amount equal to the expected credit losses
that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime
expected credit losses”) for trade receivables and
contract assets, or if the credit risk on that financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk
on a financial instrument (other than trade receivables
and contract assets) has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount
equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses
that represents the expected credit losses that result
from default events on that financial instrument that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting
period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to
adjust the loss allowance at the end of the reporting
period to the required amount is recognised in profit or
loss as an impairment gain or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change
in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management are also included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group
after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and
equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives (including contingent considerations under
business combinations) are initially recognised and
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer with reference
to the customary business practices and excludes
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. For a
contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration
is adjusted for the effect of a significant financing
component.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the
terms of a contract and the laws that apply to that
contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied
over time or at a point in time. A performance
obligation is satisfied over time if:

(a) the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance;

(b)  the Group's performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group's performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time,
revenue is recognised by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point
in time when the customer obtains control of the
product or service.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the at the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by
the Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged in profit
or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of the dates when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
the Group recognises restructuring costs and
involves the payment of termination benefits.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally
and used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying
asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset.
The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other
than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of
obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be
received.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in
profit or loss because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused
tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group's most senior executive management for
the purpose of allocating resources and assessing the
performance of the Group's various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of productions processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to
the Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Company or of a parent of
the Company.

BEBEREMN @

DEEHS

REDBRUBREFAEZRZDBEEN
TR DIREOAEESBEEBDEER
RFEEEEREMERRAFTERRST
HEBERHENVBENERMHAR

BRIEREEDH A ERTHRSEN
maf FRIFERE D BARARLREES
B HERARGEE - EERELEE T
FERESAER O 8H E S IR AR TS P A
HEREERENEEEN-FE LTS
HRERIHEREREE DRI G

R TS
W TR AEBAERBIALTNESE-
(@) HEUTAL BIZALTHZALR
FEATH PN B LA S B A R G
() ERRHEEGEER
(i) HEAEBEEATE =

(i) RHAERBRERATNGATNE
BEEEMS-

Annual Report 2023 £t 111



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

i a5 AR Bk

For the year ended 31 December 2023

#HE

— g — =

—_<

=SFEFSA=ST—HUFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

112

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

Zhejiang Tengy Environmental Technology Co., Ltd 7L R{#EER

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(viii)

The entity and the Company are members
of the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group.
If the Group is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Company or to a
parent of the Company.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. FEE:HHESH @

INFORMATION (continued)
Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets other than deferred tax assets, investments,
inventories and receivables, to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of any impairment loss.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-
generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

BERE

FERRSREPRBRAEELRELE
ERLERBREE -KRE - FEKREBWRIE
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SHARREZREG IR RRIBEHIHH
ERRBENREERERRFERE
IR MIREHIR(E

HEENREEEEUR A WREI G5
BREKREE IEERRESELEUN
AR B8 5= H PJ Ui [o] <8R o i (B &5 18 BD By
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R EGENBRER AEENREE
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY FEEHHREHR @
INFORMATION (Continued)
Provisions and contingent liabilities BERNAERE
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain EXAEEREEENEHERKIEREETE
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal HETEE METEETEIEERKE
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past M@t WAEA EEstEETENBR
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic T ANZERENEEITEEN 8 EE
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a BEE-WEBREEEA ABENS
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value BALEERARNETZEEN I HNIRE
of money is material, provisions are stated at the H8R o
present value of the expenditures expected to settle
the obligation.
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic HEERHEKENGNEE R HEE
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be FHEEEUSRMAF BMEEHREATAR
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a B FRIELER @ BV A gE AR B
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow SENme-AELBNET RS EE
is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence BREBANHRBRRESREE —FAZFE
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non- 1) TR BEANABE  ELHE N & /Y
occurrence of one or more future events are also B BE M4 MR & BUBR SN
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability
of outflow is remote.
Events after the reporting period HREHIEEIE
Events after the reporting period that provide additional BAREBRNRBSHAFRAKRIRMEEINE R K
information about the Group's position at the end of BTRHBESCERRIENEGNREHERSE
the reporting period or those that indicate the going EEBRAREE REaBRExAK
concern assumption is not appropriate are adjusting BRor IEBAREENREHEEENE
events and are reflected in the consolidated financial B RGREMBHRRW T IEE-
statements. Events after the reporting period that are
not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.
4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 3R 488 1) Wl B = E ik 5t

ESTIMATES
Key sources of estimation uncertainty G FTRERZNEERIR
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other RHREAR RO EER T —EMBFEE
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the BEERABBENRABEAEFEARE G
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing ARNFEBBZ MM AREEREZNEM
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of FEIREF MU T o
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is
made based on the ageing and estimated net
realisable value of inventories. The assessment
of the allowance amount involves judgement
and estimates. Where the actual outcome in
future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value
of inventories and allowance charge/write-back
in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and
doubtful debts based on assessments of the
recoverability of the trade and other receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and
the past collection history of each debtor.
Impairments arise where events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the balances
may not be collectible. The identification of
bad and doubtful debts requires the use of
judgement and estimates. Where the actual
result is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of the
trade and other receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has
been changed.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused
tax losses to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the
losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and the level of
future taxable profits together with future
tax planning strategies. Further details are
contained in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

4,

AR E R E E (&5t @

St FEERZRNEERE (@)

(a)

(b)

(c)
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AR d e e e e R

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment and investment
properties and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful
lives, residual values and related depreciation
charges for the Group's property, plant and
equipment and investment properties. This
estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives and residual values of
property, plant and equipment and investment
properties of similar nature and functions. The
Group will revise the depreciation charge where
useful lives and residual values are different to
those previously estimated, or it will write-off or
write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic
assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Additional depreciation is made if the estimated
useful lives and/or the residual values of items
of property, plant and equipment and investment
properties are different from the previous
estimation. Useful lives and residual values are
reviewed at each financial year end date based
on changes in circumstances.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's financial performance.

4.

BB 7 e E 25T @

St AP REERNEEZRE (@)

(d)
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign
currency risk as most of its business transactions,
assets and liabilities are principally denominated
in the functional currencies of the Group entities.
The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. Receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis. For
transactions that are not denominated in the
functional currency of the relevant operating unit,
the Group does not offer credit terms without
the specific approval of the executive directors.

The credit risk of the Group's other financial
assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents,
pledged deposits, and other receivables, arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement
for collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are
managed by analysis by customer/counterparty.
There are no significant concentrations of credit
risk within the Group as the customer bases
of the Group's trade receivables are widely
dispersed.

5.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

118

(b)

Zhejiang Tengy Environmental Technology Co., Ltd 7L R{#EER

Credit risk (Continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade
and bills receivables and prepayments, deposits
and other receivables are disclosed in notes 23
and 25, respectively, to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group considers whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk of financial
assets on an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting period by comparing the risk of
a default occurring as at the reporting date
with the risk of default as at the date of initial
recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following information is used:

internal credit rating;

- actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the borrower’s ability
to meet its obligations;

- actual or expected significant changes in
the operating results of the borrower;

- significant changes in the value of the
collateral or in the quality of guarantees or
credit enhancements; and

- significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including changes
in the payment status of borrowers.

5.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

The Group uses two categories for non-trade
receivables which reflect their credit risk and
how the loan loss provision is determined
for each of the categories. In calculating the
expected credit loss rates, the Group considers
historical loss rates for each category and adjusts
for forward looking data.

5.

B 75 [ B

(b)

B8 @

EERE @

AEBRIFEZEENRBBZRES
%ﬁi@?@ﬁ%lj MR EAS & R b Fe

RIER ERGEEHI A N5t
ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬂfmffﬂa o REEEREE
£85I Y FE 52 5 15 3R e i A BE BUR
TR

Category Definition Loss provision

85 Bs BERE

Performing Low risk of default and strong 12 month expected losses
capacity to pay

I EAREE B MRREE 58 1218 B AR5 18

Non-performing

R EERARARBIEM

Significant increase in credit risk

Lifetime expected losses

FREATEREE

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term. All of the Group's financial liabilities
are due within one year.

(c)

REE AR

rEH E’\JBZ%%EHH EERARRE
HARHET B R BAREERFTRIR
SRE UnEREAERRRBES
EXR-AEEFBEEMEBEHAN—F
A EHR -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5.

120

(Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

()

The maturity analysis of the Group's financial

liabilities is as follows:

MBERERE @

RBBESERE @

FEBTREENERBE TN

Total
contractual
Carrying  undiscounted
amounts cash flow
BHRBEIR
IREE HREREHRE
Less than
Total 1 year
=1 LIME
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
31 December 2023 ZEF=H+ZA=1+—H
Trade and bills payables BoENTIERENER 195,040 195,040
Other payables and accruals HMEARIBEKRE &R 78,684 78,684
Bank loans RITEN 89,502 92,453
363,226 366,177
31 December 2022 - HE+"RB=+—H
Trade and bills payables BoEMRIERENER 200,711 200,711
Other payables and accruals HMENHIBEKRES &R 77852 77852
Bank loans RITEN 55,000 57,750
333,563 336,313
Interest rate risk (d) FZERE
The Group's bank deposits and bank borrowings AEBNRITERKIBITERIZE
bear interests at fixed interest rates and EMEKFFE RIEAZSATFEFERR
therefore are subject to fair value interest rate i o
risks.
Fair values (e) ~FE

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
assets and financial liabilities as reflected in
the consolidated statement of financial position
approximate their respective fair values.

FEEARGEMBERRERRRE
MEEATHREERAERAZELH

AT EEE-
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5.
(Continued)

(f) Financial instruments by category

The carrying amounts of each of the category of

MBEKRERE @

(il BENSSNEMIA

FEBREHNEMITAERREHNR

the Group’s financial instruments at the end of HEREENT :
the reporting period are as follows:
2023 2022
—EZZ=HF =
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥%TT ARBEFIT
Financial assets ERIEE
Investments at fair value through I AFEFF AEBZHRE
profit or loss (mandatorily Gl =)
measured) 5,448 -
Financial assets at amortised BEIER AT EN
cost (including cash and cash TMEE (BRERE~
equivalents) HEEEY) 1,043,597 983,610
Financial liabilities THAaE
Financial liabilities REIHR AT ERN
at amortised cost By =N 363,226 333,563
6. FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS 6. AFEE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The following disclosures of fair
value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that
categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the
Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted
prices included within level
1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

AFEENRGTEBRME2REEZ BET
WERFXS T st EEE WIS EE
%TEFEEZHZT%*% EUTAFEFER

BAIERATERERT BRERAFE
PEERMEARBEREI DB =EER

B—MRBARE: AEEAIRFGERLH
WEZHEREENE
BRI ERHHZRE
(RERE) -

BMBARE . BRE—MREBEZRE
S BENERB/AIE
BOBEEERZH A

iz o

BZMBAARE: BEHEBRZAAUR
AR
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date
of the event or change in circumstances that caused
the transfer.

(@) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at the
end of reporting period.

6. ~AFEE=ZE @

AEBVBRANFREE WA E T
SIEENEBER BB =@ R TPAIE
A —fE/E BB A R -

(@ MEBEPRZATEBRIKE-

Fair value measurements using: Total
ERAUATHARBZ ATEHE ! st
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2023
g Bk B F=Hh ZTZ=
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARET:
Recurring fair value REMNTESE .
measurements:
Investments at fair value through 3@ATEF ABZNERE
profit or loss
Derivatives - Ferrous metal E-BBsBHEEN
future contract 5,448 - - 5,448
7. REVENUE 7. W=

The Group's revenue represents sales of environmental
protection equipment for installation and sale of
environmental pollution prevention equipment and
electronic products; the invoiced value of material sold
and the value of services rendered during the year.

A5 ) W A R RN RS
RO ERERETERNBRRBENE
0% BB E R AR IR 00
i

2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR%TT AREFT

Sales of environmental protection HERRR A
equipment 607,348 442,739
Sale of materials tHE MK 12,781 29,549
Rendering of services IR 5 183
620,134 472,471
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REVENUE (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from sales of

7 &= @
DIFHEIRMRREHIIWRE -

environmental protection equipment:

2023 2022
—E== TET &
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARMETF T
Geographical markets &5
Mainland China R g 3t 594,514 442,739
Other countries HhE=x 12,834 -
Total “ast 607,348 442,739
Major products FEER
Electrostatic precipitator B EEPREEZS 436,146 326,480
Electrostatic-bag composite precipitator Fﬁ‘*%’EAﬁéeE%% - 10,393
Bag filter precipitator R PRERR 39,668 63,836
S0O2 and Nox emission reduction B ZEEmRaEEY
(desulfurisation and denitrification B (R IR HEEE)
devices) 95,110 11,027
Others (e.g. Pneumatic ash conveying  Hfth (W& 18K 2 47%)
system) 36,424 31,003
Total wast 607,348 442,739
Timing of revenue recognition I 2 T SR B BRF R
At a point in time R,
- Sales of environmental protection —HERFRE
equipment 607,348 442,739
— Sale of materials —tHEME 12,781 29,549
— Rendering of services — MRS 5 183
Total w85t 620,134 472,471

Annual Report 2023 4§}

2=



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

l‘7I‘

ka5 R B

For the year ended 31 December 2023

#HE

7

124

— g — =

—_—~

=SFEFSA=ST—HUFE

REVENUE (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from sales of
environmental protection equipment:
(Continued)

Sales of Environmental protection equipment

The Group manufactures, sells and installs environmental
pollution prevention equipment to the customers. The
customers pay the contract prices to the Group according
to the payment schedules as stipulated in the contracts
within one month. Sales are recognised when control of
the products and services have transferred, being when
the products are delivered to a customer. If the service
rendered by the Group exceeds the payments, a contract
asset is recognised. If the payments exceed the service
rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

If a contract includes the installation of hardware,
revenue for the hardware is recognised at a point in
time when the hardware is delivered, the legal title has
passed and the customer has accepted the hardware.

The contract price is allocated to the performance
obligations based on the relative stand-alone selling
prices of the performance obligations. The stand-alone
selling prices are determined by applying the expected
cost plus a margin approach.

Sales of materials

The Group sells environmental pollution prevention
equipment to the customers. The products amount
is repayable within one month. Sales are recognised
when control of the products has transferred, being
when the products are delivered to a customer,
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customer’s acceptance of the products and the
customer has obtained legal titles to the products.

A receivable is recognised when the products are
delivered to the customers as this is the point in time
that the consideration is unconditional because only
the passage of time is required before the payment is
due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R e B R b aE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_E_—fF+ _HA=1—HIFFEEZE
8. OTHER INCOME 8. HA
2023 2022
== B F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETFT AR®BTFT
Bank interest income IRITH B YA 1,397 297
Government grants B8 ED 8,803 3,310
Waiver of insurance service R REEARTS 5,222 =
Waiver of account payable BRI IR 3,547 =
Gain on disposal of investments at fair HEIRAFETAEBTHN
value through profit or loss KEZ Wm - 810
Reversal of impairment loss on #EO| FEWERREEL
bills receivables 911 6
Gain on disposal of property, plant and  HEYE - BE KRB H UL
equipment and right-of-use assets FREEEZ WG 784 116,344
Others Hith 342 53
21,006 120,820
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION 9. AEEN

AEBRAFENNE T EREZEKRH
ERFESRMARFERBTFERNRER
BENNE ; HEERNEREERRE
HIRF BB E - A5 B & dn H B A &R K
PR1GEIABL At ZEBER —EZX

The Group’'s revenue during the year was mainly
derived from environmental protection equipment
contract revenue for installation and sale of
environmental pollution prevention equipment and
electronic products; the invoiced value of goods sold

and the value of services rendered. The products of At
the Group are subject to similar risks and returns and,
therefore, the Group has only one business segment.
Geographical information MEER
Revenue Non-current assets
U &% EREBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
== — T FE | ZBZ= e F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT | ARETT | ARETRT | ARETT
Mainland China oh B A it 607,159 471,341 283,554 196,297
Other countries HhE=x 12,975 1,130 - =
Consolidated total SOtAEs 620,134 472,471 283,554 196,297

2@ E R Wm 5 UERFRE
7 B o

In presenting the geographical information, revenue is
based on the locations of the customers.
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i a5 AR Bk

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE - H=+—HIFFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. AHWEM @
Revenue from major customers: KEFEFERBUNE -
2023 2022
—EgE2-= =B F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥TIT
Customer A EZRA N/AFRER* 109,345
Customer B EFB N/AFER* 55,905
Customer C EZRC 118,558 N/A 48 8 *
Customer D EFD 84,867 N/AT 8 3 *
Customer E EPE 65,857 N/AT 8 3 *
o Customer did not contribute more than 10% of the total S BERMELAERRNFEREIFSINGEEZE10%U
consolidated revenue of the Group for the year. ko
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. FAE R ZS
2023 2022
== TETT4F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T
Interest on banks loans RITERNFE 9,892 7668
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R e B R b aE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BEE =+ A=+ —HIFFE

1.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

1. FRriSIRA>

2023 2022

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR#FT AEH#F 7T

PRC Enterprise Income Tax for the year £ RNFE TSR 24,532 13,941
Deferred tax (note 30) IEIEFRIE (MI5E30) (6,188) 8,224
18,344 22,165

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was required
since the Group has no assessable profit in Hong Kong

for the years presented.

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rate to the tax expense at

BARBEANBRGRER AAT-ER
RAIREEEE BB EAERREN -

BEAERISHEERRRANGF BN IEF
X HEBBRR IR HEHNRIAFR R RN

the effective tax rate is as follows: T
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFTT ARETFIT
Profit before tax AR 61,051 75,770

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% A ERE2% T EB
I8 15,263 18,943

Additional deduction on research and B a2 BE 2 2R IMOR

development expenses (2,906) (2,986)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses ~ AEIHIBB TR I E 5,987 6,208
Income tax for the year KEEMER 18,344 22,165
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%o 3 B4 55 Fh AR B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE - H=+—HIFFE

12. FAmH
AEEHOEPURFENR GIA) U TE

12. PROFIT FORTHE YEAR

The Group's profit for the year is stated after charging/

(crediting) the following: TBEER .

2023 2022
—E—= =B F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETFT AR®BTFT
Auditor’s remuneration Z BN & 1,260 1,250
Cost of inventories sold FTEHEEN M 479,315 405,032

Depreciation on property, ME-HE M
plant and equipment REITE 3,192 5,768
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEENE 170 1,654
Depreciation on investment properties R EY)EEITE 331 -
Amortisation of intangible assets B E 298 298
Impairment loss on trade receivables B REREIERERE 6,872 12,552

Reversal of impairment loss on bills FEW E IR R (B B8 [0l
receivables (911) (6)
(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment EfEWTIE GR{EE1E

loss on other receivables L) RERE (388) 123
Changes in investments at fair value BAFEFABREN
through profit or loss KEEE) 342 =

Loss/(gain) on disposal of investments at HERATFET AR

128

fair value through profit or loss REWEE, (k) 324 (810)
Research and development expenditure 35532 11,623 12,196
Staff costs (including directors’ ETA (BIFEEEMNE

remuneration — note 13): —M$5E13) ¢

Wages and Salaries TITENFE 42,015 45,963

Retirement benefits scheme BRIRBHET IR

contribution 5,642 2,363

Staff welfare expenses ETENEX 6,080 9,174

53,737 57500
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oy A5 R b
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E -+ _HA=+—HIFFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 13. ESKkE%
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS

A TS

The emoluments of each Director were as follows: ZEBEENMEUWT -
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
&Rk BIRER
ik Hitz BENGEN st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFTRT AREFT ARETT
Executive Directors HiTER
Bian Yu BT - 447 63 510
Zhang Yuanyuan BRE - 120 - 120
Bian Shu B - 287 63 350
Non-Executive Directors ~ JEHITES
Lan Lei (resigned on BE R_5_=&
29 December 2023) +ZB=+AH
HHE) - - - -
Yu Ji (appointed on REMITZ=H
29 December 2023) +ZBZ+AH
EZT) - - - -
Chen Jiancheng B - 213 51 264
Zhu Xianbo RER - 232 34 266
Independent Non-Executive BIFRTES

Directors
Zhang Bing (resigned on FRR_E_=&

17 October 2023) +B+tHET) - 50 - 50
Fung Kui Kei BIE - 173 - 173
Li Jiannan et - 60 - 60
Wang Feng (appointed on ~ JEl& (RZBZ=%F

17 October 2023) +A+tREZD) - 10 S 10
Supervisors £
Chen Xinhua PR zE - 121 - 121
Fu Jun 35 - 60 - 60
Fang Zhiguo Vab=izl - 60 - 60
Total for the year ended HEZZ=F+CA

31 December 2023 =t+—HILFERH - 1,833 21 2,044
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%o 3 B4 55 Fh AR B
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE - H=+—HIFFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

130

13. EERAREREHMALME

Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
HEk RINER
ik HitiaF ST a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Executive Directors RITES
Bian Yu BT - 453 84 537
Bian Weican (resigned on: ~ BEE (R_Z__F
30 May 2022) AA=1+HFD - 135 S 135
Zhang Yuanyuan BERE(MIEZZH
(appointed on: IR=1+REZD
30 May 2022) - 70 - 70
Bian Shu Bk - 287 77 364
Non-Executive Directors ~ JEHITES
Lan Lei (appointed on: [
22 August 2022) NAZ+ZH
EZfA) S S S S
Bian Jianguang (resigned on: BEX (R-E-"&F
22 August 2022) NBZ+ZHEHE) - 150 S 150
Chen Jiancheng [y - 130 65 195
Zhu Xianbo NER - 130 - 130
Independent Non-Executive B EMITES
Directors
Zhang Bing ®IR - 60 - 60
Fung Kui Kei EIEE - 172 - 172
Li Jiannan B - 60 - 60
Supervisors EE
Chen Xinhua PRifzE - 151 - 151
Fu Jun (35 - 60 - 60
Fang Zhiguo Papiaici! - 60 - 60
Chief executive BRITBAS
Qiu Jinxing il - 65 - 65
Total for the year ended HEZZHF+CA
31 December 2022 =t+—HILFEE - 1,983 226 2,209
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R e B R b aE

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E -+ _HA=+—HIFFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 13. ESKkE%

INDIVIDUAL EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The five highest paid employees during the year
included two directors (2022: two directors), details of
whose remuneration are set out in information above.
Details of the remuneration of the remaining three
(2022: three) non-directors, highest paid employees for
the year are as follows:

REHMA LTS
#)
AEE BLBSHIEETOEMGES

(CEBEI-F WRER) ' HEMFER
REXER -AEFE Hif=% (CTF -
F =z FEERSHMESNFMTE
LI

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AEB®BFT
Salaries and other benefits e REMEF 1,130 1,087

Retirement benefits scheme BRIRBH T2 RR

contributions 107 99
1,237 1,186

The number of non-directors, highest paid employees
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is
as follows:

#HMAF NI EERNNSFEERSHME
ERNHEWT:

Number of employees

EE#E
2023 2022
—=E-= B F
Emolument band: MEEEE
HK$nil — HK$1,000,000 I3 1,000,0008 7T 3 3

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
the five highest paid individuals, and directors, as an
inducement to join the Group or as compensation for
loss of office other than those disclosed above. In
addition, during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022, no directors waived any emoluments.

The Group provides retirement benefits in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations in the place
where the staff is employed. The Group participates
in the Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme for its employees located in Hong Kong, under
which contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employee’s basic salary according to the rules of
the scheme. Forfeited contributions may not be used
to reduce the existing level of contributions.

REE-S-=ER-_F__F+_F
S+—HLEFE REXFRBEN &
EEBRATLBEFHALRETZ(
FEAIBN % 1 25 (R R0 A 45 5 B A0 S B
B {E A E BB - b5 RBEE
—EZER_E__F_A=t—AL#F
& EREEAREANE

AEEZRE TR FMBRREARERRE
HEAREN FEESEUNEENERE
2masERRERKENFTE RigX
SHERRA AEEREBEEEELATEN
— B 7 EEFHER - RRHERATRR
FRIRA B HRAKF o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

#HE

14.

15.

132

— g — =

—_<

=SFEFSA=ST—HUFE

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023.
A final dividend of RMBO0.05 per share in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2022, amounting to
approximately RMB6,750,000 was paid.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the profit
for the year of approximately RMB42,707,000
(2022: RMB53,605,000) attributable to owners of
the Company and the weighted average number of
135,000,000 (2022: 135,000,000) ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

No diluted earnings per share is presented as the
Company did not have any dilutive potential ordinary
shares during the two years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.
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ERERARKB0.0570 HIKEFEN AR
6,750,0007T ©

BB
SREFSER

KABBEEARGEEREARBA TR
RRABEBABRBEREEZNOAR
42,707,000 (ZE_—F: AR
53,605,0007T) R AFEEEHTZERY
A0 T 9 8135,000,00008 (ZZ - —
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o W B R b

For the year ended 31 December 2023
oA =A1—HIFFE

#HE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. 1% -BEKRRE

Construction Plant and Motor Office
in progress Buildings machinery vehicles equipment Total
HRIR ¥ REREER RE BAZRME @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT AEBTT AEBTT AEBTT AEBTT AEBTT
Cost I
At 1 January 2022 RZB--%-F-H = 91,0m 45,278 1,299 2,049 139,703
Addtions i - - 5510 - 2 5530
Disposals e - (79,240) (19,466) - (270) 98,976)
At 31 December 2022 and RIE-"E+"A=+-AK
1 January 2023 —%-_-f#-F-f - 11,837 31,322 1,299 1,799 46,257
Additions HE 6,973 31 1,933 572 59 40,648
Disposals HE - - (5,701) (538) - (6,239)
At 31 December 2023 KZE-Z5+-RA=+-H 6973 42,948 215554 1333 1,858 80,666
Accumulated depreciationand BT ER(E
impairment
At 1 January 2022 RZE-"%-A-A - 36,201 19,588 933 1821 58,543
Charge for the year KEETH S 3245 2,367 84 7 5,768
Disposals HE - 29,026) (16,736) - (265) (46,017)
At 31 December 2022 and RIEZZE+ZRZ+-BR
1 January 2023 “E"ZE-F-H - 10,420 5219 1,017 1,638 18,294
Charge for the year KEETH - 1,187 1742 202 61 3192
Disposals e - - 4,178) (14) - (4,592)
At 31 December 2023 KZ2-=E+-R=+-H - 11,607 2,183 805 1,699 16,894
Carrying amount REfE
At 31 December 2023 KZE-Z5+-BA=+-H 6973 31,341 24,mM 528 159 63,772
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZE+ZF=1-H - 1417 26,103 yi) 161 27963
As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group's RIEZ=F+"HA=+—8B > &c&£EK

buildings with a carrying amount of approximately
RMB30,492,000 (2022: RMB nil) were pledged to
secure bank loan facilities granted to the Group (note

29).

HEAAZEN A NR30,492,00070 (Z =
TTEAREBE) WETEFEER
TENRE R AT

LIt 7 £ B 1 iR 1
(Mz£29) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
R = H=f HILFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EREEE
Disclosures of lease-related items: MEEMHEANEEIRE :
2023 2022
—E== TET &
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARMETF T
At 31 December: BW+—B=+—8":
Right-of-use assets EREEE
— Land use rights — T HiE AR 15,378 1,020
2023 2022
—E=-= - Sat-2
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR ARMETF T
Year ended 31 December: BHE+TZB=1+—H
IEFE
Depreciation charge of FREEEINEMRY
right-of-use assets
— Land use rights — T AR 170 1,654
Addition to right-of-use assets FREEERE 14,528 S
As at 31 December 2023, the Group's land use rights RIE_=ZF+"B=+—H > ~EERK
with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB14,381,000 H{E4BEEA AR 14,381,000t (T2 -
(2022: RMB nil) were pledged to secure bank loan FIARBZ T WM EREEER
facilities granted to the Group (note 29). U AEBERNIRETTERRE MBI

134
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E = —HIFFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. BEEE
Patent Software Total
27 QLS 4mst
Cost s RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AEEFT AREBTT AREBTT
At 1 January 2022, R_E-_"F£—HF—H-
31 December 2022, & "F#+”"F=+—A8-
1 January 2023 and “EI-F—-B—HK
31 December 2023 “E=f+ZH=+—H 110 2,079 2,189

Accumulated amortisation and R sHi#iH &R (EEE
impairment loss

At 1 January 2022 RN_E__F#—HF—H 108 1,191 1,299
Amortisation for the year REFEHHE 1 297 298
At 31 December 2022 and RIE-_—F+-BA=+—HkK
1 January 2023 e = 109 1,488 1,697
Amortisation for the year R EHH 1 297 298
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%+-B=+—H 110 1,785 1,895
Carrying amount IREME
At 31 December 2023 NZE2-=%+-B=+—H - 294 294
At 31 December 2022 N_E-__F+"A=+—H 1 591 592
19. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES 19. REtEATIZKE
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFTT ARET T
Unlisted investments: ELHKE
Share of net assets LB EFE 112,696 117160
Goodwill BeE 5,511 5,511

118,207 122,671
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE - H=+—HIFFE

19. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)  19.

The following table shows information of associates
that are material to the Group. The associates are
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
using the equity method. The summarised financial
information presented is based on the HKFRS financial

REEQATZRE @&

TRITHAEBEZNHERTZE
FleZSHMEATHRBEDENGEM
BRERAR -2 BERBRERTLER
ZEMEATNEBYBREEMHR

136

statements of the associates.

Name Zhejiang Tianjie Magnetic Materials
3 Co., Limited
ey IR R RRDBRAT

Principal place of business/
country of incorporation

T EEE MBI ER
Principal activity

PRC
PE

Manufacturing and sale of
machineries and spare parts, sale

of steel, building materials and
other chemical products and scrap
metals recycling and construction

Inner Mongolia Guodian Hejie

Wind Energy Co., Limited

AEHBEEBMZEERRAT

PRC
PE

Construction and operation of
wind farms, provision of operation
maintenance and consultancy

services for wind farms

in the PRC

TEE U35 T G £ 14 38 T 5 1 N ESRREEEESR
HED  BEME RS BRBFREL RS
Em BEtBEBRENER K 5B AR TS
% of ownership interests 45% 40% 49% 49%
BEEA DL 45% 40% 49% 49%
2023 2022 2023 2022
“ECZE —ECCFE —ECCE CECCF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREBEFTT ARETT AREFT
As 31 December: R+=B=+-H:
Non-current assets FRBEE 414,223 405,612 240,514 256,009
Current assets MBEE 407570 284,672 84,670 80,096
Non-current liabilities EINTEI=N (89,637) (60,133) (175,511) (187226)
Current liabilities =t (644,697) (518,403) - -
Net asset BESE 87459 111,748 149,673 147879
Group's share of netasset ~ AEEEEEEFE 39,356 44,699 73,340 72,461
Goodwill BE = = 5,511 5,511
Group's share of carrying FEERLEE
amount of interests REE 39,356 44,699 78,851 77972
Year ended 31 December:; %Z:]E:‘I':E =+—H
N
Revenue - 1,643,737 2,228,751 37767 43,292
(Loss)profit for the year EM (58 Ef (24,289) (59,648) 1,794 4,010
Other comprehensive (loss)/  Eft 2 (§518) /
income e - S = =
Total comprehensive (loss)/ 2 (5518 /&
income mE (24,289) (69,648) 1,794 4,010
Dividends received from ERBEATRE
associates - o = =
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE—

TZFf+ A=+ —HIFE

9. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Inner Mongolia Guodian Hejie Wind Energy Co.,
Limited is a strategic investment of the Group,
providing access to new technology and processes for
its power business.

Zhejiang Tianjie Magnetic Materials Co., Limited is
a strategic investment of the Group, providing an
investment opportunity for the Company to diversify
its business portfolio by entering into the new
materials market in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2023, the bank and cash balances
of the Group's associates in the PRC denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB") amounted to RMB62,494,000
(2022: RMB77102,000). Conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations.

19. REEATIZKE &

REEEBMRREABRATDATER—
BERKRE PR HEHBIEBRMBEGH
Bk TERRE -

ML RKZHEM RN ERATARER
H—IEEEMRE AR ABIREREH
g LBBEATEIMEMEEIRER
HEZmibe

R_EBE_=F+"F=+—H ' xE£EW
FEBREQATDUARE AR sHEW
IRTTRIRE AR A AR 62,494,0007T (=
T "4 AR¥77102,0007T) AR
R INEBETHEMNESIERA)
RIFRTE ©

20. INVESTMENTS PROPERTIES 20. IEEYE
RMB’000

AR®TFT
Cost B A
At 1 January 2023 WIEZ=%—F—H -
Addition NE 36,168
At 31 December 2023 R-E-_=F+=-RA=+—H 36,168
Accumulated depreciation and impairment B EREE
At 1 January 2023 RIZEZ=%—AF—H -
Charge for the year KREEZH 331
At 31 December 2023 RZIEZ=%+="H=+—H 331
Carrying amount EREE
At 31 December 2023 RZE-_=%+"F=+—H 35,837

The fair value of the Group's investment properties at
31 December 2023 is RMB37776,000. The fair value
has been arrived at based on a valuation carried out by
Group's management.

AEBR_ZE_=F+_"_A=1+—HHK
BEYEATFER AREE37776,0007T A F
BLEAERESEBETHNGEES

Annual Report 2023 3t 137



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

i a5 AR Bk

For the year ended 31 December 2023

AR d e e e e R

20. INVESTMENTS PROPERTIES (continued)

138

The fair value was determined based on the market
comparable approach, where the price per square
metre of all units of the properties are assessed.
The market price per square metre are assessed by
reference to the price achieved in the forsale units of
the properties as well as other similar properties in the
neighbourhood.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current
use.

Details of the Group's investment properties and
information about the fair value hierarchy as at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

20. IREYE @

AFEDBRBHHZALE S EZEE st
ETFAEYMEBEUNS T RER -GF
AARNTHERSEZYENFTEEMLL
R M EAth SR U4 2 BB T LT G o

EEFYMENRAFER  YENRSER

ERRBHEHERAR

BERSPR AEEREVENFER
NPEEBESNT

2023
—=E-=
Fair value
Carrying at Level 2
amount hierarchy
BREE F-HATE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTFT
Residential properties units located in PRC i3 FR B Y £ £ 4 2 B8 {11 6,261 7,933
Commercial properties with leasehold land £ HE#EE HE L #hHY
located in PRC [EEZYES 29,576 29,843
35,837 37,776

The above investment properties are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:
Leasehold lands/ Over the term of the lease
leased properties

The Group does not lease out certain of its investment
properties under operating leases.

LR EMESFR TILLRBERIT

&€ .

e FHEYE THEAA

AEBAUEERN T AHBEETREY
#,
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E S A+ —FAIEE

21. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 21. AT HEAEZENIRE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2023 2022
—E-=H B HF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFTT ARETIT

Ferrous metal future contract, EEEEHPEAN BATF
at fair value — current asset BstE2—RHEE 5,448 -

22. INVENTORIES 22. 78
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFTT ARM¥T T
Raw materials R A 11,798 14,634
Work in progress RS 7814 1,001
Finished goods Al o 355,250 275,653
374,862 291,288

23. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 23. BEZRKRFEREWERE

2023 2022
—E-= B F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFTT AR¥T T
Trade receivables B 5 W IE 647,915 740,524
Less: provision for loss allowance B EIREE (143,043) (136,416)
504,872 604,108
Bills receivable FEWL ZE 15 57,207 99,783
Less: provision for loss allowance B EEEERG (2,081) (2,992)
559,998 700,899

Trade and bills receivable

B 5 BURIER BB RE

BZRUWRERRERERHA—R2—E
Ao AEBSRE HRWEIEUCRIAES
BIBHIER - BEHERESREEREEE
HAtREY - AEE W B H B 5 B WGRIEE
BRF A AR IR an S E th 1S ARt SR 8 o

Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing, and the
credit period is generally 1 month. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable
balances.

Annual Report 2023 4§} 139



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023

#HE

23.

140

SEC S FF T A=F—HUFEE

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 23.

(Continued)
Trade and bills receivable (Continued)

The Group's bills receivable are all due within one year.
As 31 December 2023, the Group's bills receivables of
RMB8,432,000 (2022: RMB18,264,000) were pledged
to secure the Group's bills payable (note 27).

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the
invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

BEZRREREWERE @

B 5 RIRIER B R @

NREBMBERERHEYN —FERNEIRH-
RIEZ=F+"B=+—H AEEA
18,432,000 (ZE-_—_F : AR
18,264,00070) MEWEHEEE IR » LA
EEMNENZERRHEIEE (:E27) ©

%%F’éuﬁﬂﬁ GOBR#EEE) BN EZEH M
BREC DT -

2023 2022

—E== TET &

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%TT ARETTT

Within 1 year 15K 222,172 206,770
1 to 2 years 15824 124,383 178,630
2 to 3 years 2E3F 81,566 111,710
3 to 4 years 3E4F 76,751 106,998
504,872 604,108

Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables:

B RUGTRBEEFHHR

2023 2022

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®TFT AREEFTT

At 1 January W—A—H 136,416 175,756

Written off the loss allowance FNEIER B

for the year (245) (51,892)

Increase in loss allowance for the year 51BN 6,872 12,652

At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 143,043 136,416
Zhejiang Tengy Environmental Technology Co., Ltd 7L RIEERERH B A R A H]
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE - E - A=+—HIFFE

23. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 23. ESEKHIEREKRERE »

(Continued)
Trade and bills receivable (Continued)

Reconciliation of loss allowance for bills receivable:

B 5 RIRIEREWERR @
R REBRERHR

2023 2022

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥%TT ARBEFIT

At 1 January »—A—H 2,992 2,998
Increase in loss allowance for the year  FEPYE5IE#E FIE N (911) (6)
At 31 December R+ZB=+—H 2,081 2,992

The Group applies the simplified approach under
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instrument” to provide for
expected credit losses using the lifetime expected
loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the aging. The expected credit losses also incorporate
forward looking information.

FEERAEBMBREERFN SR
TRIBETHBIER A B 5 B UK
BEAFEMERGRERAERGEE
BREBE A ERAGEESER B5E
WRIEEREBRENEERBREERRE
D -FEHEEBRITESABIEER -

1t02 2t03 Over
Current years years 3 years Total
il 1526 2ZE 3B4E 5t
At 31 December 2023 RZEZZ&+-A=+-H
Weighted average expected loss rate METIRREEE 0% 12% 17% 59% 2%
Receivable amount (RMB'000) EWEE \RETT) 2,112 140,629 98,861 186,253 647915
Loss allowance (RIMB'000) BERE \RETT) - 16,246 17,295 109,502 143,043
1102 2103 Over
Current years years 3 years Total
S 150 1B 3BUE 5t
At 31 December 2022 RS- _#+°A=1-H
Weighted average expected loss rate METERREEE 0% 14% 12% 46% 18%
Receivable amount (RMB'000) EWEE \RETT) 206,770 207868 126,593 199,293 740,524
Loss allowance (RMB'000) BRER (ARETD - 29,238 14,883 92,295 136,416
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23. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

142

(Continued)
Trade and bills receivable (Continued)

At 31 December 2023, the Group endorsed certain
bills receivable accepted by certain banks in the PRC
(the"Endorsed Notes”) to certain of its suppliers
in order to settle the trade payables due to such
suppliers (the”Endorsement”). Subsequent to the
Endorsement, the Group did not retain any rights on
the use of the Endorsed Notes, including the sale,
transfer or pledge of the Endorsed Notes to any
other third parties. In accordance with the Law of
Negotiable Instruments in the PRC, the holders of
the Endorsed Notes have a right of recourse against
the Group if the PRC banks default (the “Continuing
Involvement”). The total carrying amount of the
Endorsed Notes of the Group as at 31 December 2023
was RMB67586,000 (2022: RMB75,944,000). In the
opinion of the directors, the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards relating to
certain Endorsed Notes accepted by large and
reputable banks (the “Derecognised Notes"”) with
an amount of RMB38,590,000 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: RMB44,301,000). Accordingly, the
Group has derecognised the full carrying amounts
of these Derecognised Notes and the associated
trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss
from the Group's Continuing Involvement in these
Derecognised Notes and the undiscounted cash
flows to repurchase these Derecognised Notes is
equal to their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the
directors, the fair values of the Group's Continuing
Involvement in these Derecognised Notes are not
significant. The Group continued to recognise the full
carrying amount of the remaining Endorsed Notes
and the associated trade payables settled with an
amount of RMB28,996,000 as at 31 December 2023
(2022: RMB31,643,000), because the directors believe
that the Group has retained the substantial risks and
reward, which include default risks relating to such
remaining Endorsed Notes.

During the year, the Group has not recognised any
gain or loss (2022: Nil) on the date of transfer of
the Derecognised Notes. No gains or losses were
recognised from the Continuing Involvement, both
during the year or cumulatively. The Endorsement has
been made evenly throughout the year.

Zhejiang Tengy Environmental Technology Co., Ltd 7L R{#EER

23.

BEZRREREWERE @

B 5 RIRIER B R @

A CE T =F+"RB=1+—H AEEMG
HETHEBSSHPEE TIRTEM
HNETREWER (SRR > UEERE
NZSEHERNE ZENRIE (F”%J) °
REEZE AERTEREEIAEREZ
ZENEF TN EME=FH
E\%%E}ZE#%%E#WEB%@PEA
HAMEEER L) MPENIRITELN
BW%E‘&%}%E@%%A%K%EEL%%
(THFEEBESEH) -RE=F+=
B=1+—H A&EENEEEHRNEEE
4a%E A N\ R1867586,00070 (B - _F
AR #75,944,0007T) c EHRA ﬁA—*
TEFE+ T RA=t+—H AEEDEHEA
AERAARTEMANETESEERA
138,690,000t (ZZE 24 . AR
44,301,00070) (T42IEMEERZEHE)) BN
BRI R KREHR e EIL REBB K
IFRIZERIEEREZENE2BREER
B ZENARIE REERZERIERE
RERPIFEEEETHNRABIERR
UEBEZERIEEIBEHRNARMIRIR
EHEEENHEEEE EERA A&
ERZERIEEIRBENFEEESHN
NFBEFRK \_7__EE+ B=4+—
H AEEHERIEGSSEENS
ﬁB@EETEEUfEEﬁe,ﬁ%%%%ﬁ’éﬁTAIE/\
K 28,996,000c (ZE-Z"F : AR

31,643,00070) * JTHRESFEE  ~&EE
TREBEBARIBD A &OH BFERZE

Rirm ERBEAMPNENER

REE FEENERRILERR
WS EARNEHER (CE - 2F
&) MAFERRFFE BEEFANE

ZEH

UEEREFEEESHTED - AFEY
SEHESE
BRI A R A
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E = —HIFFE

24. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 24. fREERAE

Disclosures of revenue-related items BN HRARIEEIRE
As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
RZBZ= WZBEZZFE RIBIZF
+ZA=+—-H |[tZB=+-H —A—H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFTR AR®TT AR®TT
Total contract assets BEREE 40,886 44,295 79,626
Total contract liabilities BaRak 542,933 354,675 264,251

Contract receivables (included in trade and ARIEWEIE GtABZEY

bills receivables) TERERER) 559,998 700,899 796,124
Transaction prices allocated to performance  PELE EK i8I R T AH

obligation unsatisfied at end of year and BHETLEHR TS

expected to be recognised as revenue in: FERDANENRZER:

-2023 -_F°-fF - 1,363,679

-2024 -_EB_mE 1,016,584 549,595

-2025 -_B_1% 769,375 131,200

- 2026 —-Z2TRE 680,100 -

2,466,059 2,044,474

Year ended 31 December

BE+_"_A=+—HLEE

2023 2022
—E-= S e
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTT AR®T T

Revenue recognised in the year that FEstAGRAERER
was included in contract liabilities at REEEROW R
beginning of year 166,051 142,949
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE - H=+—HIFFE

24. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 24. cREEREGE ®

(Continued)

Significant changes in contract assets and

rFEEAREERGAABRENERKX

contract liabilities during the year: EE -
2023 2023 2022 2022
—E”= —E”= B F T F
Contract Contract Contract Contract
assets liabilities assets liabilities
EREE = =R EREE EIEI=EE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT | ARETR | ARETRE ARBTR
Increase due to operation HAFESEMEM
in the year 50,476 360,380 44,295 249,005
Transfer of contract assets to BEAREER
receivables e et (53,885) - (79.626) -
Transfer of contract liabilites to ~ EEEREBEZRE
revenue - (172,122) - (158,581)
A contract asset represents the Group’s right to EREEEAEERNAE A EHEERIR
consideration in exchange for products or services that MU E BRI REF)
the Group has transferred to a customer.
A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to SREaEEAEERNEAFEEAEREER
transfer products or services to a customer for which BERUWEAE (HEBREREE NERN
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of RFEEE-
consideration is due) from the customer.
25. PREPAYMENT, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 25. TA{YTRIE - & K H th FE UK 7R IE
RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT ARETTT
Other receivables HhpE s kIa 29,357 44,781
Less: impairment losses B REEE (2,808) (3,284)
26,549 41,497
Prepayments SEENEE 48,509 20,409
Due from holding company (note) FE U R B% A B FOE (MY 55) 3,908 =
78,966 61,906
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B E - E - A= —HILFE

25. PREPAYMENT, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 25. FA{d®IE - R EMEYKTIE
RECEIVABLES (Continued) (#

Hth W R IER(E

Impairment of other receivables

Hth W IRREBENEENT

The movements in impairment losses of other
receivables are as follows:

2023 2022
—E=F =B
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTF T ARBEFIT
At 1 January w—HB—H 3,284 3,161

Written off the loss allowance WEE FE N RS R
for the year (88) -

(Reversal of impairment loss)/ HhFEWIE (RIERE
impairment loss on other receivables o) RERSE

W+-_B=+—H 2,808 3,284

(388) 123

At 31 December

26. BANK AND CASH BALANCES AND 26. $R{ITRIRELE&GFUKCIEIRTE

PLEDGED DEPOSIT

At the end of reporting period, the bank and cash balances
of Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
RMB453,020,000 (2022: RMB240,945,000). Conversion
of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

Pledged deposit with banks have been placed as
security for bills payables issued by the Group. Bank
guarantees are performance guarantees and made for
varying periods ranging from several months to five
years depending on the agreement of the contract,
and earn interest at the respective short term time
deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

=
ES

RNEREER REBUARKHENIRIT
IR EFEEOANRTA453,020,0007T

—E & AR240,945,0007T) ° A
BB AIINEBETRENGMNESE
BB e

RITEHEMEREENR UAEAERE DN
AN RBRMER - RITEARRBENE
RIABER ERFHEARNBARRARIE
L BFSENHRME WIKE B A
EHEMAVF RS B - IRITHEER R BIRT
ERDEFEALHERINCHENEESERN
iR1T
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
Bir —E_—Ff A=+ —HIFE

27. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 27. BEZREMARIEREMERE

2023 2022

—EC-= —E- 4

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AR¥TIT

Trade payables B 5 REARIE 185,131 183,498

Bills payable eI % 9,909 17213

195,040 200,711
Bills payables were secured by the Group's bills ENEHEUNEEEDN F’E WEHEAER
receivables of RMB8,432,000 (2022: RMB18,264,000). #8,432,000c (ZEZ_F: AR

18,264,0007T) 1R o

An aging analysis of the trade payables at the end f‘?%ﬁgﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁé%Eﬂﬁﬁ?iﬁ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ’\]
of the reporting period, based on invoice dates, is as ARECDITENT ¢
follows:
2023 2022
—EC=F -2
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTFTT ARETFIT
Within 1 year 15K 137,082 103,891
1 to 2 years 15824 28,155 59,314
2 to 3 years 2F3F 12,203 6,865
Over 3 years 3FEL E 7,691 13,428
185,131 183,498
28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28. HithFEIRRIBEREFER
2023 2022
—EC=F -2
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETIT
Other payables HpEmIa 78,684 77508
Due to related companies (note) FETRAR 2 B 7B () - 344
78,684 77852
Note: The amount due to related companies are unsecured, non- M . BN ARRBEABRER - FHEEEETE
interest bearing and have no fixed repayment terms. IBFREARR o
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#HE

TZFf+ A=+ —HIFE

29. BANK LOANS

29. IR1TE™

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARB®FT

Bank loan — secured RITEM—FIEH 85,000 55,000
Margin loan REBEEER 4,502 =
89,502 55,000

As at 31 December 2023, the secured bank loan
of the Group amounting to RMB55,000,000 (2022:
RMB25,000, OOO) Were secured by equity interest in
AXRHEEMZREIEBRLE > the associate of the
Group which had an aggregate net carrying value of
RMB78,851,000 (2022: RMB77,972,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the secured bank loan of the
Group amounting to RMB30,000,000 were secured
by (i) the Group's building situated in the Mainland
China, which had an aggregate net carrying value of
RMB30,492,000; and (ii) the Group's land use rights
situated in Mainland China, which had an aggregate
carrying amount of RMB14,381,000. The margin loan
was secured by the investments at fair value through
profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2022, the amount of RMB30,000,000
were secured by corporate guarantee.

The effective interest rates per annum at the end of
the reporting period were as follows:

AR =E+ AT+ —H AEEW
BIRRRITERESEEA ARTES5,000,000
T (ZEZTHF  ARM25,000,0005T) °
HAABBEATDASR S EEMREE
ERADMNKRE (REFELEAAR
#78,851,000c (ZE_"_F : AR
77972,0007T)) 1EHEIF o

A TEC=FE+_RB=+—H AEEHN
BIRRRITERESEEA ARTE30,000,000
THUTEEEER (IRAEBEAURAF
ERMHNIET REFEEEAARKE
30,492,0007C ; H(NAEBAMNKFER
M T E R REERBEAARE
14,381,0007T ° Bf TR LA B IERIEIR
HoREBSERURAFES AR
B o

RIE_—_F+"_B=+—H’' AR
30,000,0007c AR BIEMRIEATEIF o

REREHRNERENZNT

2023 2022
—m— = —m——

—_———_—— —_— e

FEHIIRITEM
& E A &K

Short-term bank loans:
Fixed-rate

3.55% - 5.22% 4.00-5.22%
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE - H=+—HIFFE

30. DEFERRED TAX

30. IERIEFRIA
U TN AREERDIEERIEE E:TIB -

The following are the details of deferred tax assets

recognised by the Group.

Changes in
investments Impairment Impairment
Unrealised at fair value of Property, of trade Impairment
profitin  through profit plant and and bills of other
inventories or loss equipment receivables receivables Accruals Tax loss Total
BATHE BRRK
BEW  HABEN MR ERR  FUEREN Eftife
RERER RELY REAE REAE AEA(E fEstER ikl At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEEFT  ABETR  ABETR  ARETR  ARETm  ARETn  ARETm  ARE®Tn
At 1 January 2022 RZB-—F-P-H = 309 1422 44,689 791 1,504 3387 52,102
- Debit to consolidated statement — & &EEENR
of profit or loss 4,637 (309) (1.422) (9.838) 31 20 (1,543 (8,224)
At 31 December 2022 and RIE-ZE+ZAZ+-BR
1 January 2023 “3°=&-f-H 4,637 - - 34,851 822 1,724 1,844 43878
- Credit/debit to consolidated ~ —3t AR ABER/
statement of profit o loss (BREEERNR 6167 % - 1429 (119 406 ] 6,188
At 31 December 2023 BIEZ=E+ZA=1+-H 9,79 86 - 36,280 703 2,130 1013 50,066
31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. iR7s
2023 2022
—EZZ=HE =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARETFT
Authorised: EE
135,000,000 ordinary shares of 135,000,000 F A EE
RMB1.00 each AR 1.007TH B 135,000 135,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE
135,000,000 ordinary shares of 135,000,000/ & e E1E
RMB1.00 each AR 100t EE R 135,000 135,000
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31.

32.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 31. BE @
Capital management E4XEHE
The Group's primary objective when managing capital REBEBEATESEMRERNERNGT
is to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a BREE BRTEHERAMKFEREEN
going concern, so that it can continue to provide EmERRD  UkEEEMAREME
returns for shareholders and benefits for other RMAESN AR E & IR SRR (Ol 0 2 H Ah 4
stakeholders, by pricing products and services HFAANG R Gm AEEEEELANE
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing BRAREAEEFELSESNE N RERE
access to finance at a reasonable cost. The Group's EEBE AR FEFERERRE AL
objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maximise the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes AREBRBLSHER IEHERERBAEE
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic BB AEFABABRELRGH ~ERK
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, FRERBIRM N TG  BEIRA
the Group may adjust the payment of dividends, issue ENHmEF BLREEFHIEEEEU
new shares, buyback shares, raise new debts, redeem BMETS ©
existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.
RESERVES 32. #iE
(a) The amounts of the Group's reserves and (a) FEEMNEESELRHESEFNGS
movements therein are presented in the EBakHEtE2EKRaRMGEED
consolidated statement of profit or loss and BERPZ
other comprehensive income and consolidated
statement of changes in equity.
(b) Reserves of the Company (b) FTAF#E
Statutory
Share Capital surplus Retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total
RiVEE  EARE ETREHE  REEN gt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2022 RZE__&-FB-AH 239,064 3,303 43,635 358,207 644,209
Profit for the year ERER - - - 45,718 45,718
Appropriation 1o statutory surplus BRE AT RS
reserve - - 4,79 (4,794) =
At 31 December 2022 RIBZZE+ZA=+-H 239,064 3,303 48,429 399,131 689,927
At 1 January 2023 RZE_=&-B-H 239,064 3,303 48,429 399,131 689,927
Profit for the year ERET - - - 19,663 19,663
Dividend paid EffFIE = = = (6,750) (6,750)
Appropriation to statutory surplus R AERERE
reserve - - 1,966 (1,966) -
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+-A=+-H 239,064 3,303 50,395 410,078 702,840
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32. RESERVES (continued)

150

(c)

Zhejiang Tengy Environmental Technology Co., Ltd 7L R{#EER

Nature and purpose of reserves of the
Group

(1)

(i)

(i11)

Share premium

The share premium represents the
difference between the par value of the
shares of the Company and proceeds
received from the issuance of the shares of
the Company.

Statutory surplus reserve

Pursuant to the PRC Company Law and the
respective entities’ articles of association,
the Company and its subsidiaries
established in the PRC shall appropriate
10% of their annual statutory net profit
(determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting principles and regulations and
after offsetting any prior years’ losses) to
the statutory surplus reserve until such
reserve fund reaches 50% of the share
capital of these entities. The statutory
surplus reserve can be utilised to offset
prior years' losses or to increase capital.
However, except for offsetting prior years'
losses, such reserve must be maintained
at a minimum of 25% of the share capital
after usage.

Safety production reserve

Pursuant to the regulation of Administrative
Measures for the Withdrawal and Use
of Expenses for Safety Production of
Enterprises in the PRC relating to the
construction industry, a subsidiary of the
Group, Tianjie Installation Engineering,
is required to transfer an amount to the
reserve account as safety production
reserve. The amount is calculated based
on the revenue of construction each year
and at the applicable rate of 2%. The
safety production reserve will be used for
modification and maintenance of safety
equipment in accordance with the rules of
the Company Law of the PRC and is not
available for distribution to shareholders.

32. #E @

(c)

FrEEFEEEREN

(1)

(i)

(iir)

R17@1E

RpmBHIERATRMDEE
BB ETEARDRMEEZFT
STREmERZ -

B
REFEABERESEEBNMA
HMERMA ARBRERF
BRI B AR BEHES
EAELFIF10% (RiEHEE
R B R AR E W A I S A
BT EERER) :t:xfEJmEﬁ
HE BEEZHERESEIZ
HEEBRARS0% o AT B
HETBARIEHEETEENE
BIILE - AT BRIEIE B F
EBERN BERRZHEEER
BEAMERRKRAN25% °

REER R EERITERRN(E
(XL LEERRIMERE
EBIOE)RE  AERK B
RAKBLZETRAORER
)5$§}]\ %?AIET’E%%?%EJX
{n%% ZARIBEREBESFREENK
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o W B R b

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_E_—fF+ _HA=1—HIFFEEZE

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 33. ZaIREREaRMH
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from (a) AREIESIMEENEEES
financing activities
The following table shows the Group's changes TREINAEENREAFERAREE
in liabilities arising from financing activities during FMEENEEES)
the year:
Bank loans
RITER
RMB'000
ARBFT
At 1 January 2022 A B F—H—H 106,500
Changes in cash flows BEREEs) (51,500)
At 31 December 2022 KRB _F+"A=+—H 55,000
Changes in cash flows BEREE8) 30,000
At 31 December 2023 RZE_=%+"A=+—H 85,000
(b) Major non-cash transaction (b) EXRIERERS
During the year, additions to Investment RER "EY)Z=RE ARE30,217000
Properties of RMB30,217,000 were settled by TTHEWERRAE S o

account receivables.
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on 3 A B R Bk
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE - H=+—HIFFE

34. SUMMARISED FINANCIAL POSITION 34. xAFBMBIRRIENE

152

OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFTT ARETIT
Non-current assets EREEE
Investment in subsidiaries R B ABNKE 174,500 174,500
Investment in associate REBEQTNKE 118,207 122,671
Property, plant and equipment ME-MENREE 1,444 2,638
Intangible assets mTEE 294 592
Investment properties "B 35,837 =
Deferred tax assets BEERIEEE 34,143 33,095
Pledged deposits BIRFFER - 173
364,425 333,669
Current assets REBEE
Inventories =78 293,072 277306
Trade and bills receivables B Z RUGRIE R BN & 533,102 674,839
Contract assets AEEE 40,886 44,295
Prepayment, deposits and other TEIRRIE 2 R EAth
receivables FEURFRIE 42,005 49,336
Investments at fair value through BAFEFABRNKRE
profit or loss 5,448 -
Bank and cash balances IRITRIRE 4S8R 386,562 187,775
1,301,075 1,233,551
Current liabilities B U=k
Trade and bills payables BB IB R ENEE 147,141 183,723
Contract liabilities sREEE 540,619 354,091
Other payables and accruals HihfE B R ETE A 68,898 138,258
Bank loans IRITER 59,502 55,000
Tax payable FEIRIA 11,500 11,221
827,660 742,293
Net current assets REBEERE 473,415 491,258
NET ASSETS BEFE 837,840 824,927
Capital and reserves BRKiHEE
Share capital &N 135,000 135,000
Share premium 1 iaE 239,064 239,064
Reserves G 463,776 450,863
TOTAL EQUITY R AEER 837,840 824,927
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE—

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

E_=F+_A=1—HIFE

35. AR R

RBSHER 2EEARERAFTLEEFE
ARAREEBCEF H|) o

At the end of the reporting period, the Group and
the Company did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (2022: Nil).

36. BB ARS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFTT ARETIT
Transactions with the holding BIERATNR
company
Rental paid MHEM% (i) 3,500 3,500
Electricity charges paid by the ERABRKEAER
holding company on behalf TN EE
of the Group (ii) 2,883 2,700
Transaction with other related BEMBEAKANR S
parties
Services received: BRIR .
AL F2ERMEEBRAR AL F =S ME
BRRE (iii) - 2,113
Services received: BRIR .
AIFZERME S BRAR AL F 2SR
BRRE (iv) 286 481
Services received: BRIR .
ALK R BREWEBERAR AL KR B
BRRE (iv) 4,993 4,490
Rental paid ez
EEMATFEEREARLAT HEEMRXFEERE
BRRE (i) 772 429
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on 3 A B R Bk
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

154

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these consolidated financial statements, the Group
had the following transactions with related parties
during the year:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The rental fee was charged and the rental
income was received based on mutually agreed
prices.

The payments were made on behalf of the Group
based on the actual costs incurred.

The purchase of equipment from the related
parties were made based on mutually agreed
prices and terms.

The services received from the related parties
were based on mutually agreed prices and
terms.

Key management personnel remuneration

The emoluments of the Company’s Directors, who are
also identified as members of key management of the
Group, are set out in Note 13.

36. AR5 &

R EFRaMBRREMEBOFLANZS
Sho mEE AEBERK T AUTRS !

() HEBRAKREZBRARE
B R BN

% E B9

(i) WEEENBERREANTEERZY

IR

(i) MEAMLIBEERBRSE
&R ARTREETT ©

W E BB

(v BB SORBLERESHEN
B R ARTRAETT
FEEIE A SR E N

ERBER (ARTEAERTEECEE
R E) NI MG 134RER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE - E - A=+—HIFFE

37 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 37 ZAARTEMWEATINES
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 N ZE_F+ZA=+—HFEMER
December 2023 are as follows: BB ¢
Percentage of
Place of the Company's
incorporation/ indirect ownership
registration and Issued and interest voting
Name operation paid-up capital power/profit sharing Principal activities
sEMARIL/ &3 FARRMRERA RS
Ea S REEM BETRMEES R/ BHYREDL TEEH
2023 2022
Z5Z= ECCE
AETREZRETRERAT The PRC RMB4,500,000 100% 100%  Provision of installation services
Tianjie Installation Engineering* FE A 4,500,0007 RHEZERS
MIXRZRETIRERAR The PRC RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of
Tianjie Environmental and Engineering* electronic products
alE] AE50,000,0007 WERHEETER
HEEXRRERKERAT The PRC RMB20,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of
Turpan Environmental and Technology* environmental pollution

prevention equipment and
electronic products

FE AE#20,000,0007 HERHEERRSFHARER
EEA_YFEEE
EEXZRETIRERAT The PRC RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of
Jining Tianjie Environmental and electronic products
Engineering* alE] AR #50,000,0007 WERHBEETER
MIBLURETRERAT The PRC RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and sale of
Changshan Environmental and electronic products
Engineering* alE] AR #50,000,0007 WERHBEETER
e The English name is for identification purpose only. pd H TR o

38. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED 38. HLE&GZSHTEHRR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved RERMBERRENR_ZE_OE=B_+N

and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on BESE g ERRET)E -
28 March 2024.
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For the year ended 31 December

BE+_A=+-BLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EZ= - CE-_-—F C—ETF _T-hE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR | ARETRE ARETR ARETR ARET:

Revenue W 620,134 472,471 763,165 607078 726,647
Gross profit Z7 140,819 67439 110,990 110,954 125,314
Profit before tax RAnER] 61,051 75,770 25,724 503 45,114
Income tax expensef(credit) FistRY (%) 18,344 22,165 5,112 (3,986) 10,825
Profit for the year KEERR 42,707 53,605 20,612 4,489 34,289
Profit and total comprehensive  ERaFI REEUWALLE

income for the year 42,707 53,605 20,612 4,489 34,289
Earnings per share attributable to  ERAA T RFELEREF

owners of the Company UEBRARESIT)

for the year
(expressed in RMB per share)

- Basic and diluted —-ERKEE 0.32 0.40 0.15 0.03 0.25
Gross profit margin ER= 22.71% 14.27% 14.54% 18.28% 1725%
Net profit margin AR = 6.89% 11.35% 2.70% 0.74% 4.72%

As at 31 December

B+=B=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EC-= —E-C “E-&F CZEI®FE —E-hE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR | ARETRT ARETRT ARETR ARET:
Non-current assets ERBEE 283,554 196,297 324,423 252,564 166,274
Current assets MBEE 1,513,302 1,339,429 1,263,918 1,248,007 1,432,406
Current liabilities REas 926,678 701,505 807725 740,567 843,165
Net current assets RHEEFE 586,624 637924 456,193 507440 589,241
Total assets less current liabilities ZBELERGEEE 870,178 834,221 780,616 760,004 755,515
Net Assets EEFE 870,178 834,221 780,616 760,004 755,515
Capital R 135,000 135,000 135,000 135,000 135,000
Share Premium RinEE 239,064 239,064 239,064 239,064 239,064
Reserves 1 496,114 460,157 406,552 385,940 381,451
Total equity EmiBEE 870,178 834,221 780,616 760,004 755,515
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